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Brian Mueller, CEO and Director
GRAND CANYON EDUCATION

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

Many of you have been with us since the beginning,
supportive of our efforts to create a new type
of University, a private, Christian-focused, market-
supported institution. As we have seen with our strong
2009 financial results, this new model of higher education
is working: we are profitable, sustainable, growing, and
bringing value to our students, employees and investors.

Our approach since our inception has remained the
same: to help individuals identify their professional
purpose and enhance our reputation for academic
excellence. These initiatives have helped increase our
student population by more than 50 percent during the
past year, and helped Grand Canyon University gain the
best and brightest students. The College of Education has
enhanced its doctoral programs to meet student demand;
our College of Nursing and Health Sciences continues
to grow and adjust curriculum based on the changing
healthcare needs of our population; our Ken Blanchard
College of Business is growing its emphasis on fostering
the development of professionals with a servant leadership
philosophy; and our College of Liberal Arts continues to
add highly desired programs such as Christian Studies,
Criminal Justice and Psychology.

We continue to seek ways to enhance the learning
experience for our online students, through an
approach in which students feel engaged and are able
to interact with their peers and their instructors on a
24-7 basis, supported by robust and interactive learning
models. As our student numbers grow, we continue to
carefully monitor the level of service and communication
we provide to our students. Our academic and financial
counseling teams continue to integrate and enhance their
outreach efforts, striving to offer students a seamless
level of communication that is unparalleled in a higher
education environment.

Our Military Division has grown to more than 100
employees, accommodating the needs of our active-duty
and retired military students located throughout the
world, an area that continues to represent a significant
growth opportunity with the recently enacted Post 9-11
G.I. Bill educational benefits. The growth of our military
enrollment, combined with our concerted effort to retain
and hire employees with a military service background,
resulted in the University being recognized by G.I. Jobs
magazine as one of the top military-friendly institutions
in the United States.

Our campus environment continues to grow and thrive
with an engaged student body and faculty, an important
industry differentiator for us. The energy and excitement
for our athletics programs has initiated a new sense of
school pride among both our campus and online students,
and our weekly Chapel gatherings, also available to our
online students, are a place where worship and fellowship
create a spiritual climate that is infectious. There is a
renewed excitement and support from our alumni for
the return of the College of Fine Arts and Production,
a program that is part of the University’s heritage,
producing many nationally known talents. Construction
of our new student dormitory, recreation and classroom
buildings, and the anticipation of the new events center
have made Grand Canyon University’s campus a focus of
community and media attention in the Arizona market,
an area that has seen little commercial construction in
the past 24 months.

To reinforce our competitiveness as a strong educational
value as well as leverage the heightened criticism of
the rising cost of public institutions, in late 2009 we
announced a tuition freeze and cost reduction for our
campus students. This initiative has helped to alleviate the
financial burden felt by many of our students and their
families in these challenging times. Further, it has helped
us raise the academic standards of our campus students,
as many of the new students recruited through this effort
were eligible for performance-based scholarships.

We are excited about 2010, as we believe that Grand
Canyon University is well positioned in the education
marketplace. Our online capabilities, combined with
our more than 60-year heritage as a traditional campus-
based university, differentiate us in the market-supported
postsecondary market. We expect our strong growth in
enrollment, net income and operating income to continue
in 2010. We appreciate your continued support.

/M

!
Brian Mueller, CEO and Director
Grand Canyon Education
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Special Note Regarding Forwar d-L ooking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including Item 1, Business; Item 1A, Risk Factors; and Item 7,
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains certain
“forward-looking statements,” which include information relating to future events, future financial performance,
strategies, expectations, competitive environment, regulation, and availability of resources. These forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, statements regarding: proposed new programs; expectations that regulatory
developments or other matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations,
or liquidity; statements concerning projections, predictions, expectations, estimates, or forecasts asto our business,
financial and operational results, and future economic performance; and statements of management’s goals and
objectives and other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. Words such as “may,”
“should,” “could,” “would,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intends,”
“plans,” “believes,” “estimates’ and similar expressions, as well as statementsin future tense, identify forward-
looking statements.

Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results, and will not
necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by, which such performance or results will be achieved.
Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are made or
management’ s good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events, and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested
by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited
to:

» our failure to comply with the extensive regulatory framework applicable to our industry, including Title
IV of the Higher Education Act and the regulations thereunder, state laws and regulatory requirements,
and accrediting commission requirements,

» theresults of the ongoing investigation by the Department of Education’s Office of Inspector General and
the pending qui tam action regarding the manner in which we have compensated our enrollment
personnel, and possible remedial actions or other liability resulting therefrom,;

« theability of our studentsto obtain federal Title IV funds, state financial aid, and private financing;

« risks associated with changes in applicable federal and state laws and regulations and accrediting
commission standards;

» risks associated with a change in control under applicable regulatory or accrediting standards, and our
inability to obtain appropriate approvals for such an event in atimely manner, or at al;

* our ahility to hire and train new, and develop and train existing, enrollment counselors;
¢ the pace of growth of our enrollment;

e our ability to convert prospective students to enrolled students and to retain active students;



e our success in updating and expanding the content of existing programs and devel oping new programsin
a cost-effective manner or on atimely basis;

« industry competition, including competition for qualified executives and other personnel;
 risks associated with the competitive environment for marketing our programs,

 failure on our part to keep up with advances in technology that could enhance the online experience for
our students;

» the extent to which obligations under our loan agreement, including the need to comply with restrictive
and financial covenants and to pay principal and interest payments, limits our ability to conduct our
operations or seek new business opportunities;

e our ability to manage future growth effectively;

« general adverse economic conditions or other developments that affect job prospectsin our core
disciplines; and

« other factors discussed under the headings “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” “Business,” and “Regulation.”

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. Y ou should not put undue
reliance on any forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to update forward-looking statements to
reflect actual results, changes in assumptions, or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking information,
except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements,
no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking
Sstatements.



Part |
Item 1. Business
Overview

We are aregionally accredited provider of online postsecondary education services focused on offering graduate
and undergraduate degree programsin our core disciplines of education, business, and healthcare. In addition to our
online programs, we offer ground programs at our traditional campus in Phoenix, Arizona and onsite at the facilities
of employers. We are committed to providing an academically rigorous educational experience with afocus on
career-oriented programs that meet the objectives of our students. We utilize an integrated, innovative approach to
marketing, recruiting, and retaining students, which has enabled us to increase enrollment from approximately 3,000
students at the end of 2003 to approximately 37,700 students at December 31, 2009, representing a compound
annual growth rate of approximately 52.5%. At December 31, 2009, 91.7% of our students were enrolled in our
online programs, and of those students, 44.5% are pursuing master’s or doctoral degrees.

We primarily focus on recruiting and educating working adults, whom we define as students age 25 or older who
are pursuing a degree while employed. As of December 31, 2009, approximately 91.3% of our online students were
age 25 or older. We believe that working adults are attracted to the convenience and flexibility of our online
programs because they can study and interact with faculty and classmates during times that suit their schedules. We
also believe that working adults represent an attractive student population because they are better able to finance
their education, more readily recognize the benefits of a postsecondary degree, and have higher persistence and
completion rates than students generally.

We have experienced significant growth in enrollment, net revenue, and operating income over the last several
years. Our enrollment at December 31, 2009 was approximately 37,700, representing an increase of approximately
53.1% over our enrollment at December 31, 2008. Our net revenue and operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2009 were $261.9 million and $46.6 million, respectively, representing increases of 62.4% and 264%,
respectively, over the year ended December 31, 2008. Our net revenue and operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2008 were $161.3 million and $12.8 million, respectively, representing increases of 62.4% and
194.5%, respectively, over the year ended December 31, 2007. We seek to achieve continued growth in a manner
that reinforces our reputation for providing academically rigorous, career-oriented educational programs that
advance the careers of our students. As part of our efforts to ensure that our students graduate with the knowledge,
competencies, and skills that will enable them to succeed following graduation, we have established an Office of
Assessment to monitor student and faculty performance and improve student satisfaction.

We have been regionally accredited by the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of
Colleges and Schools and its predecessor since 1968, and we were reaccredited in 2007 for the maximum term of
ten years. We are regulated by the Department of Education as a result of our participation in the federal student
financial aid programs authorized by Title 1V of the Higher Education Act (hereafter, Title 1V), and, at the state
level, we are licensed to operate and offer our programs by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education. In addition, we have specialized accreditations for certain programs from the Association of Collegiate
Business Schools and Programs, the Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education, and the Commission on
Accreditation of Athletic Training Education. We believe that our institution-wide state authorization and regional
accreditation, together with these specialized accreditations, reflect the quality of our programs, enhance their
marketability, and improve the employability of our graduates.

We believe that our online capabilities, combined with our 60-year heritage as a traditional campus-based
university, differentiate usin the for-profit postsecondary market and enhance the reputation of our degree programs
among students and employers. Our online students benefit from our flexible, interactive online platform, which we
believe offers a highly effective delivery medium for our programs, yet are enrolled in a university with atraditional
campus, faculty, facilities, and athletic programs. We require our online faculty to undergo training in the delivery of
online programs before teaching their initial course, while our full-time ground faculty help maintain the consistency
and quality of our online programs by supervising and conducting peer reviews of our online faculty, and
participating as subject matter experts in the development of our online curricula. Our campus also offers our ground
students, faculty and staff an opportunity to participate in a traditional college experience.



History

Grand Canyon College was founded in Prescott, Arizonain 1949 as atraditional, private, non-profit college and
moved to its existing campusin Phoenix, Arizonain 1951. Established as a Baptist-affiliated institution with a
strong emphasis on religious studies, the school initially focused on offering bachelor’ s degree programsin
education. Over the years, the school expanded its curriculato include programsin the sciences, nursing, business,
music, and arts. The college obtained regional accreditation in 1968 from the Commission on Institutions of Higher
Education, North Central Association of Colleges and Schools, the predecessor to the Higher Learning Commission,
and began offering nursing programs and master’ s degree programs in education and business in the 1980s. In 1989,
it achieved university status and became Grand Canyon University. The university introduced its first distance
learning programsin 1997, and launched its first online programsin 2003 in business and education. In early 2000,
it discontinued its Baptist affiliation and became a non-denominational Christian university.

In late 2003, the school’ s Board of Trustees initiated a process to evaluate alternatives as a result of the school’s
poor financial condition and, in February 2004, several of our current stockholders acquired the assets of the school
and converted its operations to a for-profit institution.

Since February 2004, we have enhanced our senior management team, expanded our online platform and
programs, initiated an infrastructure and technology improvement plan and launched a marketing and branding
effort to further differentiate usin the markets in which we operate and support our continued growth. We have also
made investments to enhance our student and technology support services. We believe these investments, combined
with our management expertise, provide a platform that will support continued enrollment and revenue growth. We
have also maintained our non-denominational Christian identity, with many of our undergraduate programs
including Christian study requirements.

Our Approach to Academic Quality
Some of the key elements that we focus on to promote a high level of academic quality include:

» Academically rigorous, career oriented curricula. We create academically rigorous curricula that are
designed to enable all studentsto gain the foundational knowledge, professional competencies, and
demonstrable skills required to be successful in their chosen fields. Our curriculum is designed and
delivered by faculty that are committed to delivering a high quality, rigorous education. We design our
curricula to address specific career-oriented objectives that we believe working adult studentsin the
disciplines we serve are seeking. Through this combination, we believe that we produce graduates that
can compete and become leaders in their chosen fields.

* Qualified faculty. We demonstrate our commitment to high quality education by hiring qualified faculty
with relevant practical experience. Substantially all of our current faculty members hold at least a
master’s degree in their respective field and 28% of our faculty members hold a doctoral degree. Many of
our faculty members are able to integrate relevant, practical experiences from their professional careers
into the courses they teach. We invest in the professional development of our faculty members by
providing training in traditional and online teaching techniques, hosting events and discussion forums that
foster sharing of best practices, and continually assessing teaching effectiveness through peer reviews and
student evaluations.

* Standardized course design. We employ a standardized curriculum development processto ensure a
consistent learning experience with frequent faculty-student interaction in our courses. We thereafter
continuously review our programs in an effort to ensure that they remain consistent, up-to-date, and
effective in producing the desired learning outcomes. We also regularly review student surveysto identify
opportunities for course modifications and upgrades.

» Effective student services. We establish teams comprised of enrollment, academic and finance personnel
that act as the primary support contact point for each of our students, beginning at the application stage
and continuing through graduation. In recent years, we have aso concentrated on improving the
technology used to support student learning, including enhancing our online learning platform and further
improving student services through the implementation of online interfaces. Asaresult, many of our
support services, including academic, administrative, library, and career services, are accessible online,
generally allowing users to access these services at atime and in a manner that is generally convenient to
them.



« Continual academic oversight. We have centralized the assessment functions for al of our programs
through our Office of Assessment, which continuously eval uates the desired |earning outcomes for each
of our programs. We continuously assess outcomes data to determine whether our students graduate with
the knowledge, competencies, and skills that are necessary to succeed in the workplace. The Office of
Assessment also initiates and manages periodic examinations of our curricula by internal and external
reviewersto evaluate and verify program quality and workplace applicability. Based on these processes
and student feedback, we determine whether to modify or discontinue programs that do not meet our
standards or market needs, or to create new programs. The Office of Assessment also oversees
assessment of mission-based competencies.

We also offer the following features in an effort to enrich the academic experience of current and prospective
students:

* Flexibility in program delivery. We a so seek to meet market demands by providing students with the
flexibility to take courses exclusively online or to combine online coursework with various campus and
onsite options. For example, based on market demand, particularly in connection with our nursing
programs, we have established satellite locations at multiple hospitals that allow nursing students to take
clinical courses onsite while completing other course work online. We have established similar onsite
arrangements with other major employers, including schools and school districts through which students
can pursue student teaching opportunities. This flexibility raises our profile among employers,
encourages students to take and complete courses and eliminates inconveniences that tend to lessen
student persistence.

¢ Small classsize. At December 31, 2009, 90% of our online classes had 25 or fewer students. These class
sizes provide each student with the opportunity to interact directly with course faculty and to receive
individualized feedback and attention while also affording our faculty with the opportunity to engage
proactively with a manageable number of students. We believe thisinteraction enhances the academic
quality of our programs by promoting opportunities for students to participate actively and thus build the
reguisite knowledge, competencies, and skills.

Accreditation and Program Approvals

We believe that the quality of our academic programs is evidenced by the college- and program-specific
accreditations and approvals that we have pursued and obtained. Grand Canyon University has been continually
accredited by the Higher Learning Commission and its predecessor since 1968, obtaining its most recent ten-year
reaccreditation in 2007. We are licensed in Arizona by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education. In addition, we have obtained the following specialized accreditations and approvals for our core
program offerings:

Specialized Accreditations and Program
College Approvals Current Period
College of Education...........cccocevereruennee » The Arizona State Board of Education approves 2008 — 2010
our College of Education to offer Institutional
Recommendations for the certification of
elementary, secondary, and special education
teachers and school administrators.

Ken Blanchard College of Business........ » The Association of Collegiate Business Schools 2007 — 2017
and Programs accredits our Executive Master of
Business Administration degree program, Master
of Business Administration degree program, and
our Bachelor of Science degree programsin
Accounting, Business Administration, Marketing
and Entrepreneurship.



College

Specialized Accreditations and Program
Approvals Current Period

College of Nursing and Health Sciences....... » The Commission on Collegiate Nursing 2006 — 2016 (B.S)

Education accredits our Bachelor of Sciencein 2006 — 2011 (M.S))
Nursing and Master of Science in Nursing degree
programs.

» The Arizona State Board of Nursing approves our 2006 — 2016 (B.S.)
Bachelor of Science in Nursing and Master of 2006 — 2011 (M.S)
Science in Nursing degree programs.

* The Commission on Accreditation of Athletic 2008 — 2013
Training Education accredits our Athletic
Training Program.

Our regional accreditation with the Higher Learning Commission, and our specialized accreditations and
approvalsfor our core programs, reflect the quality of, and standards we set for, our programs, enhance their

marketabil

Curricula

ity, and improve the employability of our graduates.

We offer the degrees of Doctorate of Education, Master of Arts, Master of Education, Master of Business
Administration, Master of Science, Bachelor of Arts, and Bachelor of Science and a variety of programs leading to
each of these degrees. Many of our degree programs also offer the opportunity to obtain one or more emphases. We
reguire students to take a minimum of three designated courses to achieve a given emphasis. We also offer

certificate

programs, which consist of a series of courses focused on a particular area of study, for students who seek

to enhance their skills and knowledge.

We offer our academic programs through our four distinct colleges:

the College of Education, which has a 60-year history as one of Arizond s leading teacher’s colleges and
consistently graduates teachers who meet or exceed state averages on the Arizona Educator Proficiency
Assessment exams,

the Ken Blanchard College of Business, which has a well-known brand among our target student
population, an advisory board that includes nationally recognized business leaders, and a reputation for
offering career-oriented degree programs, including an Executive MBA and programs in leadership,
business, and entrepreneurship;

the College of Nursing and Health Sciences, which has a strong reputation within the Arizona healthcare
community and is the second largest nursing program in Arizona; and

the College of Liberal Arts, which develops and provides many of the general education course
requirements in our other colleges and also serves as one of the vehicles through which we offer
programsin additional targeted disciplines.

We license the right to utilize the name of Ken Blanchard in connection with our business school and Executive
MBA Programs.



Under the overall leadership of our senior academic affairs personnel and the deans of the individual colleges,
each of the colleges organizes its academic programs through various departments and schools. At December 31,
2009, we offered 94 academic degree program and emphasis combinations, as follows:

College of Education Ken Blanchard College of Business

Degree Program Emphasis Degree Program Emphasis

Doctor of Education
» Organizational Leadership —
Organizational Development
» Organizational Leadership — Higher

Education Leadership

* Organizational Leadership — Effective
Schools

* Organizational Leadership — Behavioral
Health

* Organizational Leadership —
Instructional Leadership

Master of Arts » Teaching— Professional Learning Ken Blanchard Executive
Communities MBA
» Teaching— Teaching Leadership

Master of Education » Education Administration — Ingtitutional Master of Business » Accounting
Recommendation (“IR") Administration e General
» Education Administration — * Finance
Organizational Leadership — Non-IR * Headlth Systems Management
* Elementary Education — IR e Marketing
» Elementary Education — Non-IR * Leadership

e Curriculum and Instruction: Reading— Strategic Human Resources
Elementary Management

e Curriculum and Instruction: Reading —

Secondary

Curriculum and Instruction: Technology

Secondary Education — IR

Secondary Education — Non-IR Master of Science * Leadership
Special Education for Certified Special * Leadership — Disaster Preparedness
Educators & Executive Fire Leadership
» Teaching English to Speakers of Other
Languages
* Specia Education — IR
* Specia Education — Non-IR Bachelor of Science Accounting

Business Administration
Applied Management
Finance and Economics
Entrepreneurial Studies
Marketing

Public Safety Administration
Public Safety and Emergency

Management
Bachelor of Science » Elementary/Special Education
e Elementary Education — Early Childhood
Education

Elementary Education — English
Elementary Education — Math
Elementary Education — Science
Secondary Education — Biology*
Secondary Education — Business
Education

Secondary Education — Chemistry*
Secondary Education — Mathematics
Secondary Education — Social Studies
Secondary Education — Physical
Education*

* Secondary Education — English



College of Nursing and Health Sciences College of Liberal Arts

Dearee Program Emphasis Degree Program Emphasis
Master of Science e Nursing — Family Nurse Practitioner*
* Nursing — Leadership in Healthcare
Systems Bachelor of Science e Justice Studies
* Nursing — Clinical Nurse Specialist e Psychology
(Education Focus)* » Sociology
Nursing — Clinical Nurse Specialist*
Nursing — Nursing Education Bachelor of Arts Communications

Professional Counseling
Addiction Counseling

English Literature
Interdisciplinary Studies

Marriage and Family Therapy Christian Studies
Health Care Administration History
Bachelor of Science * Nursing* Master of Science * Criminal Justice
* Psychology

Bachelor of Science Biology — Pre-Medicine*

Biology — Pre-Pharmacy* Master of Arts » Christian Studies
Biology — Pre-Physician Assistant*
Health Science: Professional
Development and Advanced Peatient Care
Respiratory Care

Medical Imaging Sciences

Athletic Training*

Addiction Counseling

Exercise Science — Athletic Coaching
Exercise Science — Health Education
Exercise Science — Physical Education
Exercise Science — Pre-Physical Therapy

Undergraduate Minors

¢ Athletic Coaching* e Chrigtian Studies
¢ Behaviora Sciences* + Communication
¢ Busness e English Literature
¢ Health Education* e Justice Studies
« History e Psychology

e Sociology

* Indicates program was offered on ground only

We have established relationships with health care systems, school districts, emergency services providers, and
other employers through which we offer programs onsite to provide flexibility and convenience to students and their
employers. For example, for our nursing programs, we offer clinical courses onsite at hospitals and other healthcare
centers with which we have relationships, and also arrange to allow these students to complete their clinical work
onsite. We refer to students attending a program with us through such relationships as professional studies students.

We currently offer our programs through three 16-week semestersin a calendar year, with up to four starts
available per semester for our online students, two starts available for our professional studies ground students and
one start available per semester for our traditional ground students. During each semester, classes may last for five,
eight, or 16 weeks. Depending on the program, students generally enroll in one to three courses per semester. We
generally require online students to compl ete two courses during a 16-week semester, with each student
concentrating on one course during each eight-week period. While there is no explicit requirement, we communicate
to our online students our expectation that they access their online student classroom at least four times each week in
order to maintain an active dialogue with their professors and classmates. Our online programs provide a digital
record of student interactions for the course instructor to assess students' levels of engagement and demonstration of
required competencies.
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New Program Development

We typically identify a potential new degree program or emphasis area through market demand or from
proposals developed by faculty, staff, students, alumni, or partners, and then perform an analysis of the development
cost and the long-term demand for the program. If, following this analysis, we decide to proceed with the program,
our Curriculum Design and Development Team designates a subject matter expert who works with other faculty and
our curriculum development personnel to design a program that is consistent with our academically rigorous, career-
oriented program standards. The program is then reviewed by the dean of the applicable college, the Program
Standards and Evaluation Committee, Academic Affairs Committee, our Provost and Chief Academic Officer, and
finally, our President. Upon approval, the subject matter expert develops a course syllabus and our Marketing
Department creates a marketing plan to publicize the new program. Our average program development processis six
months from proposal to course introduction. The development processistypically longer if we are expanding into a
new field or offering a new level of degree.

Assessment

Our Office of Assessment serves as our central resource for assessing and continually improving our curricula,
student satisfaction and learning outcomes. Among other things, the assessment team reviews student course
satisfaction surveys; analyzes archived student assignments to assess whether a given program is developing
students' foundational knowledge, professional competencies, and skills to achieve the expected learning outcomes;
and provides feedback as to program effectiveness. Based on this data and the conclusions of the assessment team,
we modify programs as necessary to meet our student satisfaction and educational development standards and make
recommendations as to adding or modifying programs.

Faculty

Our faculty includes full-time, ground-based faculty who teach under a nine-month or twelve-month teaching
contract, as well as adjunct ground-based faculty and online faculty who we employ to teach on a course-by-course
basis for a specified fee. As of December 31, 2009, we employed 522 ground-based faculty members, of which 57
were full-time and 465 were part-time adjuncts. Including our ground-based faculty members, who are available to
teach online courses, we maintain a pool of over 1,600 online faculty members, all of whom had completed our
required training. Substantially all of our current faculty members hold at least a master’s degree in their respective
field and 28% of our faculty members hold a doctoral degree. On occasion, we engage a limited number of faculty
members who may not hold a graduate degree, but who evidence significant professional experience and
achievement in their respective subject areas.

We believe that the quality of our faculty is critical to our success, particularly because faculty members have
more interaction with our students than any other university employee. Accordingly, we regularly review the
performance of our faculty, including, but not limited to, engaging our full-time ground faculty and other specialists
to conduct peer reviews of our online faculty, monitoring the amount of contact and the quality of feedback that
faculty have with studentsin our online programs, reviewing student feedback, and evaluating the learning outcomes
achieved by students. If we determine that a faculty member is not performing at the level that we require, we work
with the faculty member to improve performance, including, among other things, assigning him or her a mentor or
through other means. If the faculty member’ s performance does not improve, we terminate the faculty member’s
contract and employment.

Student Support Services

Encouraging students that enter Grand Canyon University to complete their degree programsis critical to the
success of our business. We focus on developing and providing resources that support the student educational
experience, ssimplify the student enrollment process, acclimate students to our programs and our online environment,
and track student performance toward degree completion. Many of our support services, including academic,
administrative, and library services, are accessible online and are available to our online and ground students,
allowing users to access these services at atime and in a manner that is generally convenient to them. The student
support services we provide include:

Academic services. We provide students with a variety of services designed to support their academic studies.
Our Center for Learning and Advancement offers research services, writing services, and other tutoring services.
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Administrative services. We provide students with the ability to access a variety of administrative services both
telephonically and viathe Internet. For example, students can register for classes, apply for financial aid, pay their
tuition, and access their transcripts online. We believe this online accessibility provides the convenience and self-
service capabilities that our students value. Our academic and finance counselors provide personalized online and
telephonic support to our students.

Library services. We provide a mix of online and ground resources, services, and instruction to support the
educational and research endeavors of all students, faculty, and staff, including ground and online libraries and a
qualified library staff that is available to help faculty and students with research, teaching, and library resource
instruction. Collectively, our library services satisfy the criteria established by the Higher Learning Commission and
other accrediting and approving bodies for us to offer undergraduate, master’s, and doctoral programs.

Career services. For those students seeking to change careers or explore new career opportunities, we offer
career services support, including resume review and evaluation, career planning workshops, and access to career
services specialists for advice and support. Other resources that we offer include a Job Readiness Program, which
advises students on matters such as people skills, resumes and cover letters, mock interviews, and business etiquette;
ajob board, which advertises employment postings and career exploration opportunities; career counseling
appointments and consultations; and career fairs.

Technology support services. We provide online technical support 16 hours per day during the week and 14
hours per day on weekends to help our students remedy technol ogy-related issues. We also provide online tutorials
and “Frequently Asked Questions” for students who are new to online coursework.

Marketing, Recruitment, and Retention

Marketing. We engage in arange of marketing activities designed to position us as a provider of academically
rigorous, career-oriented educational programs, build strong brand recognition in our core disciplines, differentiate
us from other educational providers, raise awareness among prospective students, generate enrollment inquiries, and
stimulate student and alumni referrals. Our online target market includes working adults focused on program quality,
convenience, and career advancement goals. Our ground target market includes traditional college students, working
adults seeking a high quality education in atraditional college setting, and working adults seeking to take classes
with a cohort onsite at their employer’s facility. In marketing our programs to prospective students, we emphasize
the value of the educational experience and the academic rigor and career orientation of the programs, rather than
the cost or speed to graduation. We believe this approach reinforces the qualities that we want associated with our
brand and also attracts students who tend to be more persistent in starting and finishing their programs.

We have established dedicated teams, consisting of both marketing and enrollment personnel, at each of our
collegesto lead our efforts to attract new students. We believe that these blended groups, organized around each
core discipline, promote more effective internal communication within our sales and marketing functions, allow
deeper penetration within our target markets due to each team’s singular focus on a core discipline, and enable us to
gain a better understanding of the attributes of our students who ultimately enroll and graduate so that we can target
our marketing and enrollment processes accordingly.

To generate student leads, our marketing and enrollment personnel employ an integrated marketing approach
that utilizes avariety of lead sources to identify prospective students. These lead generation sources include:

« Internet and affiliate advertising, which generates the mgjority of our leads and which includes
purchasing leads from aggregators and also engaging in targeted, direct email advertising campaigns, and
coordinated campaigns with various affiliates;

« search engine optimization techniques, through which we seek to obtain high placement in search engine
resultsin response to key topic and word searches and drive traffic to our website;

* seminar and event marketing, in which our marketing and enrollment personnel host group events at
various venues, including community colleges, corporations, and hospitals;

12



» referrals from existing students, alumni, and employees,

« anational accounts program that seeks to develop relationships with employersin our core disciplines,
including healthcare providers, school districts, emergency services providers, and large corporations,
that may be interested in providing dedicated and customized online and onsite educational opportunities
to their employees, and to encourage senior executives to participate in executive training programs; and

e print and direct mail advertising campaigns, and other public relations and communications efforts,
including promoting our athletic programs and student and alumni events.

Recruitment. Once a prospective student has indicated an interest in enrolling in one of our programs, our lead
management system identifies and directs an enrollment counselor to initiate immediate communication. The
enrollment counselor serves as the primary, direct contact for the prospective student and the counselor’ s goal isto
help that individual gain sufficient knowledge and understanding of our programs so that he or she can assess
whether there is a good match between our offerings and the prospective student’ s goals. Upon the prospective
student’ s submission of an application, the enrollment counselor, together with our student services personnel,
works with the applicant to gain acceptance, arrange financial aid, if needed, register for courses, and prepare for
matriculation.

Our enrollment counselors typically have prior education industry or sales experience. Each counselor undergoes
a standardized three-week training program that involves both classroom and supervisor-monitored fieldwork and
provides the counselor with training in financial aid, regulatory requirements, general sales skills, and our history
and heritage, mission, and academic programs. As of December 31, 2009, we employed over 650 enrolIment
counselors at facilities in the Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan area.

Retention. A key component in retaining our studentsis providing an outstanding learning experience. We feel
that our team-based, proactive approach to recruitment and enhanced student services resultsin increased retention
due to our systematic approach to contacting students at key milestones during their enrollment, providing
encouragement and highlighting their achievements. Our financial advisors proactively assist each student with the
student’ s selection of an appropriate payment option, and monitors the student’ s progress and account balance to
ensure a smooth financial aid experience and to help ensure our students are well prepared for their financial
obligations incurred. Our academic advisors assist their students with their academic schedules and regularly
monitor “triggering events,” such as the failure to participate in the classroom or failure to matriculate in atimely
manner, which signal that a student may be at-risk for dropping out. Upon identifying an at-risk student, academic
advisors proactively interact with the student to resolve any issues and encourage the student to continue with his or
her program. We have found that personally involving our employees in the student educational process, and
proactively seeking to resolve issues before they become larger problems, can significantly increase retention rates
among students. These frequent interactions between financial and academic advisors and students are a key
component to our retention strategy.

Admissions

Admission to Grand Canyon University is available to qualified students who are at least 16 years of age.
Undergraduate applicants may qualify in various ways, including by having a high school diploma, an unweighted
grade point average of 2.25 or greater, a composite score of 920 or greater on the Scholastic Aptitude Test, or a
passing score of 520 or greater on the General Education Development (GED) tests. Some of our programs require a
higher grade point average and/or other criteriato qualify for admission. Applicants to our graduate programs must
generally have an undergraduate degree from an accredited college, university, or program with a grade point
average of 2.8 or greater, or agraduate degree from such a college, university, or program. In addition, some
students who do not meet the qualifications for admission may be admitted at our discretion. A student being
considered for such admission may be asked to submit additional information such as personal references and an
essay addressing academic history. Students may also need to schedule an interview to help clarify academic goals
and help us make an informed decision.
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Enrollment

At December 31, 2009, we had 37,709 students enrolled in our courses, of which 34,596, or 91.7%, were
enrolled in our online programs, and 3,113, or 8.3%, were enrolled in our ground programs. Of our online students,
which were geographically distributed throughout all 50 states of the United States, and Canada, 91.3% were age 25
or older. Of our ground students, which, although we draw students from throughout the United States, were
predominantly comprised of students from Arizona, 59.2% were age 25 or older.

The following isa summary of our student enrollment at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 (which
included less than 200 students pursuing non-degree certificates) by degree type and by instructional delivery
method:

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
# of Students _ % of Total # of Students _ % of Total
Graduate degree ™ ..........ccoveecveeeceeeeeeeeee 16,097 42.7% 13,031 52.9%
Undergraduate degree..........cceoeverenenenennennn. 21,612 57.3% 11,605 47.1%
o] = PO RRORRT 37,709 100.0% 24,636 100.0%
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
# of Students _ % of Total # of Students _ % of Total
ONIINE oottt 34,596 91.7% 21,955 89.1%
GroUNd @ ..ot 3,113 8.3% 2,681 10.9%
B o) = 37,709 100.0% 24,636 100.0%

@ Includes 315 and 56 students pursuing doctoral degrees at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
@ Asof December 31, 2009, 44.5% of our online students are pursuing graduate or doctoral degrees.
@ Includes our traditional on-campus students, as well as our professional studies students.

Tuition and Fees

Our tuition rates vary by type and length of program and by degree level. For all graduate and undergraduate
programs, tuition is determined by the number of courses taken by each student. For our 2009-10 academic year (the
academic year that began in May 2009), our prices per credit hour are $415 for undergraduate online and
professional studies courses, $440 for graduate online courses (other than graduate business and graduate nursing),
$485 for graduate business courses, $535 for graduate online nursing courses, and $688 for undergraduate courses
for ground students. For our active duty and active reserve online and professional studies students, our prices per
credit hour are $250 for undergraduate and $350 for graduate. The overall price of each course varies based upon the
number of credit hours per course (with most courses representing three credit hours), the degree level of the
program, and the discipline of the course. In addition, we charge a fixed $8,250 “block tuition” for undergraduate
ground students taking between 12 and 18 credit hours per semester, with an additional $688 per credit hour for
creditsin excess of 18. A traditional undergraduate degree typically requires a minimum of 120 credit hours. The
minimum number of credit hours required for a master’s degree and overall cost for such a degree varies by program
although such programs typically require approximately 36 credit hours. Our doctoral program in education was
$770 per credit hour during 2009 but was reduced to $550 per credit hour beginning January 1, 2010. The doctoral
program requires approximately 60 credit hours.

We offer tuition scholarships to select students, including online students, athletes, employees, and participants
in programs we offer through relationships with employers. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and
2007, our revenue was reduced by approximately $34.2 million, $18.4 million, and $10.3 million, respectively, asa
result of scholarships that we offered to our students. The increase in scholarshipsis due to increased revenues and a
significant increase in the use of academic scholarships to attract high performing students.
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We have established arefund policy for tuition and fees based upon individual course start dates. Under our
policy, for courses offered through a non-traditional modality, if a student drops or withdraws from a course before
the first week, 100% of the charges for tuition and fees are refunded. If a student drops or withdraws from a course
during the first week of the course, 75% of the charges for tuition are refunded. If a student drops or withdraws from
acourse during or after the second week of a course, tuition charges and fees are not refunded. All fees, including
materials fees, are non-refundable for non-traditional students after the start of a course. We will refund tuition and
fees according to the above policy unless a student attending courses online is aresident of a state that requires us to
comply with different, state specific guidelines. For traditional students attending 16 week courses, generally if a
student withdraws before the first week 100% of the charges for tuition and fees are refunded. If a student withdraws
during the first week of the course, 90% of the charges for tuition are refunded and instructional fees and ground
campus-related fees are refunded. If a student drops or withdraws from a course during the second week of a course,
75% of the tuition charges are refunded and all fees are non-refundable. If a student drops during the third week of a
course, 50% of the tuition charges are refunded and during or after the fourth week, there are no refunds for tuition
charges or fees. Fees charged by us include graduation fees of $200, as well as fees for dropping or withdrawing
from courses after the beginning of the course. This tuition and fees refund policy is different from, and appliesin
addition to, the return of Title IV funds policy we are required to follow as a condition of our participation in the
Title 1V programs.

Sour ces of Student Financing
Our students finance their education through a combination of methods, as follows:

Title IV programs. The federal government provides for grants and loans to students under the Title IV
programs, and students can use those funds at any institution that has been certified as eligible by the Department of
Education. Student financial aid under the Title IV programs s primarily awarded on the basis of a student’s
financial need, which is generally defined as the difference between the cost of attending the institution and the
amount the student and the student’ s family can reasonably contribute to that cost. All students receiving Title IV
program funds must maintain satisfactory academic progress toward completion of their program of study. In
addition, each school must ensure that Title IV program funds are properly accounted for and disbursed in the
correct amounts to eligible students.

During fiscal 2009 and 2008, we derived approximately 82.5% and 78.6%, respectively, of our revenue
(calculated on a cash basisin accordance with Department of Education standards that were in effect prior to the
August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act) from tuition financed under the Title IV programs. The
primary Title IV programs that our students receive funding from are the Federal Family Education Loan, or FFEL,
Program, Federal Direct Loan Program, or FDL Program, and the Federal Pell Grant, or Pell, Program, which are
described below:

* FFEL. Under the FFEL Program, banks and other lending institutions make loans to students. The FFEL
Program includes the Federal Stafford Loan Program, the Federal PLUS Program (which provides loans
to graduate and professional studies students as well as parents of dependent undergraduate students), and
the Federal Consolidation Loan Program. If a student defaults on an FFEL loan, payment to the lender is
guaranteed by afederally recognized guaranty agency, which is then reimbursed by the Department of
Education. Students who demonstrate financial need may qualify for a subsidized Stafford loan. With a
subsidized Stafford loan, the federal government pays the interest on the loan while the student isin
school and during grace periods and any approved periods of deferment, until the student’s obligation to
repay the loan begins. Unsubsidized Stafford loans are not based on financial need, and are available to
students who do not qualify for a subsidized Stafford loan or, in some cases, in addition to a subsidized
Stafford loan. Loan funds are disbursed to us, and we in turn disburse the amountsin excess of tuition and
fees to students. Effective July 1, 2008, under the Federal Stafford Loan Program, a dependent
undergraduate student can borrow up to $5,500 for the first academic year, $6,500 for the second
academic year, and $7,500 for each of the third and fourth academic years. Students classified as
independent, and dependent students whose parents were denied a parent loan for undergraduate students,
can obtain up to an additional $4,000 for each of the first and second academic years and an additional
$5,000 for each of the third and fourth academic years. Students enrolled in graduate programs can
borrow up to $20,500 per academic year. Students enrolled in certain graduate-level health programs can
receive an additional $12,500 per academic year.
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« FDL Program. In addition to FFEL loans made by private lenders, the Department of Education also
administers the FDL Program, which eliminated the private financial institution as the lender. Under the
FDL Program, the federal government makes the loans directly to the students with terms consistent with
FFEL loans. The types of loans, the maximum annual loan amounts and other terms of the loans made
under the FDL Program are similar to those for loans made under the FFEL Program. During fiscal year
2009, we began participating in the FDL Program for a portion of our Title IV eligible students. In U.S.
President Barack Obama’s 2010 budget request delivered to Congress on February 26, 2009, the
Department of Education proposed to eliminate FFEL loans and instead require all Title 1V student loans
to be administered through the FDL Program commencing July 1, 2010. We expect to be able to fully
transition from the FFEL Program to the FDL Program by September 2010.

« Pell. Under the Pell Program, the Department of Education makes grants to undergraduate students who
demonstrate financial need. Effective July 1, 2008, the maximum annual grant a student can receive
under the Pell Program is $4,731, and effective July 1, 2009, the maximum annual amount increased to
$5,350. Under the August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, students are able for the first
time to receive Pell Grant funds for attendance on a year-round basis, which means that the amount a
student can receive in a given year is more than the traditionally defined maximum annual amount.

Our students al so receive funding under other Title IV programs, including the Federal Perkins Loan Program,
the Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant Program, the Federal Work-Study Program, the National
Science and Mathematics Access to Retain Talent Grant Program, the Academic Competitiveness Grant Program,
and the Teacher Education Assistance for College and Higher Education Grant Program.

Other financial aid programs. In addition to the Title IV programs listed above, eligible students may participate
in several other financial aid programs or receive support from other governmental sources. These include veterans
educational benefits administered by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs and state financial aid programs.
During fiscal 2009 and 2008, we derived an immaterial amount of our net revenue from tuition financed by such
programs.

Private loans. Some of our students also use private |loan programs to help finance their education. Students can
apply to anumber of different lendersfor private loans at current market interest rates. Private loans are intended to
fund a portion of students' cost of education not covered by the Title IV programs and other financial aid. During
fiscal 2009 and 2008, payments derived from private loans constituted approximately 0.9% and 2.9%, respectively,
of our cash revenue. Third-party lenders independently determine whether aloan to a student is classified as
subprime, and, based on these determinations, we did not derive any payments from subprime loans during fiscal
year 2009 or 2008.

Other sources. We derived the remainder of our net revenue from tuition that is self-funded or attributable to
employer tuition reimbursements.

Technology Systems and M anagement

We believe that we have established a secure, reliable, scalable technology system that provides a high quality
online educational environment and gives us the capability to substantially grow our online programs and
enrollment.

Online course delivery and management. Our online learning management system isthe ANGEL Learning
Management Suite, which is a web-based system and collaboration portal that stores, manages, and delivers course
content; provides interactive communication between students and faculty; enables assignment uploading; and
supplies online eval uation tools. The system also provides centralized administration features that support the
implementation of policies for content format and in-classroom learning tools. We continually seek to develop and
implement features that enhance the online classroom experience, such as delivering course content through
streaming video, simulations, and other interactive enhancements.
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Internal administration. We utilize acommercial customer relations management package to distribute, manage,
track, and report on all prospective student leads devel oped, both internally and externally. This package is scalable
to capacity levels well in excess of current requirements. We also utilize acommercial software package to track
Title IV funds, student records, grades, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. This back office system was
designed to manage campus based traditional students. We plan to transition our online programs from aterm-based
financial aid system to a borrower-based financial aid system, that will allow us to manage both traditional and non-
traditional students. As part of this transition, we are converting our back office system from Datatel, Inc. to a series
of programs devel oped by Campus Management Corp., including CampusV ue and CampusPortal, and also
implementing Microsoft’s Great Plains accounting system. We anticipate going live in our new systemsin the
second quarter of 2010.

Infrastructure. We operate two data centers, one at our campus and one at a third-party co-location facility. All
of our servers are networked and we have redundant data backup. We manage our technology environment
internally. Our wide area network uses multi-protocol label switching technology for maximum availability and
flexibility. Student accessis provided through redundant data carriers in both data centers and is load balanced for
maximum performance. Real -time monitoring provides current system status across server, network, and storage
components.

Ground Campus

We own our ground campus, which islocated on approximately 100 acres in the center of the Phoenix, Arizona
metropolitan area, near downtown Phoenix. Our campus facilities currently consist of 43 buildings with more than
500,000 square feet of space, which include 63 classrooms, three lecture halls, a 500-seat theater, three student
computer labs with 150 computers that are available to students 18 hours per day, a 68,000-volume physical library,
and a media arts complex that provides communications students with audio and video equipment. We house our
ground students in on-campus student apartments and dormitories that can collectively hold up to 800 students.

We have 18 athletic teams that competein Division Il of the National Collegiate Athletic Association
(“NCAA™). Our athletic facilities include two gymnasiums, which accommodate basketball, volleyball, and
wrestling, as well as facilities for our baseball, softball, tennis, lacrosse, and swimming programs. Our baseball
program has produced more than twenty Major League Baseball players. Baseball, basketball, tennis and soccer
have combined to produce nine National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics (“NAIA”) or NCAA National
Championship teams.

We believe our ground-based programs and traditional campus not only offers our ground students, faculty, and
staff an opportunity to participate in atraditional college experience, but also provides our online students, faculty,
and staff with a sense of connection to atraditional university. Additionally, our full-time ground faculty play an
important role in integrating online faculty into our academic programs and ensuring the overall consistency and
quality of the ground and online student experience. We believe our mix of arapidly growing online program,
anchored by atraditional ground-based program with a 60-year history and heritage, differentiates us from most
other for-profit postsecondary education providers.

We intend to expand the size and enhance the profile and reputation of our ground campus by, among other
things, adding faculty and expanding upon and modernizing our campus infrastructure and technological capabilities
over the next several years. These activities may require significant capital expenditures and may cause usto incur
significant expenses. In anticipation of this growth we recently completed the acquisition of 10 acres of land
adjacent to our campus for $1.0 million and began the construction of an additiona dormitory, classroom building
and a student recreation facility.

Employees

In addition to our faculty, as of December 31, 2009, we employed 1,899 staff and administrative personnel in
university services, academic advising and academic support, enrollment services, university administration,
financial aid, information technology, human resources, corporate accounting, finance, and other administrative
functions. None of our employeesis a party to any collective bargaining or similar agreement with us. We consider
our relationships with our employees to be good.
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Competition

There are more than 4,000 U.S. colleges and universities serving traditional and adult students. Competitionis
highly fragmented and varies by geography, program offerings, modality, ownership, quality level, and selectivity of
admissions. No one ingtitution has a significant share of the total postsecondary market.

Our ground program competes with Arizona State University, Northern Arizona University, and the University
of Arizona, the in-state public universities, as well as two-year colleges within the state community college system.
To alimited extent, our ground program also competes with geographically proximate universities with similar
religious heritages, including Azusa Pacific University, Baylor University, and Seattle Pacific University. Our online
programs compete with local, traditional universities geographically located near each of our prospective students,
and with other for-profit postsecondary schools that offer online degrees, particularly those schools that offer online
graduate programs within our core disciplines, including Capella University, University of Phoenix, and Walden
University. In addition, many public and private schools, colleges, and universities, including most major colleges
and universities, offer online programs.

Non-profit institutions receive substantial government subsidies, and have access to government and foundation
grants, tax-deductible contributions and other financial resources generally not available to for-profit schools.
Accordingly, non-profit institutions may have instructional and support resources that are superior to those in the
for-profit sector. In addition, some of our competitors, including both traditional colleges and universities and other
for-profit schools, have substantially greater name recognition and financial resources than we have, which may
enable them to compete more effectively for potential students. We also expect to face increased competition as a
result of new entrants to the online education market, including established colleges and universities that had not
previously offered online education programs.

We believe that the competitive factors in the postsecondary education market include:

« availability of career-oriented and accredited program offerings;
» thetypes of degrees offered and marketability of those degrees;
e reputation, regulatory approvals, and compliance history of the schoal;
« convenient, flexible and dependable access to programs and classes;
« qualified and experienced faculty;
« leve of student support services,
e cost of the program;
* marketing and selling effectiveness; and
¢ thetime necessary to earn a degree.

Available Infor mation

Our Internet address is www.gcu.edu. We make available free of charge on our website our Annual Report on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed on behalf of
directors and executive officers, and all amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (hereafter, the SEC). In addition, our earnings conference
calls and presentation to the financial community are web cast live via our website. In addition to visiting our
website, you may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC' s Public Reference Room at 100 F.
Street NE, Washington, D.C. 20549 or at www.sec.gov. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information on
the Public Reference Room.
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REGULATION

We are subject to extensive regulation by state education agencies, accrediting commissions, and the federal
government through the Department of Education under the Higher Education Act. The regulations, standards, and
policies of these agencies cover the vast majority of our operations, including our educational programs, facilities,
instructional and administrative staff, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting, financial operations, and
financial condition.

Asaningtitution of higher education that grants degrees and certificates, we are required to be authorized by
appropriate state education authorities. In addition, in order to participate in the federal student financial aid
programs, we must be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by the Department of Education.
Accreditation is a non-governmental process through which an ingtitution submits to qualitative review by an
organization of peer institutions, based on the standards of the accrediting commission and the stated aims and
purposes of the institution. The Higher Education Act requires accrediting commissions recognized by the
Department of Education to review and monitor many aspects of an institution’s operations and to take appropriate
action if the ingtitution fails to meet the accrediting commission’s standards.

Our operations are also subject to regulation by the Department of Education due to our participation in the
federal student financial aid programs under Title 1V of the Higher Education Act. Those Title IV programs include
educational loans with below-market interest rates that are guaranteed by the federal government in the event of a
student’ s default on repaying the loan, as well as grant programs for students with demonstrated financial need. To
participate in the Title IV programs, a school must receive and maintain authorization by the appropriate state
education agency or agencies, be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by the Department of
Education, and be certified as an eigible institution by the Department of Education.

Our business activities are planned and implemented to comply with the standards of these regulatory agencies.
We employ a Vice President of SFA Compliance who is knowledgeable about regulatory matters relevant to student
financial aid programs and our Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, and General Counsel also provide
oversight designed to ensure that we meet the requirements of our regulated operating environment.

State Education Licensure and Regulation

We are authorized to offer our educational programs by the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education, the regulatory agency governing private postsecondary educational institutions in the State of Arizona,
where we are located. We do not presently have campuses in any states other than Arizona. We are required by the
Higher Education Act to maintain authorization from the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education
in order to participate in the Title IV programs. This authorization is very important to us and our business. To
maintain our state authorization, we must continuously meet standards relating to, among other things, educational
programs, facilities, instructional and administrative staff, marketing and recruitment, financial operations, addition
of new locations and educational programs, and various operational and administrative procedures. Failure to
comply with the requirements of the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education could result in us
losing our authorization to offer our educational programs, which would cause usto lose our eligibility to participate
in the Title IV programs and which could force us to cease operations. Alternatively, the Arizona State Board for
Private Postsecondary Education could restrict our ability to offer certain degree and non-degree programs.

Most other statesimpose regulatory requirements on out-of-state educational institutions operating within their
boundaries, such as those having a physical facility or conducting certain academic activities within the state. State
laws establish standards in areas such asinstruction, qualifications of faculty, administrative procedures, marketing,
recruiting, financial operations, and other operational matters, some of which are different than the standards
prescribed by the Department of Education or the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education. Lawsin
some states limit schools’ ability to offer educational programs and award degrees to residents of those states. Some
states al so prescribe financial regulations that are different from those of the Department of Education, and many
require the posting of surety bonds.
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In addition, severa states have sought to assert jurisdiction over educational institutions offering online degree
programs that have no physical location or other presence in the state but that have some activity in the state, such as
enrolling or offering educational services to students who reside in the state, employing faculty who reside in the
state, or advertising to or recruiting prospective students in the state. State regulatory requirements for online
education vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some states, and
can change frequently. New laws, regulations, or interpretations related to doing business over the Internet could
increase our cost of doing business and affect our ability to recruit studentsin particular states, which could, in turn,
negatively affect enrollments and revenues and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have determined that our activities in certain states constitute a presence requiring licensure or authorization
under the requirements of the state education agency in those states and we have obtained such licensure. In other
states, we have obtained approvals as we have determined necessary in connection with our marketing and recruiting
activities or where we have determined that our licensure or authorization can facilitate the teaching certification
processin a particular state for graduates of our College of Education. We review the licensure requirements of
other states when appropriate to determine whether our activities in those states constitute a presence or otherwise
require licensure or authorization by the respective state education agencies. Because state regulatory requirements,
including agency interpretations, can change frequently, and because we enroll studentsin all 50 states and the
Digtrict of Columbia, we expect that state regulatory authoritiesin states where we are not currently licensed or
authorized will request that we seek licensure or authorization in their states in the future. Although we believe that
we will be able to comply with additional state licensing or authorization requirements that may arise or be asserted
in the future, if we fail to comply with state licensing or authorization requirements for a state, or fail to obtain
licenses or authorizations when required, we could lose our state licensure or authorization by that state or be subject
to other sanctions, including restrictions on our activitiesin that state, fines, and penalties. While we do not believe
that any of the statesin which we are currently licensed or authorized, other than Arizona, are individually material
to our operations, the loss of licensure or authorization in any state could prohibit us from recruiting prospective
students or offering servicesto current students in that state, which could significantly reduce our enrollments.

State Professional Licensure

Many states have specific requirements that an individual must satisfy in order to be licensed as a professional in
specified fields, including fields such as education and healthcare. These requirements vary by state and by field. A
student’ s success in obtaining licensure following graduation typically depends on severa factors, including the
background and qualifications of the individual graduate, as well as the following factors, among others:

« whether the ingtitution and the program were approved by the state in which the graduate seeks licensure,
or by a professional association;

« whether the program from which the student graduated meets all requirements for professional licensure
in that state;

» whether the ingtitution and the program are accredited and, if so, by what accrediting commissions; and
« whether the ingtitution’s degrees are recognized by other statesin which a student may seek to work.

Many states also require that graduates pass a state test or examination as a prerequisite to becoming certified in
certain fields, such as teaching and nursing. Many states will certify individualsif they have already been certified in
another state.

Our College of Education is approved by the Arizona State Board of Education to offer Institutional
Recommendations (credential s) for the certification of elementary, secondary, and special education teachers and
school administrators. Our College of Nursing and Health Services is approved by the Arizona State Board of
Nursing for the Bachelor of Sciencein Nursing and Master of Science in Nursing degrees. Due to varying
requirements for professional licensure in each state, we inform students of the risks associated with obtaining
professional licensure and that it is each student’s responsibility to determine what state, local, or professional
licensure and certification requirements are necessary in his or her individual state.
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Accreditation

We have been continuoudy accredited since 1968 by the Higher Learning Commission and its predecessor, each
aregional accrediting commission recognized by the Department of Education. Our accreditation was reaffirmed in
2007, and the next scheduled comprehensive evaluation will be conducted in 2016-2017. Accreditation is a private,
non-governmental process for evaluating the quality of educational institutions and their programs in areasincluding
student performance, governance, integrity, educational quality, faculty, physical resources, administrative
capability and resources, and financial stability. To be recognized by the Department of Education, accrediting
commissions must adopt specific standards for their review of educational institutions, conduct peer-review
evaluations of institutions, and publicly designate those ingtitutions that meet their criteria. An accredited school is
subject to periodic review by its accrediting commissions to determine whether it continues to meet the
performance, integrity and quality required for accreditation.

There are six regional accrediting commissions recognized by the Department of Education, each with a
specified geographic scope of coverage, which together cover the entire United States. Most traditional, public and
private non-profit, degree-granting colleges and universities are accredited by one of these six regional accrediting
commissions. The Higher Learning Commission, which accredits Grand Canyon University, is the same regional
accrediting commission that accredits such universities as the University of Arizona, Arizona State University, and
other degree-granting public and private colleges and universitiesin the states of Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado,
Illinois, Indiana, lowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota, Ohio,
Oklahoma, South Dakota, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming.

Accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission isimportant to us for several reasons, including the fact that
it enables our studentsto receive Title |V financial aid. Other colleges and universities depend, in part, on an
institution’s accreditation in evaluating transfers of credit and applications to graduate schools. Employersrely on
the accredited status of institutions when evaluating candidates’ credentials, and students and corporate and
government sponsors under tuition reimbursement programs look to accreditation for assurance that an institution
maintains quality educational standards. If we fail to satisfy the standards of the Higher Learning Commission, we
could lose our accreditation by that agency, which would cause usto lose our eligibility to participate in the Title IV
programs.

The reauthorization of the Higher Education Act in 2008, and final regulations issued by the Department of
Education, effective July 1, 2010, require accreditors to monitor the growth of programs at institutions that are
experiencing significant enrollment growth. The Higher Learning Commission requires all affiliated institutions to
complete an annual data report. If the non-financial data, particularly enrollment information, and any other
information submitted by the institution indicate problems, rapid change, or significant growth, the Higher Learning
Commission staff may require that the institution address any concerns arising from the data report in the next self-
study and visit process. The Higher Learning Commission staff may also recommend that its Institutional Actions
Council require additional monitoring. In addition, the Department of Education has issued final regulations, which
will take effect on July 1, 2010, that require the Higher Learning Commission to notify the Department of Education
if aninstitution it accredits that offers distance learning programs experiences an increase in its headcount
enrollment of 50% or morein any fiscal year, which could include us based on our historical enrollment growth
rates, and the Department of Education may consider that information in connection with its own regulatory
oversight activities.

In addition to institutional accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission, there are numerous specialized
accrediting commissions that accredit specific programs or schools within their jurisdiction, many of which arein
healthcare and professional fields. Accreditation of specific programs by one of these specialized accrediting
commissions signifies that those programs have met the additional standards of those agencies. In addition to being
accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, we also have the following specialized accreditations:

» The Association of Collegiate Business Schools and Programs accredits our Executive Master of
Business Administration degree program, Master of Business Administration degree program and our
Bachelor of Science degree programs in Accounting, Business Administration, Marketing, and
Entrepreneurship;
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» The Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education accredits our Bachelor of Science in Nursing and
Master of Science in Nursing degree programs; and

e The Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education accredits our Athletic Training
Program.

If wefail to satisfy the standards of any of these specialized accrediting commissions, we could lose the
specialized accreditation for the affected programs, which could result in materially reduced student enrollmentsin
those programs as well as student inability to seek licensure.

Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs

To be dligible to participate in the Title IV programs, an institution must comply with specific requirements
contained in the Higher Education Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the Department of Education. An
institution must, among other things, be licensed or authorized to offer its educational programs by the state in
which it is physically located (in our case, Arizona) and maintain institutional accreditation by an accrediting
commission recognized by the Department of Education (in our case, the Higher Learning Commission). We
submitted our application for recertification to participate in the Title IV programs to the Department of Education
in March 2008 in anticipation of the expiration of our provisional certification on June 30, 2008. The Department of
Education did not make a decision on our recertification application by June 30, 2008, and therefore our
participation in the Title IV programs has been automatically extended on a month-to-month basis until the
Department of Education makes its decision.

The substantial amount of federal funds disbursed to schools through the Title IV programs, the large number of
students and institutions participating in these programs, and allegations of fraud and abuse by certain for-profit
educational institutions have caused Congress to require the Department of Education to exercise considerable
regulatory oversight over for-profit educational institutions. As aresult, our ingtitution is subject to extensive
oversight and review. Because the Department of Education periodically revisesitsregulations (asit did in 2009 in
connection with the August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act described below) and changesiits
interpretations of existing laws and regul ations, we cannot predict with certainty how the Title IV program
reguirements will be applied in all circumstances.

Significant factors relating to the Title IV programs that could adversely affect us include the following:

Congressional action. Congress must reauthorize the Higher Education Act on aperiodic basis, usually every
five to six years, and the most recent reauthorization occurred in August 2008. The reauthorized Higher Education
Act reauthorized all of the Title IV programs in which we participate, but made numerous revisionsto the
reguirements governing the Title IV programs, including provisions relating to the relationships between institutions
and lenders that make student loans, student loan default rates, and the formula for revenue that institutions are
permitted to derive from the Title IV programs. In addition, in 2007 Congress enacted |egislation that reduces
interest rates on certain Title IV loans and government subsidies to lenders that participate in the Title IV programs,
which caused reduced liquidity in capital markets and, therefore, the potential to reduce accessto Title IV program
loans by students and parents. In May 2008, Congress enacted additional legislation to attempt to ensure that all
eligible students will be able to obtain Title IV loansin the future, and that a sufficient number of lenders will
continue to provide Title IV loans. Additional legislation is also pending in Congress, including legislation which,
among other things, would eliminate the federally guaranteed student loan program and require all future student
loans to be made through the FDL Program. We are not in a position to predict with certainty whether any of the
pending legislation will be enacted. Although we are approved to participate in the FDL Program, because a
significant percentage of our revenue is derived from the Title IV programs, any action by Congress that
significantly reduces Title 1V program funding or our ability or the ability of our studentsto participate in the Title
IV programs could increase our costs of compliance, reduce the ability of some students to finance their education at
our ingtitution, require usto seek to arrange for other sources of financial aid for our students and materially
decrease our student enrollment. In addition, atransition to the FDL Program could cause disruptionsin the
administration of Title IV program loans to our studentsif we or the Department of Education encounter difficulties
with the systems or processes necessary for increased FDL Program loans. However, we have already started
participating in the FDL Program and have experienced no difficulties thus far in processing loans.
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In addition, Congress must determine the funding levels for the Title IV programs on an annual basis through the
budget and appropriations process, and may adjust those levels at other times. A reduction in federal funding levels
for the Title IV programs could reduce the ability of some of our students to finance their education. The loss of or a
significant reductionin Title IV program funds available to our students could reduce our enrollments and revenue.

Pending regulatory changes. In connection with the 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, Congress
directed the Department of Education to promulgate regulations to clarify and carry out the numerous revisions
made in such reauthorization. In December 2008, the Department of Education established five negotiated
rulemaking committees to begin to work on developing such regulations. Negotiated rulemaking is a process
whereby the Department of Education consults with members of the postsecondary education community to identify
issues of concern and attempts to agree on proposed regulatory revisions to address those i ssues before the
Department of Education formally proposes any regulations. If the Department of Education and negotiators cannot
reach consensus on their entire package of draft regulations, the Department of Education is authorized to propose
regulations without being bound by any agreements made in the negotiation process. The five origina negotiated
rulemaking committees have completed work on certain regulation packages and final regulations were issued in
October of 2009, which will become effective on July 1, 2010.

In May 2009, the Department of Education announced itsintent to initiate another round of negotiated
rulemaking to address regulations to improve the administration of the Title IV programs. That process was
concluded for a significant number of regulatory topics in January of 2010 and addressed a number of significant
issues, including: compensation paid by institutions to persons or entities engaged in student recruiting or admission
activities; the determination of satisfactory academic progress under different academic calendars; state
authorization as a component of institutional eligibility; the definition of a credit hour for purposes of determining
program eligibility status, particularly in the context of awarding Pell Grants; verification of information included on
student aid applications; the definition of ahigh school diploma as a condition of a student’s receipt of Title IV aid
and requirements that an institution be able to demonstrate that its graduates obtain gainful employment, as
measured against certain metrics such as student loan debt and salaries of graduates. The negotiators did not reach
consensus on many of the issues up for discussion in this round of negotiated rulemaking. Of the proposed revisions
to the regulations being considered in this negotiated rulemaking, the issues related to gainful employment and
incentive compensation are of particular concern to for-profit educational institutions. The negotiators did not reach
consensus on either of these issues, leaving many significant concerns of industry negotiators open and unresol ved.
As such, the Department of Education is authorized to propose regulations with respect to these topics without
regard to the concerns of institutions as expressed during the negotiated rulemaking process. Following the
conclusion of thisround of negotiated rulemaking, possibly in the spring or summer of 2010, the Department of
Education is expected to issue proposed regulations for public comment and to issue final regulations by November
1, 2010, which isthe required deadline in order for such regulations to take effect on July 1, 2011. We are till
assessing the impact of the final regulations issued in October of 2009 and the possible impact of the ongoing
negotiated rulemaking on our financial aid policies and other plans and strategies. To the extent certain of these
revisions to the regulations are adopted as proposed by the Department of Education, we cannot predict with any
certainty whether we will be able to comply with such new requirements or whether compliance with such new
requirements will result in a material adverse effect on our enrollments and operations. In May 2009, the
Department of Education announced that it was initiating a further negotiated rulemaking processto reviseits
regulations in certain areas, including the regulations related to incentive compensation and gainful employment. As
part of the current negotiated rulemaking process, the potential elimination or curtailment of the incentive
compensation “safe harbors” is being considered, leaving open the possibility that this rule will be administered on
an even stricter basis.

Eligibility and certification procedures. Each ingtitution must apply periodically to the Department of Education
for continued certification to participate in the Title IV programs. Such recertification generally is required every six
years, but may be required earlier, including when an institution undergoes a change in control. An institution may
aso come under the Department of Education’s review when it expands its activities in certain ways, such as
opening an additional location, adding a new educational program or modifying the academic credentials it offers.
The Department of Education may place an ingtitution on provisional certification statusif it finds that the institution
does not fully satisfy all of the eligibility and certification standards and in certain other circumstances, such as
when aninstitution is certified for the first time or undergoes a change in control. During the period of provisional
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certification, the institution must comply with any additional conditions included in the school’s program
participation agreement with the Department of Education. In addition, the Department of Education may more
closely review an ingtitution that is provisionally certified if it applies for recertification or approval to open a new
location, add an educational program, acquire another school, or make any other significant change. If the
Department of Education determines that a provisionally certified institution is unable to meet its responsibilities
under its program participation agreement, it may seek to revoke the institution’s certification to participate in the
Title IV programs without advance notice or opportunity for the institution to challenge the action. Students
attending provisionally certified institutions remain eligible to receive Title IV program funds.

Since May 2005 we have been certified to participate in Title IV programs on a provisional basis. We submitted
our application for recertification in March 2008 in anticipation of the expiration of our provisional certification on
June 30, 2008. The Department of Education did not make a decision on our recertification application by June 30,
2008, and therefore our provisional certification to participate in the Title IV programs has been automatically
extended on a month-to-month basis until the Department of Education makes its decision. Since June 2008, we
have filed updates with the Department of Education and communicated with Department of Education personnel in
order to update our pending recertification application with relevant information, such as our status as a publicly-
traded corporation and the identity of the members of our Board of Directors. Based on our provisional certification,
the Department of Education may more closely review any application we may file for recertification, new
locations, new educational programs, acquisitions of other schools, or other significant changes. For a school that is
certified on a provisional basis, the Department of Education may revoke the institution’ s certification without
advance notice or advance opportunity for the institution to challenge that action. For a school that is provisionally
certified on a month-to-month basis, the Department of Education may allow the institution’s certification to expire
at the end of any month without advance notice, and without any formal procedure for review of such action. To our
knowledge, such action is very rare and has only occurred upon a determination that an institution isin substantial
violation of material Title 1V requirements. For the foreseeable future, we do not have plansto initiate new
educational programs, acquire other schools, or make other significant changesin our operations that would require
approval of the Department of Education. Accordingly, we do not believe that our continued provisional
certification on a month-to-month basis has had or will have any material impact on our day-to-day operations.
However, there can be no assurance that the Department of Education will recertify us while the investigation by the
Office of Inspector Genera of the Department of Education is being conducted, while the qui tam lawsuit is
pending, or at al, or that it will not impose restrictions as a condition of approving our pending recertification
application or with respect to any future recertification. If the Department of Education does not renew or withdraws
our certification to participate in the Title IV programs at any time, our students would no longer be able to receive
Title IV program funds. Similarly, the Department of Education could renew our certification, but restrict or delay
our students' receipt of Title 1V funds, limit the number of students to whom we could disburse such funds, or place
other restrictions on us that could be similar to, or more or less restrictive than, the restrictions that the Department
of Education imposed on us in connection with our recertification in 2005. Any of these outcomes would have a
material adverse effect on our enrollments and us.

Administrative capability. Department of Education regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution
must establish that it has the requisite “ administrative capability” to participate in the Title IV programs. To meet the
administrative capability standards, an institution must, among other things:

e comply with al applicable Title IV program requirements,
« have an adequate number of qualified personnel to administer the Title IV programs,
« have acceptable standards for measuring the satisfactory academic progress of its students;

« not have student loan cohort default rates above specified levels;

¢ have various proceduresin place for awarding, disbursing and safeguarding Title 1V funds and for
maintaining required records;

« administer the Title IV programs with adequate checks and balances in its system of internal controls;

« not be, and not have any principal or affiliate who is, debarred or suspended from federal contracting or
engaging in activity that is cause for debarment or suspension;
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» provide financial aid counseling to its students;

» refer to the Department of Education’s Office of Inspector General any credible information indicating
that any student, parent, employee, third-party servicer or other agent of the institution has engaged in any
fraud or other illegal conduct involving the Title IV programs;

< submit all required reports and financial statementsin atimely manner; and
* not otherwise appear to lack administrative capability.

If an ingtitution fails to satisfy any of these criteria, the Department of Education may:
e requiretheinstitution to repay Title IV funds its students previoudy received,

e transfer the institution from the advance method of payment of Title IV fundsto heightened cash
monitoring status or the reimbursement system of payment;

e placetheinstitution on provisional certification status; or

¢ commence a proceeding to impose afine or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution’s participation in
the Title IV programs.

The Department of Education published final regulations revising the administrative capability regulations.
These revisionsinclude provisions related to (i) reporting to the Department of Education any reasonable
reimbursements paid or provided by alender to institutional employees with loan or other financial aid
responsibilities and (ii) implementation of the new three year cohort default rate rules and will be effective on July
1, 2010. We will have to make certain administrative and reporting changes to adapt our systems and practices to
meet the requirements of these new regulations when they take effect, and we are still assessing the other potential
impacts, if any, of these new regulations on our business. In addition, as part of our transition from a “term-based”
financial aid system (where all students, including online students, begin programs and are eligible to receive
financial aid at periodic start dates pursuant to a calendar-based term system) to a “borrower-based” financial aid
system (where each student may begin a program and be eligible to receive financial aid at any time throughout the
year), we are converting our back office system from Datatel, Inc. to a series of programs developed by Campus
Management Corp., including CampusV ue and CampusPortal. Effective spring 2010, when we move to the
borrower-based academic year (“BBAY") non-term processing, GCU will no longer be offering coursesin the
“modular” format. This conversion isintended to allow usto manage our non-traditional online students with greater
ease and flexibility by providing for rolling and flexible start dates. If we do not effectively implement this system
or if the system does not operate as intended, it could affect our ability to comply with the Department of
Education’ s administrative capability requirements. If we are found not to have satisfied the Department of
Education’ s administrative capability requirements, our students could lose, or be limited in their access to, Title IV
program funding.

Financial responsibility. The Higher Education Act and Department of Education regulations establish extensive
standards of financial responsibility that institutions such as Grand Canyon University must satisfy in order to
participate in the Title IV programs. The Department of Education evaluates institutions for compliance with these
standards on an annual basis, based on the institution’s annual audited financial statements, as well as when the
institution applies to the Department of Education to have its eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs
recertified. The most significant financia responsibility standard isthe institution’s composite score, which is
derived from aformula established by the Department of Education based on three financia ratios:

e equity ratio, which measures the ingtitution’ s capital resources, financial viability and ability to borrow;

» primary reserve ratio, which measures the institution’ s ability to support current operations from
expendable resources; and

* netincome ratio, which measures the institution’ s ability to operate at a profit or within its means.
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The Department of Education assigns a strength factor to the results of each of these ratios on a scale from
negative 1.0 to positive 3.0, with negative 1.0 reflecting financial weakness and positive 3.0 reflecting financial
strength. The Department of Education then assigns a weighting percentage to each ratio and adds the weighted
scores for the three ratios together to produce a composite score for the institution. The composite score for the
institution’s most recent fiscal year must be at least 1.5 for the ingtitution to be deemed financially responsible
without the need for further Department of Education oversight. In addition to having an acceptable composite
score, an institution must, among other things, provide the administrative resources necessary to comply with Title
IV program requirements, meet all of its financia obligationsincluding required refunds to students and any Title
IV liabilities and debts, be current in its debt payments, and not receive an adverse, qualified, or disclaimed opinion
by its accountants in its audited financial statements.

When we were recertified by the Department of Education in 2005 to continue participating in the Title IV
programs, the Department of Education advised us that we did not satisfy its standards of financial responsibility,
based on our fiscal year 2004 financial statements, as submitted to the Department of Education. As aresult of this
and other concerns about our administrative capability, the Department of Education required us to post aletter of
credit, accept restrictions on the growth of our program offerings and enrollment, and receive Title IV funds under
the heightened cash monitoring system of payment rather than by advance payment. In October 2006, the
Department of Education eliminated the letter of credit requirement and allowed the growth restrictions to expire,
based upon its review of our fiscal year 2005 financia statements. We have subsequently submitted our fiscal year
2006, 2007, and 2008 financial statements to the Department of Education as required, and we calculated that our
composite score for each such fiscal year exceeded 1.5. We therefore believe that we meet the Department of
Education’s financial responsibility standards for our most recently completed fiscal year. We have not submitted
our financia statements to the Department of Education for our most recently completed fiscal year but we have
calculated that our composite score for fiscal year 2009 will also exceed 1.5.

If the Department of Education were to determine that we did not meet the financial responsibility standards due
to afailure to meet the composite score or other factors, we would expect to be able to establish financial
responsibility on an alternative basis permitted by the Department of Education, which could include, in the
Department’ s discretion, posting aletter of credit, accepting provisional certification, complying with additional
Department of Education monitoring requirements, agreeing to receive Title IV program funds under an
arrangement other than the Department of Education’s standard advance funding arrangement, such as the
reimbursement system of payment or heightened cash monitoring, and complying with or accepting other limitations
on our ability to increase the number of programs we offer or the number of students we enroll.

The requirement to post a letter of credit or other sanctions imposed by the Department of Education could
increase our cost of regulatory compliance and adversely affect our cash flows. If we are unable to meet the
minimum composite score or comply with the other standards of financial responsibility, and could not post a
required letter of credit or comply with the alternative bases for establishing financial responsibility, our students
could lose their access to Title IV program funding.

Return of Title IV funds for students who withdraw. When a student who has received Title IV program funds
withdraws from school, the institution must determine the amount of Title IV program funds the student has
“earned.” In aterm based environment, which is what we currently operate in, the Return to Title IV is calculated
based on completed daysin the term as a percentage of the total daysin the term. The exception to thisruleisthat if
courses are offered in amodul ar setting, and a student has completed the first module, no Returnto Title IV
calculation needs to be done. Our terms consist primarily of two eight week courses. So if a student completed the
first eight week course, no Returnto Title IV calculation is required. We are moving from aterm based environment
to aborrower based non-term environment starting in April 2010. In a borrower-based environment, if the student
withdraws during the first 60% of any period of enrollment or payment period, the amount of Title IV program
funds that the student has earned is equal to a pro rata portion of the funds the student received or for which the
student would otherwise be eligible. If the student withdraws after the 60% threshold, then the student is deemed to
have earned 100% of the Title IV program funds he or she received. Based on the change to a non-term
environment, we anticipate an increase in the Title IV program funds to be returned to lenders or the Department of
Education. The institution must return the unearned Title IV program funds to the appropriate lender or the
Department of Education in atimely manner, which is generally no later than 45 days after the date the institution
determined that the student withdrew. If such payments are not timely made, the institution will be required to
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submit aletter of credit to the Department of Education equal to 25% of the Title IV funds that the institution should
have returned for withdrawn studentsin its most recently completed fiscal year. Under Department of Education
regulations, the letter of credit requirement istriggered by late returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of
the withdrawn students in the audit sample in the institution’s annual Title IV compliance audit for either of the
institution’s two most recent fiscal years or in a Department of Education program review. We did not exceed this
5% threshold in our annual Title IV compliance audit in our 2006, 2007, or 2008 fiscal years.

The “90/10 Rule.” A requirement of the Higher Education Act, commonly referred to asthe “90/10 Rule,” that is
applicable only to for-profit, postsecondary educational institutions like us, provides that an institution loses its
eligibility to participatein the Title IV programs, if, under a complex regulatory formula that requires cash basis
accounting and other adjustments to the calculation of revenue, the institution derives more than 90% of its revenues
for each of two consecutive fiscal years from Title IV program funds. This rule provides that an institution that
violates this revenue limit becomes ineligible to participatein the Title IV programs as of the first day of the fiscal
year following the second consecutive fiscal year in which it exceeds the 90% threshold, and its period of
ineligibility extends for at least two consecutive fiscal years. If an institution exceeds the 90% threshold for two
consecutive fiscal years and it and its students have received Title IV funds during the period of indligibility, the
institution will be required to return those funds to the applicable lender or the Department of Education. If an
ingtitution’ s rate exceeds 90% for any single fiscal year, it will be placed on provisional certification for at least two
fiscal years. The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisionsto the
“90/10 Rule” that became effective upon the date of the law’ s enactment.

Recent changes in federal law that increased Title 1V grant and loan limits, and any additional increasesin the
future, may result in an increase in the revenues we receive from the Title IV programs, which could make it more
difficult for usto satisfy the “90/10 Rule.” In addition, economic downturns that adversely affect the employment
circumstances of our students or their parents, or that reduce the availability of private loans for our students, could
also increase their reliance on Title 1V programs. However, such effects may be mitigated by other provisions of the
2008 Higher Education Act reauthorization that allow institutions, when calculating their compliance with this
revenue test, to exclude from their Title IV program revenues for athree-year period the additional federal student
loan amounts that became available through the Unsubsidized Stafford Loan Program starting in July 2008, and to
include more non-Title IV revenues, such as revenues from ingtitutional loans under certain circumstances. Given
the level of complexity of such a calculation we are unable to quantify precisely the benefit that we would derivein
the 90/10 percentage from these revisions. As such, our reported rates below exclude the benefits from the recent
revisions. Using the Department of Education’s formula under the “90/10 Rule” that was in effect prior to the
August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, for our 2009 and 2008 fiscal years, we derived
approximately 82.5% and 78.6%, respectively, of our revenues (calculated on a cash basis) from Title IV program
funds. These rates have been reviewed by our financial accounting firm as reflected in the notes to our audited
financial statements for each fiscal year. However, as aresult of recent changesin federal law that increased Title IV
grant and loan limits, as well as the current economic downturn, which has adversely affected the employment
circumstances of our students and their parents and increased their reliance on Title IV programs, we expect the
percentage of our revenue that we receive from the Title IV programs to continue to increase in the future, making it
more difficult for us to satisfy this requirement. Exceeding the 90% threshold such that we lost our eligibility to
participate in the Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Sudent loan defaults. Under the Higher Education Act, an educational institution may lose its eligibility to
participate in some or al of the Title IV programsif defaults by its students on the repayment of their FFEL student
loans or Federal Direct Loans exceed certain levels. For each federal fiscal year, the Department of Education
calculates arate of student defaults for each institution (known as a“ cohort default rate”). Aninstitution’ s cohort
default rate for afederal fiscal year historically has been calculated by determining the rate at which borrowers who
became subject to their repayment obligation in one federal fiscal year default in that same year or by the end of the
following federal fiscal year (the “two-year method”). The reauthorization of the Higher Education Act in 2008
extended the measurement period for cohort default rates so that the rate is calculated by determining the rate at
which borrowers who became subject to their repayment obligation in one federal fiscal year default in that same
year or by the end of the second following federal fiscal year (the “three-year method”), which is expected to
increase cohort default rates for most if not all ingtitutions. In December 2009, the Department of Education issued
“trial” cohort default rates that were calculated for federal fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007 asif the extended period
to count student defaults already applied to those prior years. The Department of Education stated that it released
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this data for informational purposes only, to assist institutions in anticipating how the extended period to count
student defaults might affect their future cohort default rates when that extended period is actually implemented.
Based on the Department of Education’s release of this information, our default rates for these prior years increased,
as set forth below. While the trial cohort default rates are informative for prior periods, they do not enable us to
predict or estimate with any degree of certainty the extent of the expected increase in our FFEL cohort default rates
for future federal fiscal years when the new extended period to measure student defaultsis put into effect, or
whether any such increase will affect our participation in the Title IV programs.

The Department of Education has issued afinal regulation indicating that it will begin to implement this
extended measurement period for the cohort default rates that will be calculated for loans that enter repayment in
federal fiscal year 2009, which is the year that ended on September 30, 2009. The Department of Education has
proposed atransition period of three years during which it will calculate two cohort default rates for each institution
for each of federal fiscal years 2009, 2010 and 2011, with one such rate measured under the two-year method and
the other such rate measured under the three-year method. The cohort default rates for federal fiscal year 2009, 2010
and 2011, as calculated under the new three-year method, are not expected to be published until calendar years 2012,
2013 and 2014.

The Department of Education will apply different legal thresholds to measure an institution’s compliance under
each set of rates. If the Department of Education notifies an institution that its cohort default rates exceed 25%, as
calculated under the two-year method, for each of its three most recent federal fiscal years, or exceed 30%, as
calculated under the three-year method, for each of the three most recent federal fiscal years, the ingtitution’s
participation in the FFEL Program, the FDL Program and the Pell Program ends 30 days after that notification,
unless the institution appeal s that determination in a timely manner on specified grounds and according to specified
procedures. In addition, an institution’s participation in the FFEL Program and the FDL Program ends 30 days after
notification by the Department of Education that its most recent cohort default rate, as calculated under either the
two-year method or the three-year method, is greater than 40%, unless the institution timely appeals that
determination on specified grounds and according to specified procedures. An institution whose participation ends
under either of these provisions may not participate in the relevant programs for the remainder of the fiscal year in
which the institution receives the notification and for the next two fiscal years. If an institution’s cohort default rate
for any single federal fiscal year equals or exceeds 25% under the two-year method, or 30% under the three-year
method, the Department of Education may place the institution on provisional certification status.

Our cohort default rates on FFEL Program loans for the 2007, 2006 and 2005 federal fiscal years, the three most
recent years for which such rates have been calculated, were 1.4%, 1.6% and 1.8%, respectively. Our trial cohort
default rates for these years, asissued by the Department of Education in December 2009, were 2.9%, 2.7% and
3.0%, respectively. Our draft cohort default rate for the 2008 federal fiscal year is 3.5%.

In the fall of 2009, our students began applying for loans under the FDL Program. When these loans are
disbursed, they will be combined with our students’ FFEL loans in calculating our annua student |oan cohort default
rate. In such case, the potential sanctions discussed in this section would be based on the combined cohort default
rate.

Incentive compensation rule. An ingtitution that participatesin the Title IV programs may not provide any
commission, bonus, or other incentive payment based directly or indirectly on success in securing enrollments or
financial aid to any person or entity engaged in any student recruitment, admissions, or financia aid awarding
activity. The Department of Education’s regulations set forth 12 “safe harbors’ which describe payments and
arrangements that do not violate the incentive compensation rule. The Department of Education’ s regulations make
clear that the safe harbors are not a complete list of permissible practices under thislaw. For example, one of these
safe harbors permits adjustments to fixed salary for enrollment personnel provided that such adjustments are not
made more than twice during any twelve month period, and that any adjustment is not based solely on the number of
students recruited, admitted, enrolled, or awarded financial aid, but the regulations do not address other practices,
such as the provision of non-cash awards to enrollment personnel. The restrictions of the incentive compensation
rule also extend to any third-party companies that an educational institution contracts with for student recruitment,
admissions, or financial aid awarding services. Since 2005, we have engaged Mind Streams, LLC to assist us with
student recruitment activities.
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In recent years, several for-profit education companies have been faced with whistleblower lawsuits, known as
“qui tam” cases, brought by current or former employees alleging that their institution had made impermissible
incentive payments. A qui tam caseisacivil lawsuit brought by one or more individuals (a “relator”) on behalf of
the federal government for an alleged submission to the government of afalse claim for payment. The relator, often
acurrent or former employee, is entitled to a share of the government’ s recovery in the case. A qui tamactionis
always filed under seal and remains under seal until the government decides whether to intervene in the case. If the
government intervenes, it takes over primary control of the litigation. If the government declines to intervene in the
case, the relator may nonethel ess elect to continue to pursue the litigation at his or her own expense on behalf of the
government.

On September 11, 2008, we were served with a qui tam lawsuit that had been filed against usin August 2007, in
the United States District Court for the Digtrict of Arizona by a then-current employee on behalf of the federal
government. All proceedingsin the lawsuit had been under seal until September 5, 2008, when the court unsealed
the first amended complaint, which had been filed on August 11, 2008. The qui tam lawsuit alleges, among other
things, that we violated the False Claims Act by knowingly making false statements, and submitting fal se records or
statements, from at least 2001 to the present, to get false or fraudulent claims paid or approved, and asserts that we
have improperly compensated certain of our enrollment counselorsin violation of the Title IV law governing
compensation of such employees, and as aresult, improperly received Title IV program funds. The complaint
specifically alleges that some of our compensation practices with respect to our enrollment personnel, including
providing non-cash awards, have violated the Title IV law governing compensation. While we believe that our
compensation policies and practices at issue in the complaint have not been based on successin enrolling studentsin
violation of applicable law, the Department of Education’s regulations and interpretations of the incentive
compensation law do not establish clear criteriafor compliance in al circumstances and some of our practices,
including in respect of non-cash awards, have not been within the scope of any specific “safe harbor” provided in
the compensation regulations. The complaint seeks treble the amount of unspecified damages sustained by the
federal government in connection with our receipt of Title IV funding, a civil penalty for each violation of the False
Claims Act, attorneys' fees, costs, and interest. We filed a motion to dismiss this case in November 2008, which was
denied by the court in February 20009.

Pursuant to the court’s mandatory scheduling order, we have entered into settlement discussions with respect to
the qui tam matter with the relator. In connection with such discussions, we have reached a settlement in principle
with the relator pursuant to which we have agreed to pay $5.2 million to finally resolve the qui tam case and thereby
avoid the cost and distraction of a potentially protracted trial. We have accrued that amount in the accompanying
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. This settlement is conditioned upon obtaining the
approval of the U.S. Department of Justice (which has authority to approve settlements of False Claims Act matters)
and the Department of Education with respect to the resolution of the OIG investigation, and finalizing settlement
terms that would release us from other False Claims Act cases based upon the conduct covered by the settlement.
The parties and the United States government are continuing to negotiate towards afinal settlement. The ultimate
dismissal of the action, should afinal settlement be reached, is subject to the court’s approval. Should the parties fail
to conclude the settlement on the proposed or other terms, we intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit.

The Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education is responsible for, among other things,
promoting the effectiveness and integrity of the Department of Education’s programs and operations, including
compliance with applicable statutes and regulations. The Office of Inspector General performs investigations of
alleged violations of law, including cases of alleged fraud and abuse, or other identified vulnerabilities, in programs
administered or financed by the Department of Education, including matters related to the incentive compensation
rule. On August 14, 2008, the Office of Inspector General served an administrative subpoena on Grand Canyon
University requiring usto provide certain records and information related to performance reviews and salary
adjustments for all of our enrollment counselors and managers from January 1, 2004 to the present. The Office of
Inspector General’ sinvestigation is focused on whether we have compensated any of our enrollment counselors or
managers in a manner that violated the Title IV statutory requirements or the related Department of Education
regulations concerning the payment of incentive compensation based on success in securing enrollments or financial
aid. We have been cooperating with the Office of Inspector General to facilitate its investigation and have completed
production of all requested documents. See Item 1A, Risk Factors — The Office of Inspector General of the
Department of Education has commenced an investigation of Grand Canyon University, which is ongoing and
which may result in fines, penalties, other sanctions, and damage to our reputation in the industry.

29



Any fine or other sanction resulting from the Office of Inspector General investigation or otherwise, or any
monetary liability resulting from the qui tam action, could damage our reputation and impose significant costs on us,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.
We cannot presently predict the ultimate outcome of the qui tam lawsuit or the Office of Inspector General
investigation or any liability or other sanctions that might result.

In May 2009, the Department of Education announced that it was initiating a further negotiated rulemaking
process to revise its regulations in certain areas, including the regulations implementing the incentive compensation
rule. As part of the current negotiated rulemaking process, the potential elimination or curtailment of the incentive
compensation “safe harbors’ is being considered, leaving open the possibility that this rule will be administered on
an even dtricter basis.

Following the conclusion of this round of negotiated rulemaking, possibly in the spring or summer of 2010, the
Department of Education is expected to issue proposed regulations for public comment and to issue final regulations
by November 1, 2010, which isthe required deadline in order for such regulations to take effect on July 1, 2011.

Compliance reviews. We are subject to announced and unannounced compliance reviews and audits by various
external agencies, including the Department of Education, its Office of Inspector General, state licensing agencies,
agencies that guarantee FFEL loans, the applicable state approving agencies for financial assistance to veterans, and
accrediting commissions. As part of the Department of Education’s ongoing monitoring of institutions’
administration of the Title IV programs, the Higher Education Act also requires institutions to annually submit to the
Department of Education a Title IV compliance audit conducted by an independent certified public accountant in
accordance with applicable federal and Department of Education audit standards. In addition, to enable the
Department of Education to make a determination of an institution’s financial responsibility, each institution must
annually submit audited financial statements prepared in accordance with Department of Education regulations.

Privacy of student records. The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, or FERPA, and the
Department of Education’s FERPA regulations require educational institutions to protect the privacy of students
educational records by limiting an ingtitution’s disclosure of a student’s personally identifiable information without
the student’ s prior written consent. FERPA also requires institutions to allow students to review and request changes
to their educationa records maintained by the institution, to notify students at least annually of this inspection right,
and to maintain records in each student’ s file listing requests for access to and disclosures of personally identifiable
information and the interest of such party in that information. If an institution fails to comply with FERPA, the
Department of Education may require corrective actions by the institution or may terminate an institution’s receipt
of further federal funds. In addition, educational institutions are obligated to safeguard student information pursuant
to the Gramm-L each-Bliley Act, or GLBA, afederal law designed to protect consumers’ personal financial
information held by financial institutions and other entities that provide financial servicesto consumers. GLBA and
the applicable GLBA regulations require an institution to, among other things, develop and maintain a
comprehensive, written information security program designed to protect against the unauthorized disclosure of
personally identifiable financial information of students, parents, or other individual s with whom such institution has
acustomer relationship. If an institution fails to comply with the applicable GLBA requirements, it may be required
to take corrective actions, be subject to monitoring and oversight by the FTC, and be subject to fines or penalties
imposed by the FTC. For-profit educational institutions are also subject to the general deceptive practices
jurisdiction of the FTC with respect to their collection, use, and disclosure of student information. The institution
must also comply with the FTC Red Flags Rule, a section of the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act, that requires the
establishment of guidelines and policies regarding identity theft related to student credit accounts.
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Potential effect of regulatory violations. If we fail to comply with the regulatory standards governing the Title IV
programs, the Department of Education could impose one or more sanctions, including transferring us to the
reimbursement or cash monitoring system of payment, requiring us to repay Title IV program funds, requiring usto
post aletter of credit in favor of the Department of Education as a condition for continued Title IV certification,
taking emergency action against us, initiating proceedings to impose afine or to limit, suspend, or terminate our
participation in the Title IV programs, or referring the matter for civil or criminal prosecution. Since we are
provisionally certified to participate in the Title IV programs on a month-to-month basis, the Department of
Education could allow our certification to expire at the end of any month without advance notice and without any
formal procedure for review of such action. In addition, the agencies that guarantee FFEL loans for our students
could initiate proceedings to limit, suspend, or terminate our eligibility to provide FFEL loansin the event of certain
regulatory violations. If such sanctions or proceedings were imposed against us and resulted in a substantial
curtailment or termination of our participation in the Title IV programs, our enrollments, revenues, and results of
operations would be materially and adversely affected.

If welost our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs, or if the amount of available Title IV program
funds was reduced, we would seek to arrange or provide alternative sources of revenue or financial aid for students.
We believe that one or more private organizations would be willing to provide financial assistance to our students,
but there is no assurance that this would be the case. The interest rate and other terms of such financial aid would
likely not be as favorable as those for Title IV program funds, and we might be required to guarantee all or part of
such alternative assistance or might incur other additional costsin connection with securing such aternative
assistance. It is unlikely that we would be able to arrange alternative funding on any termsto replace all the Title 1V
funding our students receive. Accordingly, our loss of eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs, or a
reduction in the amount of available Title IV program funding for our students, would have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations, even if we could arrange or provide aternative sources of revenue or student financial
aid.

In addition to the actions that may be brought against us as a result of our participation in the Title IV programs,
we are also subject to complaints and lawsuits relating to regulatory compliance brought not only by our regulatory
agencies, but also by other government agencies and third parties, such as present or former students or employees
and other members of the public.

Uncertainties, increased oversight, and changes in student loan environment. Since 2007, student loan
programs, including the Title IV programs, have come under increased scrutiny by the Department of Education,
Congress, state attorneys general, and other parties. Issues that have received extensive attention include all egations
of conflicts of interest between some institutions and lenders that provide Title IV loans, questionable incentives
given by lenders to some schools and school employees, allegations of deceptive practices in the marketing of
student loans, and schools leading students to use certain lenders. Several ingtitutions and lenders have been cited for
these problems and have paid several million dollars in the aggregate to settle those claims. The practices of
numerous other schools and lenders are being examined by government agencies at the federal and state level.

Asaresult of the increased scrutiny of student loan programs, Congress has passed new laws, the Department of
Education has enacted stricter regulations, and severa states have adopted codes of conduct or enacted state laws
that further regulate the conduct of lenders, schools, and school personnel. These new laws and regulations, among
other things, limit schools' relationships with lenders, restrict the types of services that schools may receive from
lenders, prohibit lenders from providing other types of funding to schools in exchange for Title IV loan volume,
require schools to provide additional information to students concerning institutionally preferred lenders, and
significantly reduce the amount of federal payments to lenders who participate in the Title IV loan programs. In
addition, recent adverse market conditions for consumer loansin general have adversely affected the student lending
marketplace.
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The cumulative impact of these developments and conditions has caused some lendersto cease providing Title
IV loans to students, including some lenders that previously provided Title IV loans to our students. Other lenders
have reduced the benefits and increased the fees associated with the Title IV loans they do provide. We and other
schools have had to modify student loan practices in ways that result in higher administrative costs. If the costs of
their Title IV loans increase, some students may decide not to take out loans and not enroll in a postsecondary
institution. In May 2008, new federal legislation was enacted to attempt to ensure that all eligible students would be
ableto obtain Title IV loansin the future and that a sufficient number of lenders would continue to provide Title IV
loans. Among other things, that legislation:

 authorized the Department of Education to purchase Title IV loans from lenders, thereby providing
capital to the lenders to enable them to continue making Title IV loans to students; and

« permitted the Department of Education to designate institutions eligible to participate in a“lender of last
resort” program, under which federally recognized student loan guaranty agencies would be required to
make Title IV loans to all otherwise eligible students at those institutions.

While this legislation appears to have provided some stability to the marketplace for Title IV loans, it is not yet
clear if it ultimately will be effective in ensuring students’ accessto Title IV loans. The environment surrounding
access to and cost of student loans remains in a state of flux. The Department of Education issued final regulations
regarding student loans in July 2009, which will go into effect on July 1, 2010, and Congressis considering
legiglation to eliminate the FFEL Program and move all federal student lending into the FDL Program. The
uncertainty surrounding these issues, and any resol ution of these issues that increases |oan costs or reduces students’
access to Title IV loans, may adversely affect our student enrollments. Although we are approved to participate in
the FDL Program, because a significant percentage of our revenue is derived from the Title IV programs, any action
by Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or our ability or the ability of our studentsto
participate in the Title IV programs could increase our costs of compliance, reduce the ability of some studentsto
finance their education at our institution, require us to seek to arrange for other sources of financial aid for our
students and materially decrease our student enrollment, each of which could have a material adverse effect on us.
During fiscal year 2009, we began participating in the FDL Program for a portion of our Title IV eligible students.
We expect to be able to transition fully from the FFEL Program to the FDL Program by September 2010. While we
have not encountered difficulties to date, a complete transition to the FDL Program could cause disruptionsin the
administration of Title IV program loans to our studentsif we or the Department of Education encounter difficulties
with the systems or processes necessary for increased FDL Program loans.

Regulatory Standardsthat May Restrict I nstitutional Expansion or Other Changes

Many actions that we may wish to take in connection with expanding our operations or other changes are subject
to review or approval by the applicable regulatory agencies.

Adding teaching locations, implementing new educational programs, and increasing enrollment. The
reguirements and standards of state education agencies, accrediting commissions, and the Department of Education
limit our ability in certain instances to establish additional teaching locations, implement new educational programs,
or increase enrollment in certain programs. Many states require review and approval before institutions can add new
locations or programs, and Arizona also limits the number of undergraduate nursing students we may enroll (which
represents a small portion of our overall nursing program). The Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education, the Higher Learning Commission, and other state education agencies and specialized accrediting
commissions that authorize or accredit us and our programs generally require institutions to notify them in advance
of adding new locations or implementing new programs, and upon notification may undertake areview of the
quality of the facility or the program and the financial, academic, and other qualifications of the institution. For
instance, following applications we filed in December 2006, we received approval from the Higher Learning
Commission and the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education in March 2008 to add our first
doctoral level program.
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With respect to the Department of Education, if an institution participating in the Title IV programs plans to add
anew location or educational program, the institution must generally apply to the Department of Education to have
the additional location or educational program designated as within the scope of the institution’s Title IV eligibility.
However, a degree-granting institution such as usis not required to obtain the Department of Education’s approval
of additional programs that lead to an associate, bachelor’s, professional, or graduate degree at the same degree level
as programs previously approved by the Department of Education. Similarly, an institution is not required to obtain
advance approval for new programs that prepare students for gainful employment in the same or arelated
recognized occupation as an educational program that has previously been designated by the Department of
Education as an eligible program at that institution if it meets certain minimum-length requirements. However, as a
condition for an institution to participate in the Title IV programs on a provisiona basis, the Department of
Education can require prior approval of such programs or otherwise restrict the number of programs an institution
may add or the extent to which an ingtitution can modify existing educational programs. If an institution that is
reguired to obtain the Department of Education’s advance approval for the addition of a new program or new
location failsto do so, the institution may be liable for repayment of the Title IV program funds received by the
institution or students in connection with that program or enrolled at that location.

Acquiring other schools. While we have not acquired any other schools in the past, we may seek to do so in the
future. The Department of Education and virtually all state education agencies and accrediting commissions require
acompany to seek their approval if it wishes to acquire another school. In our case, we would need to obtain the
approval of the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education or other state education agency that
licenses the school being acquired, the Higher Learning Commission, any other accrediting commission that
accredits the school being acquired, and the Department of Education. The level of review varies by individual state
and accrediting commission, with some requiring approval of such an acquisition before it occurs while others only
consider approval after the acquisition has occurred. The Higher Learning Commission would require usto obtain
its advance approval of such an acquisition. The approval of the applicable state education agencies and accrediting
commissions is a hecessary prerequisite to the Department of Education certifying the acquired school to participate
inthe Title IV programs under our ownership. The restrictions imposed by any of the applicable regulatory agencies
could delay or prevent our acquisition of other schools in some circumstances.

Provisional certification. Each institution must apply to the Department of Education for continued certification
to participate in the Title IV programs at least every six years, or when it undergoes a change in control, and an
institution may come under the Department of Education’s review when it expands its activities in certain ways,
such as opening an additional location, adding an educational program, or modifying the academic credentials that it
offers.

The Department of Education may place an institution on provisional certification statusif it finds that the
institution does not fully satisfy all of the eligibility and certification standards. In addition, if a company acquires a
school from ancther entity, the acquired school will automatically be placed on provisional certification when the
Department of Education approves the transaction. During the period of provisional certification, the institution
must comply with any additional conditions or restrictions included in its program participation agreement with the
Department of Education. If the Department of Education finds that a provisionally certified institution is unable to
meet its responsibilities under its program participation agreement, it may seek to revoke the institution’s
certification to participate in the Title IV programs without advance notice or advance opportunity for the institution
to challenge that action. In addition, the Department of Education may more closely review an ingtitution that is
provisionally certified if it appliesfor recertification or approval to open a new location, add an educational
program, acquire another school, or make any other significant change. Students attending provisionally certified
ingtitutions remain eligible to receive Title IV program funds.

We are currently provisionally certified to participate in the Title IV programs on a month-to-month basis. The
Department of Education issued our current program participation agreement in May 2005, after an extended review
following the change in control that occurred in February 2004. The Department of Education’s 2005 recertification
imposed certain conditions on us, including a requirement that we post aletter of credit, accept restrictions on the
growth of our program offerings and enrollment, and receive Title 1V funds under the heightened cash monitoring
system of payment rather than by advance payment. In October 2006, the Department of Education eliminated the
letter of credit requirement and allowed the growth restrictions to expire, and in August 2007, it eliminated the
heightened cash monitoring restrictions and returned us to the advance payment method. We submitted our
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application for recertification in March 2008 in anticipation of the expiration of our provisional certification on June
30, 2008. The Department of Education did not make a decision on our recertification application by June 30, 2008
and therefore our provisional certification to participate in the Title IV programs has been automatically extended on
a month-to-month basis until the Department of Education makes its decision. Since June 2008, we have filed
updates with the Department of Education and communicated with Department of Education personnel in order to
update our pending recertification application with relevant information, such as our status as a publicly-traded
corporation after theinitial public offering and the identity of the members of our Board of Directors. There can be
no assurance that the Department of Education will recertify us while the investigation by the Office of Inspector
General of the Department of Education is being conducted, while the qui tam lawsuit is pending, or at all, or that it
will not impose restrictions as a condition of approving our pending recertification application or with respect to any
future recertification.

Change in ownership resulting in a change in control. The Department of Education and the Higher Learning
Commission, as well as many accrediting commissions and states require institutions of higher education to report or
obtain approval of certain changesin control and changes in other aspects of institutional organization or control.
The types of and thresholds for such reporting and approval vary among the various regulatory bodies.

Under Department of Education regulations, an institution that undergoes a change in control as defined by the
Department of Education losesiits eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs and must apply to the
Department of Education in order to reestablish such digibility. In connection with our initial public offeringin
November 2008, we submitted a description of the offering to the Department of Education, including a description
of the voting agreement entered into by certain of our stockholders. Pursuant to the agreement, Brent D. Richardson,
our Executive Chairman and Christopher C. Richardson, our General Counsel and a director (collectively, the
Richardson Voting Group™), controlled the voting power of approximately 42.9% of our total outstanding voting
stock after theinitial public offering. Based on this description, the Department of Education concluded that our
initial public offering did not result in a change in control under the Department of Education’s regulations that were
applicable to us before we became a publicly-traded corporation. With respect to publicly-traded corporations, like
us, Department of Education regulations provide that a change in control occursif either: (i) thereis an event that
would obligate the corporation to file a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC disclosing a change in control, or
(ii) the corporation has a stockholder that owns, or has voting control over, at least 25% of the total outstanding
voting stock of the corporation and is the largest stockholder of the corporation (defined in the regulations as a
“controlling shareholder”), and that controlling shareholder ceases to own, or have voting control over, at |east 25%
of such stock or ceases to be the largest stockholder. Prior to the completion of our secondary offering, the
Richardson Voting Group was amended to also include Endeavour Associates Fund 1V, L.P. and affiliates and
therefore the Richardson Voting Group own or control more than 25% of our outstanding voting stock following our
secondary offering completed in September 2009, the Department of Education has not concluded that the offering
triggered a change in ownership resulting in a change in control under the Department of Education’s regulations.

The Higher Learning Commission provides that an institution must obtain its approval in advance of achangein
ownership, corporate control or structure in order for the ingtitution to retain its accredited status. In June 2009, the
Higher Learning Commission adopted new policies and standards for the review of transactions that may constitute
such achangein control. One standard provides that a transaction may be considered a change in control if an
individual, entity or group increases or decreasesits control of sharesto greater than or less than 25% of the total
outstanding shares of the stock of a parent corporation that owns or controls the accredited ingtitution. In addition, in
the event of a change in control, the Higher Learning Commission reguires the institution to obtain its approval in
advance of the change, and in certain circumstances that process may require several weeks or several months or
more to complete. In addition, following a change in control, the Higher Learning Commission will conduct an
onsite evaluation within six monthsin order to continue the institution’ s accreditation. The Higher Learning
Commission did consider our initial public offering in November 2008 to be a change in control under its policies
and, while it approved our consummation of the offering, it informed usthat it would conduct a site visit to confirm
the appropriateness of the approval and to evaluate whether we continue to meet the Higher Learning Commission’s
eigibility criteria. The Higher Learning Commission, after conducting its site visit in March 2009, determined,
among other things, that the initial public offering was conducted in a manner that did not disrupt our ongoing
operations and that no further action would be required as a result of the change in control, and formally approved
the change in control in June 2009. Because the Richardson Voting Group owned or controlled more than 25% of
our outstanding voting stock following our secondary offering completed in September 2009, we were advised by
the Higher Learning Commission that the offering would not constitute a change in control under its policies and
standards.
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Even though the offering in September 2009 did not constitute a change of control under the Department of
Education’s regulations or the Higher Learning Commission’s policies, under the terms of the voting agreement
with the Richardson Voting Group, if any person party to the voting agreement transfers shares covered by the proxy
in registered or open-market sales, the proxy is no longer effective as to such shares. Accordingly, the number of
shares over which the Richardson Voting Group will continue to hold voting power will decrease over time as
shares held by other parties to the voting agreement are sold, and we may not be aware of these sales since many of
the shares subject to the voting agreement are held in “street name.” If at any time in the future, as aresult of such
future registered or open-market sales, the number of shares over which the Richardson Voting Group holds voting
power falls below 25%, a change in control will occur. At that point, with respect to the Department of Education, if
we file atimely and materially complete application, the Department of Education may temporarily certify uson a
provisional basis following the change in control, so that our students would retain access to Title IV program funds
until the Department of Education completesits full review. In addition, the Department of Education will extend
our temporary provisional certification if we timely file other required materials, including any approval of the
change of control by the Higher Learning Commission and the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education, as required, and certain required financial information (consisting of our recent SEC filings) showing our
financial condition. As a general matter, an ingtitution is required to file the materially complete application within
ten business days after the change in control, as measured from the date of the event that constitutes the changein
control. The deadline for an ingtitution to timely file the other materials, including the financial documentation, that
are required following a change in control isthe last day of the month following the month in which the change of
control occurs. For an institution that is owned by a publicly traded corporation, like us, arelated Department of
Education regulation provides that the deadline to notify the Department of Education of a significant changein the
distribution of the ownership of the ingtitution isten days, as measured from the date on which management of the
corporation learns of such significant change or, aternatively, the date that the institution notifies its accrediting
agency of such change. If the Department of Education were to determine that we failed to meet any of these
application and other deadlines, our certification would expire and our students would not be eligible to receive Title
IV program funds until the Department of Education completesits full review, which commonly takes severa
months and may take longer. If the Department of Education approves the application after a change in contral, it
would normally certify us on a provisional basis for a period of up to approximately three years. The precise
conditions and duration of our provisional certification in this circumstance and what restrictions, if any, may be
imposed, are difficult to predict because we have been certified on a month-to-month basis for an extended period
and are subject to the ongoing investigation by the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education and
the qui tam lawsuit, which may affect the Department of Education’s decision regarding the terms to attach when it
next renews our certification.

With respect to the Higher Learning Commission, if we anticipate that the number of shares over which the
Richardson Voting Group holds voting power will fall below 25% at any time in the future, we would be required to
obtain the approval of the Higher Learning Commission before such event occurs. However, because we may be
unaware when such event occurs, we would seek the cooperation of the Higher Learning Commission to allow usto
arrange an appropriate review procedure at that time since there may not be an opportunity to obtain the Higher
Learning Commission’s advance review and approval, asistypically required by its policies. Another policy of the
Higher Learning Commission provides that an institution is obligated to provide notice of certain transactions, such
asthe transfer of stock by an investor, promptly after the institution becomes reasonably knowledgeabl e of such
transaction. This policy suggests that, in certain circumstances, the Higher Learning Commission can adapt its
procedures to alow an institution, like us, to provide notice and seek the necessary approval after the institution
gains knowledge of an investor transaction such as the sale of shares by other parties to the voting agreement, but
there can be no assurance that would be the case with respect to this offering or any such sales of stock that may
occur following the completion of this offering. In such a circumstance, we cannot predict whether the Higher
Learning Commission would impose any limitations or conditions on us, or identify any compliance issues related to
usin the context of the change in control process, that could result in our loss of accreditation by the Higher
Learning Commission. Any such loss would result in our loss of eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs
and cause a significant decline in our student enrollments.
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Many states include the sale of a controlling interest of common stock in the definition of a changein control
requiring approval, but their thresholds for determining a change in control vary widely. The standards of the
Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education provide that an ingtitution that is owned by a publicly-
traded company whose control is vested in the voting members of the board of directors, such as Grand Canyon
Education, undergoes a change in control if 50% or more of the voting members of the board of directors change
within a 12-month period or the chief executive officer of the corporation changes. A change in control under the
definition of one of the other state agencies that regulate us might require usto obtain approval of the changein
control in order to maintain our authorization to operate in that state, and in some cases such states could require us
to obtain advance approval of the change in control.

We notified the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education of our initial public offering and,
based on our communications with that agency before and after the consummation of the initial public offering, we
do not believe that our initial public offering constituted a change in control under Arizonalaw that was applicable
to us before we were a publicly traded corporation. We notified the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary
Education of the offering in September of 2009 and the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education
confirmed in writing that such offering would not constitute a change of ownership or control under its standards. If
we were to undergo a change in control under the standards of the Arizona State Board of Private Postsecondary
Education at any time in the future, we would be required to file an application with the Arizona State Board for
Private Postsecondary Education in order to obtain approval for such change in control. We cannot predict whether
the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education would impose any limitations or conditions on us, or
identify any compliance issues related to us in the context of the change in control process, that could result in our
loss of authorization in Arizona. Any such loss would result in our loss of eligibility to participatein the Title IV
programs and cause a significant decline in our student enrollments.

We also notified other accrediting commissions and state agencies, as we believed necessary, of our initia public
offering and the reasons why we believed that offering did not constitute a change in control under their respective
standards, or to determine what was required if any such commission or agency did consider the offering to
congtitute a change in control. None of the other accrediting commissions and state agencies that we notified of our
initial public offering advised usthat it concluded that the offering constituted a change in control under its policies
or that it required us to take any further action. We provided each of these other accrediting commissions and state
agencies, as we believed necessary, with a notice and description of this offering before the consummation of the
September 2009 offering. None of them required us to obtain their approval in connection with the September 2009
offering. If the September 2009 offering were considered a change of control under the standards of any of these
commissions or agencies, and we failed to obtain the approval of that commission or agency, we could lose
accreditation, state licensure, or be subject to other limitations or penalties.

Additional state regulation. Most state education agencies impose regulatory requirements on educational
institutions operating within their boundaries. Some states have sought to assert jurisdiction over out-of-state
educational institutions offering online degree programs that have no physical location in the state but that have
some activity in the state, such as enrolling or offering educational services to students who reside in the state,
employing faculty who reside in the state, or advertising to or recruiting prospective students in the state. State
regulatory requirements for online education vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are
imprecise or unclear in some states, and can change frequently. In addition to Arizona, we have determined that our
activitiesin certain states constitute a presence requiring licensure or authorization under the requirements of the
state education agency in those states, which we have obtained, and in other states we have obtained approvals as we
have determined necessary in connection with our marketing and recruiting activities. We review the licensure
requirements of other states when appropriate to determine whether our activities in those states require licensure or
authorization by the respective state education agencies. Because state regulatory requirements, including agency
interpretations, can change frequently, and because we enroll students from all 50 states and the District of
Columbia, we expect we will have to seek licensure or authorization in additional states in the future. If we fail to
comply with state licensing or authorization requirements for any state, we may be subject to the loss of state
licensure or authorization by that state, or be subject to other sanctions, including restrictions on our activities in that
state, fines, and penalties. While we do not believe that any of the states in which we are currently licensed or
authorized, other than Arizona, are individually material to our operations, the loss of licensure or authorization in a
state other than Arizona could prohibit us from recruiting prospective students or offering servicesto current
studentsin that state, which could significantly reduce our enrollments.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and all other information contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In order to help assess the major risks in our business, we have identified many,
but not all, of these risks. Due to the scope of our operations, a wide range of factors could materially affect future
developments and performance.

If any of the following risks, or risks that we did not anticipate, are realized, our business, financial condition,
cash flow or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, and as a result, the trading price of our
common stock could be materially and adversely impacted. These risk factors should be read in conjunction with
other information set forth in this Annual Report, including Item 7, Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Item 8, Financial Satements and Supplementary Data,
including the related Notes to Financial Statements.

Risks Related to the Regulation of Our Industry

Our failure to comply with the extensive regulatory requirements governing our school could result in financial
penalties, restrictions on our operations or growth, or loss of external financial aid funding for our students.

For our fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we derived cash receipts equal to approximately 78.3%
and 74.4%, respectively, of our net revenue from tuition financed under federal student financial aid programs
authorized under Title IV, which are administered by the Department of Education. To participate in the Title IV
programs, a school must be authorized by the appropriate state education agency or agencies, be accredited by an
accrediting commission recognized by the Department of Education, and be certified as an eligible institution by the
Department of Education. In addition, our operations and programs are regulated by other state education agencies
and additional accrediting commissions. Asaresult of these requirements, we are subject to extensive regulation by
the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education and education agencies of other states, the Higher
Learning Commission, which is our primary accrediting commission, specialized accrediting commissions, and the
Department of Education. These regulatory requirements cover the vast majority of our operations, including our
educational programs, instructional and administrative staff, administrative procedures, marketing, recruiting,
financial operations, and financial condition. These regulatory requirements also affect our ability to open additional
schools and locations, add new educational programs, change existing educational programs, and change our
corporate or ownership structure. The agencies that regulate our operations periodically revise their requirements
and modify their interpretations of existing requirements. Regulatory requirements are not always precise and clear,
and regulatory agencies may sometimes disagree with the way we have interpreted or applied these requirements.
Any misinterpretation by us of regulatory requirements could materially adversely affect us.

If we fail to comply with any of these regulatory requirements, we could suffer financial penalties, limitations on
our operations, loss of accreditation, termination of or limitations on our ability to grant degrees and certificates, or
limitations on or termination of our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs, each of which could materially
adversely affect us. In addition, if we are charged with regulatory violations, our reputation could be damaged,
which could have a negative impact on our stock price and our enrollments. We cannot predict with certainty how
al of these regulatory requirements will be applied, or whether we will be able to comply with all of the applicable
requirements in the future.

If the Department of Education does not recertify usto continue participating in the Title IV programs, our
students would lose their accessto Title 1V program funds, or we could be recertified but required to accept
significant limitations as a condition of our continued participation in the Title IV programs.

Department of Education certification to participate in the Title IV programs lasts a maximum of six years, and
institutions are thus required to seek recertification from the Department of Education on aregular basisin order to
continue their participation in the Title IV programs. An ingtitution must also apply for recertification by the
Department of Education if it undergoes a change in control, as defined by Department of Education regulations,
and may be subject to similar review if it expands its operations or educational programsin certain ways.
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Our most recent recertification, which was issued on aprovisional basisin May 2005 after an extended review
by the Department of Education following the change in control that occurred in February 2004, contained a number
of conditions on our continued participation in the Title IV programs. At that time we were required by the
Department of Education to post a letter of credit, accept restrictions on the growth of our program offerings and
enrollment, and receive certain Title IV funds under the heightened cash monitoring system of payment (pursuant to
which an institution is required to credit students with Title IV program funds prior to obtaining those funds from
the Department of Education) rather than by advance payment (pursuant to which an institution receives Title IV
program funds from the Department of Education in advance of disbursement to students). In 2006 and 2007, the
Department of Education eliminated the letter of credit requirement, allowed the growth restrictions to expire,
eliminated the heightened cash monitoring restrictions and returned us to the advance payment method. We
submitted our application for recertification to participate in the Title IV programs to the Department of Education
in March 2008 in anticipation of the expiration of our provisional certification on June 30, 2008. The Department of
Education did not make a decision on our recertification application by June 30, 2008 and therefore our provisional
certification to participate in the Title IV programs has been automatically extended on a month-to-month basis until
the Department of Education makes its decision. See Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulation of Federal
Sudent Financial Aid Programs — Eligibility and certification procedures. There can be no assurance that the
Department of Education will recertify us while the investigation by the Office of Inspector General of the
Department of Education is being conducted, while the qui tam lawsuit is pending, or at al, or that it will not impose
restrictions as a condition to approving our pending recertification application or with respect to any future
recertification. See Item 1A, Risk Factors — The Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education has
commenced an investigation of Grand Canyon University, which is ongoing and which may result in fines, penalties,
other sanctions, and damage to our reputation in the industry; and — A qui tam lawsuit has been filed against us
alleging, among other things, that we have improperly compensated certain of our enrollment counselors, and we
may incur liability, be subject to sanctions, or experience damage to our reputation as a result of this lawsuit. If the
Department of Education does not renew or withdraws our certification to participate in the Title IV programs at any
time, our students would no longer be able to receive Title IV program funds. Similarly, the Department of
Education could renew our certification, but restrict or delay our students’ receipt of Title IV funds, limit the number
of students to whom we could disburse such funds, or place other restrictions on us that could be similar to, or more
or less restrictive than, the restrictions that Department of Education imposed on us in connection with our
recertification in 2005. Any of these outcomes would have a material adverse effect on our enrollments and us.

The Office of I nspector General of the Department of Education has commenced an investigation of Grand
Canyon University, which is ongoing and which may result in fines, penalties, other sanctions, and damage to
our reputation in the industry.

The Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education is responsible for, among other things,
promoting the effectiveness and integrity of the Department of Education’s programs and operations, including
compliance with applicable statutes and regulations. The Office of Inspector General performs investigations of
alleged violations of law, including cases of alleged fraud and abuse, or other identified vulnerabilities, in programs
administered or financed by the Department of Education. On August 14, 2008, the Office of Inspector General
served an administrative subpoena on Grand Canyon University requiring us to provide certain records and
information related to performance reviews and salary adjustments for all of our enrollment counselors and
managers from January 1, 2004 to August 2008. The Office of Inspector General’s investigation is focused on
whether we have compensated any of our enrollment counsel ors or managers in a manner that violated the Title IV
statutory requirements or the related Department of Education regulations concerning the payment of incentive
compensation based on success in securing enrollments or financial aid. See Item 1, Business — Regulation —
Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs — Incentive compensation rule.

We have been cooperating with the Office of Inspector General to facilitate its investigation and have completed
production of all requested documents. We cannot presently predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation or any
liability or other sanctions that may result. The outcome of the Office of Inspector General investigation may depend
in part on information contained in the materials we produced or information or testimony provided by former
employees or other third parties.
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The Department of Education may impose fines and other monetary penalties as a result of aviolation of the
incentive compensation law and such fines and other monetary penalties may be substantial. In addition, the
Department of Education retains the authority to impose other sanctions on an ingtitution for violations of the
incentive compensation law. The possible effects of a determination of a regulatory violation are described more
fully in Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulation of Federal Sudent Financial Aid Programs — Potential effect
of regulatory violations. Any such fine or other sanction could damage our reputation and impose significant costs
on us, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financia condition, and results of
operations.

A qui tam lawsuit has been filed against us alleging, among other things, that we have improperly compensated
certain of our enrollment counselors, and we may incur liability, be subject to sanctions, or experience damage to
our reputation as a result of thislawsuit.

On September 11, 2008, we were served with a qui tam lawsuit that had been filed against usin August 2007, in
the United States District Court for the Digtrict of Arizona by a then-current employee on behalf of the federal
government. All proceedings in the lawsuit had been under seal until September 5, 2008, when the court unsealed
the first amended complaint, which had been filed on August 11, 2008. A qui tam case is acivil lawsuit brought by
one or more individuals (a“relator”) on behalf of the federal government for an alleged submission to the
government of afalse claim for payment. The relator, often a current or former employee, is entitled to a share of the
government’ s recovery in the case. A qui tam action is always filed under seal and remains under seal until the
government decides whether to intervene in the case. If the government intervenes, it takes over primary control of
the litigation. If the government declines to intervene in the case, the relator may nonetheless elect to continue to
pursue the litigation at his or her own expense on behalf of the government. In our case, the qui tam lawsuit was
initialy filed under seal in August 2007 and was unsealed and served on us following the government’ s decision not
to intervene at that time.

The qui tam lawsuit alleges, among other things, that we violated the False Claims Act by knowingly making
false statements, and submitting fal se records or statements, from at least 2001 to the present, to get false or
fraudulent claims paid or approved, and asserts that we have improperly compensated certain of our enrollment
counselorsin violation of the Title IV law governing compensation of such employees, and as a result, improperly
received Title IV program funds. See Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid
Programs — Incentive compensation rule. The complaint specifically alleges that some of our compensation
practices with respect to our enrollment personnel, including providing non-cash awards, have violated the Title IV
law governing compensation. While we believe that our compensation policies and practices at issue in the
complaint have not been based on success in enrolling studentsin violation of applicable law, the Department of
Education’s regulations and interpretations of the incentive compensation law do not establish clear criteriafor
compliancein al circumstances and some of our practices, including in respect of non-cash awards, have not been
within the scope of any specific “safe harbor” provided in the compensation regulations. The complaint seeks treble
the amount of unspecified damages sustained by the federal government in connection with our receipt of Title IV
funding, acivil penalty for each violation of the False Claims Act, attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest. Wefiled a
motion to dismiss this case in November 2008, which was denied by the court in February 20009. If it were
determined that any of our compensation practices violated the incentive compensation law, we could experience an
adverse outcome in the qui tam litigation and be subject to substantial monetary liabilities, fines, and other
sanctions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations and could adversely affect our stock price. We cannot presently predict the ultimate outcome of
this qui tam case or any liability or other sanctions that may result. It is possible that during the course of the
litigation or the related Office of Inspector General investigation other information may be discovered that would
adversely affect the outcome of the litigation.

Pursuant to the court’s mandatory scheduling order, we have entered into settlement discussions with respect to
the qui tam matter with the relator. In connection with such discussions, we have reached a settlement in principle
with the relator pursuant to which we have agreed to pay $5.2 million to finally resolve the qui tam case and thereby
avoid the cost and distraction of a potentially protracted trial. We have accrued that amount in the accompanying
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. This settlement is conditioned upon obtaining the
approval of the U.S. Department of Justice (which has authority to approve settlement of False Claims Act matters)
and the Department of Education with respect to the resolution of the OIG investigation, and finalizing settlement
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terms that would release us from other False Claims Act cases based upon the conduct covered by the settlement.
The parties and the United States government are continuing to negotiate towards afinal settlement. The ultimate
dismissal of the action, should afinal settlement be reached, is subject to the court’s approval. Should the parties fail
to conclude the settlement on the proposed or other terms, we intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit. If it were
determined that any of our compensation practices violated the incentive compensation law, we could experience an
adverse outcome in the qui tam litigation and be subject to substantial monetary liabilities, fines, and other
sanctions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations and could adversely affect our stock price.

Congress may change the eligibility standards or reduce funding for the Title |V programs, which could reduce
our student population, revenue, and profit margin.

Political and budgetary concerns significantly affect the Title IV programs. The Higher Education Act, whichis
the federal law that governs the Title IV programs, must be periodically reauthorized by Congress, and was most
recently reauthorized in August 2008. The new law contains numerous revisions to the requirements governing the
Title 1V programs. See Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs. In
addition, Congress must determine funding levels for the Title IV programs on an annual basis, and can change the
laws governing the Title IV programs at any time. Because a significant percentage of our revenue is derived from
the Title IV programs, any action by Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or our ability or
the ability of our students to participate in the Title IV programs, or otherwise requires us to modify our practices
with respect to the Title IV programs, could increase our costs of compliance, reduce the ability of some students to
finance their education at our institution, require us to seek to arrange for other sources of financial aid for our
students, and materially decrease our student enrollment, each of which could have a material adverse effect on us.

If we do not meet specific financial responsibility standards established by the Department of Education, we may
berequired to post a letter of credit or accept other limitationsin order to continue participating in the Title IV
programs, or we could lose our ligibility to participate in the Title IV programs.

To participate in the Title IV programs, an institution must either satisfy specific quantitative standards of
financial responsibility prescribed by the Department of Education, or post aletter of credit in favor of the
Department of Education and possibly accept operating restrictions as well. These financial responsibility tests are
applied to each ingtitution on an annual basis based on the institution’ s audited financial statements, and may be
applied at other times, such asif the institution undergoes a change in control. These tests may also be applied to an
institution’s parent company or other related entity. The operating restrictions that may be placed on an institution
that does not meet the quantitative standards of financia responsibility include being transferred from the advance
payment method of receiving Title IV program funds to either the reimbursement or the heightened cash monitoring
system, which could result in asignificant delay in the institution’ s receipt of those funds. If, in the future, we fail to
satisfy the Department of Education’sfinancial responsibility standards, we could experience increased regulatory
compliance costs or delaysin our receipt of Title IV program funds because we could be required to post aletter of
credit or be subjected to operating restrictions, or both. Our failure to secure aletter of credit in these circumstances
could cause usto lose our ability to participate in the Title IV programs, which would materially adversely affect us.

If we do not comply with the Department of Education’s administrative capability standards, we could suffer
financial penalties, be required to accept other limitationsin order to continue participating in the Title IV
programs, or lose our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs.

To continue participating in the Title IV programs, an institution must demonstrate to the Department of
Education that the institution is capable of adequately administering the Title IV programs under specific standards
prescribed by the Department of Education. These administrative capability criteria require, among other things, that
the ingtitution has an adequate number of qualified personnel to administer the Title IV programs, has adequate
procedures for disbursing and safeguarding Title IV funds and for maintaining records, submits all required reports
and financia statementsin atimely manner, and does not have significant problems that affect the institution’s
ability to administer the Title IV programs. If we fail to satisfy any of these criteria, the Department of Education
may assess financial penalties against us, restrict the manner in which we receive Title IV funds, require usto post a
letter of credit, place us on provisiona certification status, or limit or terminate our participation in the Title IV
programs, any of which could materially adversely affect us.
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We would lose our ability to participate in the Title IV programsif we fail to maintain our institutional
accreditation, and our student enrollments could decline if we fail to maintain any of our accreditations or
approvals.

An ingtitution must be accredited by an accrediting commission recognized by the Department of Education in
order to participate in the Title IV programs. We have institutional accreditation by the Higher Learning
Commission, which is an accrediting commission recognized by the Department of Education. To remain
accredited, we must continuously meet accreditation standards relating to, among other things, performance,
governance, institutional integrity, educational quality, faculty, administrative capability, resources, and financial
stability. We were reaccredited by the Higher Learning Commission in 2007, and the next scheduled comprehensive
evaluation will be conducted in 2016-2017. While, during the 2007 reaccreditation process, the Higher Learning
Commission concluded that we were in compliance with its accreditation standards, it did note certain deficiencies
to be addressed by us. In February 2009, we filed a monitoring report with the Higher Learning Commission
addressing our progress in resolving these deficiencies and, in March 2009, we received notification from the Higher
Learning Commission that our report was accepted and that no further reports were required. The Higher Learning
Commission is currently reviewing our request to offer an Associate of Arts degree. If we fail to satisfy any of the
Higher Learning Commission’s standards, we could lose our accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission,
which would cause usto lose our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs and could cause a significant
decline in our total student enrollments and have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, many of our individual
educational programs are also accredited by specialized accrediting commissions or approved by specialized state
agencies. If we fail to satisfy the standards of any of those specialized accrediting commissions or state agencies, we
could lose the specialized accreditation or approval for the affected programs, which could result in materially
reduced student enrollmentsin those programs and have a material adverse effect on us.

In December 2009, the Department of Education issued an “ Alert Memorandum,” calling into question the
Higher Learning Commission’s compliance with the applicable Department of Education regulations related to the
Higher Learning Commission’ s status as recognized by the Department of Education. Specifically, in matters
unrelated to us, the Department of Education Office of Inspector General asserted that the Higher Learning
Commission did not make appropriate assessments as to credit hours with respect to the distance education
programs of one of Higher Learning Commission’s accredited institutions and, as such, the Office of Inspector
General recommended that the Department of Education take action to terminate the Higher Learning Commission’s
recognition by the Secretary of Education. At this point, we do not know if this matter will be resolved and we are
unable to speculate as to the impact on us or other ingtitutions accredited by the Higher Learning Commission if the
Higher Learning Commission were to be de-recognized as an accrediting commission by the Department of
Education.

If we do not maintain our state authorization in Arizona, we may not operate or participatein the Title IV
programs.

A school that grants degrees or certificates must be authorized by the relevant education agency of the statein
which it islocated. We are located in the state of Arizona and are authorized by the Arizona State Board for Private
Postsecondary Education. State authorization is also required for our students to be eligible to receive funding under
the Title IV programs. To maintain our state authorization, we must continuously meet standards relating to, among
other things, educational programs, facilities, instructional and administrative staff, marketing and recruitment,
financial operations, addition of new locations and educational programs, and various operational and administrative
procedures. If we fail to satisfy any of these standards, we could lose our authorization by the Arizona State Board
for Private Postsecondary Education to offer our educational programs, which would also cause usto lose our
eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs and have a material adverse effect on us.
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If any of the education regulatory agencies that regulate us do not approve or delay their approval of any
transaction involving usthat constitutes a “ change in control,” our ability to operate or participate in the Title [V
programs may be impaired.

If we experience a change in control under the standards of the Department of Education, the Higher Learning
Commission, the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education, or any other applicable state education
agency or accrediting commission, we must notify and/or seek the approval of each such agency. These agencies do
not have uniform criteria for what constitutes a change in control. Transactions or events that typically constitute a
change in control include significant acquisitions or dispositions of the voting stock of an institution or its parent
company, and significant changes in the composition of the board of directors of an institution or its parent
company. Some of these transactions or events may be beyond our control. Our failure to obtain, or adelay in
receiving, approval of any change in control from the Department of Education, the Higher Learning Commission,
or the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education could impair our ability to operate or participate in
the Title IV programs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition,
and results of operations. Our failure to obtain, or adelay in receiving, approval of any changein control from any
other state in which we are currently licensed or authorized, or from any of our specialized accrediting commissions,
could require usto suspend our activitiesin that state or suspend offering the applicable programs until we receive
the required approval, or could otherwise impair our operations. The potential adverse effects of a change in control
could influence future decisions by us and our stockholders regarding the sale, purchase, transfer, issuance, or
redemption of our stock, which could discourage bids for your shares of our stock and could have an adverse effect
on the market price of your shares.

In connection with our initial public offering in November 2008, we submitted a description of the offering to
the Department of Education, including a description of the Richardson Voting Group. Based on this description, the
Department of Education concluded that theinitial public offering did not result in a change in control under the
Department of Education’s regulations. The Higher Learning Commission did consider our initia public offering to
be a change in control under its policies and, while it approved our consummation of the offering, it informed us that
it would conduct a site visit to confirm the appropriateness of the approval and to evaluate whether we continue to
meet the Higher Learning Commission’s eligibility criteria. The Higher Learning Commission conducted its site
visit in March 2009 and determined, among other things, that theinitial public offering was conducted in a manner
that did not disrupt our ongoing operations and that no further action would be required as a result of the changein
control. As aresult, the Higher Learning Commission formally approved the change in control in June 2009. In
addition, we notified the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education of our initial public offering and,
based on our communications with that agency, we did not believe that our initial public offering constituted a
change in control under Arizonalaw. We also notified other accrediting commissions and state agencies, as we
believed necessary, of our initial public offering and the reasons why we believed the offering did not constitute a
change in control under their respective standards, or to determine what was required if any such commission or
agency did consider the offering to constitute a change in control. None of the other accrediting commissions and
state agencies that we notified of our initial public offering advised us that it concluded that the offering constituted
achange in control under its policies or that it required us to take any further action.

With respect to publicly-traded corporations, like us, Department of Education regulations provide that a change
in control occursif either: (i) thereis an event that would obligate the corporation to file a Current Report on Form
8-K with the SEC disclosing a changein control, or (ii) the corporation has a stockholder that owns, or has voting
control over, at least 25% of the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation and is the largest stockholder of the
corporation, and that stockholder ceases to own, or have voting control over, at least 25% of such stock or ceases to
be the largest stockholder. The Higher Learning Commission adopted new policies and procedures with respect to
changesin control in June 2009, and one such policy provides that an institution is considered to undergo a change
in control if aperson or group increases or decreases its control of sharesto greater than or less than 25% of the total
outstanding shares of the stock of a parent corporation that owns or controls the accredited institution and, in such
event, requires the institution to obtain its approval in advance of the change. In addition, the standards of the
Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education provide that an institution that is owned by a publicly-
traded corporation whose control is vested in the voting members of the board of directors, like us, undergoes a
change in control if 50% or more of the voting members of the board of directors change within a 12-month period
or the chief executive officer of the corporation changes. Following our September 2009 public stock offering, based
on the number of shares of common stock sold by us and the selling stockholders, and the addition of the Endeavour
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Entities (as defined herein) as parties to the proxy and voting agreement (described below), the Richardson Voting
Group continued to have voting power over 25% or more of our total outstanding voting stock after the completion
of the offering and therefore such offering did not constitute a change in control under the Department of
Education’s regulations. In addition, we were advised by the Higher Learning Commission and the Arizona State
Board for Private Postsecondary Education that the September 2009 offering would not constitute a changein
control under their respective rules and policies, and did not receive any indication from the Department of
Education that it considered the September 2009 offering to constitute a change in control under its regulations.

Under the terms of the voting agreement with the Richardson Voting Group, if any person party to the voting
agreement transfers shares covered by the proxy in registered or open-market sales, the proxy is no longer effective
as to such shares. Accordingly, the number of shares over which the Richardson Voting Group will continue to hold
voting power pursuant to the voting agreement will decrease over time as shares held by other parties to the voting
agreement are sold, and we may not be aware of these sales since many of the shares subject to the voting agreement
areheld in “street name.” If at any timein the future, as aresult of such future registered or open-market sales, the
number of shares over which the Richardson Voting Group holds voting power falls below 25%, a change in control
will occur. At that point, with respect to the Department of Education, we will lose our eligibility to participate in
the Title IV programs and must apply to the Department of Education in order to reestablish such eligibility. If we
file the required application and follow other procedures, the Department of Education may temporarily certify us on
aprovisiona basis following the change in control, so that our students retain accessto Title IV program funds until
the Department of Education completesits full review. In addition, the Department of Education will extend such
temporary provisiona certification if we timely file other required materials. While we expect to file al such
applications and other materials within applicable deadlines, there is no assurance that we will be able to do so
because we cannot be certain of the percentage of stock that is subject to the Richardson Voting Group at any given
timein order to be certain if and when the Richardson Voting Group falls below the applicable 25% threshold. If we
fail to meet any of these application and other deadlines, our certification will expire and our students will not be
eigibleto receive Title IV program funds until the Department of Education completesits full review, which
commonly takes several months and may take longer. If the Department of Education approves our application after
achangein control, it will certify us on a provisional basis for a period of up to approximately three years, although
we cannot predict how the Department of Education will process this provisional recertification or what restrictions
may be imposed if such change in control occurs while we remain on month-to-month status and subject to the
ongoing investigation by the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education or the qui tam lawsuit. See
Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulatory Standards that May Restrict Institutional Expansion or Other Changes
— Change in ownership resulting in a change in control.

With respect to the Higher Learning Commission, if we anticipate that the number of shares over which the
Richardson Voting Group holds voting power will fall below 25% at any time in the future, we would be required to
obtain the approval of the Higher Learning Commission before such event occurs. However, because we may be
unaware when such event occurs, we would seek the cooperation of the Higher Learning Commission to allow usto
arrange an appropriate review procedure at that time since there may not be an opportunity to obtain the Higher
Learning Commission’s advance review and approval, asistypically required by its policies. In that circumstance,
we cannot predict whether the Higher Learning Commission would impose any limitations or conditions on us, or
identify any compliance issues related to us in the context of the change in control process, that could result in our
loss of accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission. Any such loss of accreditation would result in our loss of
eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs and cause a significant decline in our student enrollments.
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If a substantial number of our students cannot secure Title |V loans as aresult of decreased lender participation
in the Title IV programs or if lendersincrease the costs or reduce the benefits associated with the Title |V loans
they provide, we could be materially adversely affected.

The cumulative impact of recent regulatory and market developments and conditions, including the widespread
disruption in the credit and financial markets, has caused some lenders to cease providing Title IV program loans to
students, including some lenders that previously provided our students with Title IV program loans, also known as
Federal Family Education Loan Program loans, or FFEL loans. Other lenders have reduced the benefits and
increased the fees associated with the Title IV program loans they provide. We and other schools have had to
modify student loan practices in ways that result in higher administrative costs. If the cost of Title |V program loans
increases or availability decreases, some students may not be able to take out loans and may not enroll in a
postsecondary ingtitution. In May 2008, new federal |egislation was enacted to attempt to ensure that all eligible
students would be able to obtain Title IV program loans in the future and that a sufficient number of lenders would
continue to provide Title IV program loans. Among other things, that legislation:

« authorized the Department of Education to purchase Title IV program loans from lenders, thereby
providing capital to the lenders to enable them to continue making Title IV program loans to students;
and

« permitted the Department of Education to designate institutions eligible to participate in a“lender of last
resort” program, under which federally recognized student |oan guaranty agencies would be required to
make Title IV program loans to all otherwise eligible students at those institutions.

While this legislation appears to have provided some stability to the marketplace for Title IV program loans, it is
not yet clear if it ultimately will be effective in ensuring students’ accessto Title IV program loans. The
environment surrounding access to and cost of student loans remains in a state of flux. The Department of Education
issued new regulations regarding student loans in October 2009, which will go into effect on July 1, 2010, and
Congressisin the process of considering legislation to eliminate the FFEL loan Program and move &l federa
student lending into the Federal Direct Loan Program, known asthe FDL Program. The uncertainty surrounding
these issues, and any resolution of these issues that increases |oan costs or reduces students' accessto Title IV
program loans, may adversely affect our student enrollments. Although we are approved to participate in the FDL
Program, because a significant percentage of our revenueis derived from the Title IV programs, any action by
Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or our ability or the ability of our studentsto
participate in the Title IV programs could increase our costs of compliance, reduce the ability of some students to
finance their education at our institution, require us to seek to arrange for other sources of financial aid for our
students and materially decrease our student enrollment, each of which could have a material adverse effect on us.
During fiscal year 2009, we began participating in the FDL Program for a portion of our Title 1V eligible students.
We expect to be able to fully transition from the FFEL Program to FDL Program by September 2010. While we
have not encountered difficulties to date, a complete transition to the FDL Program could cause disruptionsin the
administration of Title IV program loans to our studentsif we or the Department of Education encounter difficulties
with the systems or processes necessary for increased FDL Program loans.

Our failure to comply with new regulations promulgated by the Department of Education could result in
financial penalties, or the limitation, suspension, or termination of our continued participation in the Title IV
programs.

The Department of Education has been working since December 2008 to devel op regulations through a
negotiated rulemaking process to carry out the numerous revisionsto the Title IV program regulations required by
the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act in August 2008. Negotiated rulemaking is a process whereby the
Department of Education consults with members of the postsecondary education community to identify issues of
concern and attempts to agree on proposed regulatory revisions to address those issues before the Department of
Education formally proposes any regulations. Following the conclusion of such negotiated rulemaking, in July and
August 2009, the Department of Education issued final regulations in October 2009 relating to, among other things,
the relationships between schools and lenders of both private and Title IV program loans, the approval and oversight
of accrediting agencies, and general programmatic reguirements applicable to the Title IV programs, including the
“90/10 Rule.” The Department of Education published these new final regulations by November 1, 2009, whichis
the required deadline in order for such regulations to take effect on July 1, 2010. In addition, in May 2009, the



Department of Education announced its intent to establish new negotiated rulemaking committees that began their
discussionsin the fall of 2009. Those committees have addressed a number of significant issues, including: incentive
compensation paid by institutions to persons or entities engaged in student recruiting or admission activities; gainful
employment, the determination of satisfactory academic progress under different academic calendars; state
authorization as a component of institutional eligibility; the definition of a credit hour for purposes of determining
program eligibility status, particularly in the context of awarding Pell Grants; verification of information on student
financial aid applications; and the definition of a high school diploma as a condition of a student’s eligibility for
Title IV program aid. The negotiators did not reach consensus on many of the issues up for discussion in this round
of negotiated rulemaking. Of the proposed revisions to the regulations being considered in this negotiated
rulemaking, the issues related to gainful employment and incentive compensation are of particular concern to for-
profit educational institutions. The negotiators did not reach consensus on either of these issues, leaving many
significant concerns of industry negotiators open and unresolved. As such, the Department of Education is
authorized to propose regulations with respect to these topics without regard to the concerns of institutions as
expressed during the negotiated rulemaking process.

The issues addressed in the regulations that were issued in final in October 2009 by the Department of
Education, as well as the issues being addressed in the recently completed negotiated rulemaking process, are broad
and complex and concern a number of significant aspects of the Title IV programs, including eligibility and
certification, administrative capability, school-lender relationships, the “90/10 Rule,” incentive compensation, and
student loan default rates. See Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulation of Sudent Financial Aid Programs —
The 90/10 Rule. At this time, we cannot be certain whether and to what extent any changes may affect our ability to
remain eligible to participate in the Title IV programs or require us to incur additional costs in connection with our
administration of the Title IV programs. Any future changes that jeopardize our eligibility to participate in some or
all of the Title IV programs could materially adversely affect us.

An increasein interest rates could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain students.

For our fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we derived cash receipts equal to approximately 78.3%
and 74.4%, respectively, of our net revenue from tuition financed under the Title IV programs, which include
student loans with interest rates subsidized by the federal government. Additionally, some of our students finance
their education through private loans that are not subsidized. If our students’ or our students' parents employment
circumstances are adversely affected by regional or national economic downturns, our students may become more
heavily dependent on student loans. Interest rates have reached relatively low levelsin recent years, creating a
favorable borrowing environment for students. However, in the event interest rates increase or Congress decreases
the amount available for federal student aid, our students may have to pay higher interest rates on their loans. Any
future increase in interest rates will result in a corresponding increase in educational coststo our existing and
prospective students, which could result in a significant reduction in our student population and revenues. Higher
interest rates could also contribute to higher default rates with respect to our students' repayment of their education
loans. Higher default rates may in turn adversely impact our eligibility to participate in some or al of the Title IV
programs, which could result in a significant reduction in our student population and our profitability. See Item 1A,
Risk Factors —We may lose our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programsiif our student loan default rates
are too high for further information.

Our failure to comply with the regulatory requirements of states other than Arizona could result in actions taken
by those states that could have a material adverse effect on our enrollments.

Almost every state imposes regulatory requirements on educational institutions that have physical facilities
located within the state’ s boundaries. These regulatory requirements establish standards in areas such as educational
programs, facilities, instructional and administrative staff, marketing and recruitment, financial operations, addition
of new locations and educational programs, and various operational and administrative procedures, some of which
are different than the standards prescribed by the Department of Education or the Arizona State Board for Private
Postsecondary Education. In addition, several states have sought to assert jurisdiction over educational institutions
offering online degree programs that have no physical location in the state but that have some activity in the state,
such as enrolling or offering educational servicesto students who reside in the state, employing faculty who reside
in the state, or advertising to or recruiting prospective students in the state. State regulatory requirements for online
education vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some states, and
can change frequently. In the future, states could coordinate their effortsin order to more aggressively attempt to
regulate or restrict schools' offering of online education.
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In addition to Arizona, we have determined that our activities in certain states constitute a presence requiring
licensure or authorization under the requirements of the state education agency in those states, which we have
obtained. In certain other states, we have obtained approvalsto operate as we have determined necessary in
connection with our marketing and recruiting activities. If we fail to comply with state licensing or authorization
requirements for a state, or fail to obtain licenses or authorizations when required, we could lose our state licensure
or authorization by that state or be subject to other sanctions, including restrictions on our activitiesin that state,
fines, and penalties. The loss of licensure or authorization in a state other than Arizona could prohibit us from
recruiting prospective students or offering educational services to current studentsin that state, which could
significantly reduce our enrollments.

State laws and regulations are not always precise or clear, and regulatory agencies may sometimes disagree with
the way we have interpreted or applied these requirements. Any misinterpretation by us of these regulatory
reguirements or adverse changes in regulations or interpretations thereof by regulators could materially adversely
affect us.

Theinability of our graduates to obtain a professional license or certification in their chosen field of study could
reduce our enrollments and revenues, and potentially lead to student claims against us that could be costly to us.

Many of our students, particularly those in our education and healthcare programs, seek a professional license or
certification in their chosen fields following graduation. A student’s ability to obtain a professional license or
certification depends on several factors, including whether the institution and the student’ s program were accredited
by a particular accrediting commission or approved by a professional association or by the state in which the student
seeks employment. Additional factors are outside the control of the institution, such as the individua student’s own
background and qualifications. If one or more states refuse to recognize a significant number of our students for
professional licensing or certification based on factors relating to our institution or programs, the potential growth of
those programs would be negatively impacted and we could be exposed to claims or litigation by students or
graduates based on their inability to obtain their desired professional license or certification, each of which could
materially adversely affect us.

Increased scrutiny and regulation by various governmental agencies of relationships between student loan
providers and educational institutions and their employees have produced significant uncertainty concerning
restrictions applicable to the administration of both Title 1V and private student loan programs and the funding
for those programs which, if not satisfactorily or timely resolved, could result in increased regulatory burdens
and costs for usand could adversely affect our student enrollments.

During 2007 and 2008, both Title IV and private student loan programs came under increased scrutiny by the
Department of Education, Congress, state attorneys general, and other parties. Issues that received extensive
attention included allegations of conflicts of interest between some institutions and lenders that provide student
loans, questionable incentives given by lenders to some schools and school employees, allegations of deceptive
practicesin the marketing of student loans, and schools leading students to use certain lenders. Several institutions
and lenders were cited for these problems and paid several million dollars in the aggregate to settle those claims.
The practices of numerous other schools and lenders were, and in some cases continue to be, examined by
government agencies at the federal and state level. The Attorney General of the State of Arizonarequested extensive
documentation from us and other institutions in Arizona concerning student loan practices, and we provided
testimony in response to a subpoena from the Attorney General of the State of Arizona about such practices. In
2008, without admitting any wrongdoing, we agreed with the Attorney General of the State of Arizonato conclude
its investigation of us by executing a Letter of Assurance, whereby we agreed to conduct referrals of studentsto
lenders in accordance with our existing policies or any new policies promulgated by the State of Arizonain the
future and to reimburse the state for the costs of itsinvestigation in the amount of approximately $20,000.
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Asaresult of the increased scrutiny of student loan programs, Congress has passed new laws, the Department of
Education and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System have promulgated or proposed new and
stricter regulations, and several states have adopted codes of conduct or enacted state laws that further regulate the
conduct of lenders, schools, and school personnel. These new laws and regulations, among other things, limit
schools' relationships with lenders, restrict the types of services that schools may receive from lenders, prohibit
lenders from providing other types of loans to students in exchange for Title IV program loan volume from schools,
and require schools and lenders to provide additional information to students concerning institutionally preferred
lenders and the terms of available student loans. The environment surrounding access to and cost of student loans
remains in a state of flux, with additional legislation and regulatory changes being considered at the state and federal
levels. The Department of Education issued new regulations regarding student loans in October 2009, which will go
into effect on July 1, 2010, and Congress is considering legidation to eliminate the FFEL Program and move all
federal student lending into the FDL Program. This uncertainty, and any resolution of these issues that increases
loan costs or reduces students' access to student loans, may adversely affect our student enrollments, which could
have an adverse effect on us.

Government agencies, regulatory agencies, and third parties may conduct compliance reviews, bring claims, or
initiate litigation against us based on alleged violations of the extensive regulatory requirements applicable to us,
which could cause us to pay monetary damages, be sanctioned or limited in our operations, and expend
significant resources to defend against those claims.

Because we operate in a highly regulated industry, we are subject to program reviews, audits, investigations,
claims of non-compliance, and lawsuits by government agencies, regulatory agencies, students, employees,
stockholders, and other third parties alleging non-compliance with applicable legal requirements, many of which are
imprecise and subject to interpretation. As we grow larger, this scrutiny of our business may increase. If the result of
any such proceeding is unfavorable to us, we may lose or have limitations imposed on our state licensing,
accreditation, or Title IV program participation; be required to pay monetary damages (including triple damagesin
certain whistleblower suits); or be subject to fines, injunctions, or other penalties, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations. In this regard, we
are currently subject to an investigation by the Department of Education’s Office of Inspector General, which is
focused on the manner in which we have compensated our enrollment counselors and managers, and a qui tam
lawsuit brought by a former employee alleging violations in the same area. See Item 1A, Risk Factors — The Office
of Inspector General of the Department of Education has commenced an investigation of Grand Canyon University,
which is ongoing and which may result in fines, penalties, other sanctions, and damage to our reputation in the
industry; Item 1A, Risk Factors— A qui tam lawsuit has been filed against us alleging, among other things, that we
have improperly compensated certain of our enrollment counselors, and we may incur liability, be subject to
sanctions, or experience damage to our reputation as a result of this lawsuit; and Item 1, Business — Regulation —
Regulation of Federal Sudent Financial Aid Programs — Incentive compensation rule. Claims and lawsuits brought
against us, even if they are without merit, may also result in adverse publicity, damage our reputation, negatively
affect the market price of our stock, adversely affect our student enrollments, and reduce the willingness of third
parties to do business with us. Even if we adequately address the issues raised by any such proceeding and
successfully defend against it, we may have to devote significant financial and management resources to address
these issues, which could harm our business.

A declinein the overall growth of enrollment in postsecondary institutions, or in the number of students seeking
degreesonlineor in our core disciplines, could cause us to experience lower enrollment at our schools, which
could negatively impact our future growth.

Based on industry analyses, we believe that enrollment growth in degree-granting, postsecondary institutionsis
slowing and that the number of high school graduates that are eligible to enroll in degree-granting, postsecondary
institutions is expected to decrease over the next few years. In order to maintain current growth rates, we will need
to attract alarger percentage of studentsin existing markets and expand our markets by creating new academic
programs. In addition, if job growth in the fields related to our core disciplinesis weaker than expected, as a result
of any regional or national economic downturn or otherwise, fewer students may seek the types of degrees that we
offer. Our failure to attract new students, or the decisions by prospective students to seek degreesin other
disciplines, would have an adverse impact on our future growth.
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If our students were unable to obtain private loans from third-party lenders, our business could be adversely
affected given our students' reliance on such loansto satisfy their educational expenses.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, private loans to students at our school represented
approximately 0.9% of our revenue (calculated on a cash basis) as compared to 2.9% of revenuein fiscal 2008.
These |oans were provided pursuant to private loan programs and were made available to eligible students to fund a
portion of the students' costs of education not covered by the Title IV programs and state financial aid sources.
Private |oans are made to our students by lending institutions and are non-recourse to us. The 2008 reauthorization
of the Higher Education Act and related proposed and final regulations place significant new restrictions on the
relationships between institutions and the providers of private loans, and require that certain specific terms and
disclosures accompany such loans. This increased regulatory burden, coupled with recent adverse market conditions
for consumer and federally guaranteed student loans (including lenders’ difficultiesin reselling or syndicating
student loan portfolios) have resulted, and could continue to result, in providers of private loans reducing the
availabhility of or increasing the costs associated with providing private loans to postsecondary students. In
particular, loans to students with low credit scores who would not otherwise be eligible for credit-based private
loans have become increasingly difficult to obtain. Prospective students may find that these increased financing
costs make borrowing prohibitively expensive and abandon or delay enrollment in postsecondary education
programs. If any of these scenarios were to occur, our students' ability to finance their education could be adversely
affected and our student population could decrease, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to sanctionsif we pay impermissible commissions, bonuses, or other incentive paymentsto
personsinvolved in certain recruiting, admissions, or financial aid activities.

A school participating in the Title 1V programs may not provide, or contract with athird party that provides, any
commission, bonus, or other incentive payment based on success in enrolling students or securing financial aid to
any person involved in student recruiting or admission activities or in making decisions regarding the awarding of
Title IV program funds. The Department of Education’ s regulations set forth 12 “safe harbors” which describe
payments and arrangements that do not violate the incentive compensation rule. The Department of Education’s
regulations make clear that the safe harbors are not a complete list of permissible practices under this law. One of
these safe harbors permits adjustments to fixed salary for enrollment personnel provided that such adjustments are
not made more than twice during any twelve month period, and that any adjustment is not based solely on the
number of students recruited, admitted, enrolled, or awarded financial aid. In addition, such safe harbors do not
address non-cash awards to enrollment personnel. In May 2009, the Department of Education announced that it was
initiating a further negotiated rulemaking process to revise its regulations in certain areas, including the regulations
implementing the incentive compensation rule. As part of the current negotiated rulemaking process, the potential
elimination or curtailment of the incentive compensation “safe harbors’ is being considered, |eaving open the
possibility that this rule will be administered on an even stricter basis.

Following the conclusion of this round of negotiated rulemaking, possibly in the spring or summer of 2010, the
Department of Education is expected to issue proposed regulations for public comment and to issue final regulations
by November 1, 2010, which is the required deadline in order for such regulations to take effect on July 1, 2011.

Asdescribed in Item 1A, Risk Factors — The Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education has
commenced an investigation of Grand Canyon University, which is ongoing and which may result in fines, penalties,
other sanctions, and damage to our reputation in the industry, and in Item 1, Business — Regulation — Regulation
of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs — Incentive compensation rule, we are currently subject to an
investigation by the Department of Education’s Office of Inspector General, which is focused on the manner in
which we have compensated our enrollment counselors and managers. In addition, in recent years several for-profit
education companies, including us, have been faced with whistleblower lawsuits, known as*“ qui tam” cases, by
current or former employees alleging violations of this prohibition. See Item 1A, Risk Factors— A qui tam lawsuit
has been filed against us alleging, among other things, that we have improperly compensated certain of our
enrollment counselors, and we may incur liability, be subject to sanctions, or experience damage to our reputation
as a result of this lawsuit. While we believe that our compensation policies and practices at issue in the complaint
have not been based on success in enrolling students in violation of applicable law, the Department of Education’s
regulations and interpretations of the incentive compensation law do not establish clear criteriafor compliancein al
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circumstances and some of our practices, including in respect of non-cash awards, have not been within the scope of
any specific “safe harbor” provided in the incentive compensation regulations. If the Department of Education
determines as aresult of the pending investigation that we have violated this law, if we are found to be liable in the
pending qui tam action, or if we or any third parties we have engaged otherwise violate this law, we could be fined
or sanctioned by the Department of Education, or subjected to other monetary liability or penalties that could be
substantial, any of which could harm our reputation, impose significant costs on us, and have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our reputation and our stock price may be negatively affected by adverse publicity or by the actions of other
postsecondary educational institutions.

In recent years, regulatory proceedings and litigation have been commenced against various postsecondary
educational institutions relating to, among other things, deceptive trade practices, false claims against the
government, and non-compliance with Department of Education requirements, state education laws, and state
consumer protection laws. These proceedings have been brought by the Department of Education, the U.S.
Department of Justice, the SEC, and state governmental agencies, among others. These allegations have attracted
adverse media coverage and have been the subject of legidative hearings and regulatory actions at both the federal
and state levels, focusing not only on the individual schools but in some cases on the for-profit postsecondary
education sector as a whole. Adverse media coverage regarding other for-profit education companies or other
educational institutions could damage our reputation, result in lower enrollments, revenues, and operating profit, and
have a negative impact on our stock price. Such coverage could also result in increased scrutiny and regulation by
the Department of Education, Congress, accrediting commissions, state legislatures, state attorneys general, or other
governmental authorities of all educational institutions, including us.

I f the percentage of our revenuethat is derived from the Title IV programsistoo high, we may lose our digibility
to participate in those programs.

A for-profit ingtitution loses its eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs if, under aformula that requires
cash basis accounting and other adjustments to the cal culation of revenue, it derives more than 90% of its revenues
from those programsin two consecutive fiscal years. The period of ineligibility covers at least the next two
succeeding fiscal years and any Title IV program funds already received by the ingtitution and its students during the
period of ineligibility would have to be returned to the applicable lender or the Department of Education. An
institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single year will be placed on provisional certification for at least two
fiscal years. The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act made significant changes to this revenue
reguirement, including certain changes to the formula used to calculate a school’ s ratio. Given the level of
complexity of such a calculation we were unable to quantify precisely the benefit that we would derive in the 90/10
percentage from these revisions. Using the Department of Education’s formulathat was in effect prior to the August
2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, we have calculated that, for our 2009 and 2008 fiscal years, we
derived approximately 82.5% and 78.6%, respectively, of our revenue from the Title IV programs. As aresult of
recent changesin federal law that increased Title 1V grant and loan limits, as well as the current economic downturn,
which has adversely affected the employment circumstances of our students and their parents and increased their
reliance on the Title IV programs, we expect the percentage of our revenue that we receive from the Title IV
programs to continue to increase in the future, making it more difficult for us to satisfy this requirement. Exceeding
the 90% threshold such that we lost our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs would have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may lose our €ligibility to participate in the Title IV programsif our student loan default rates are too high.

Aninstitution may lose its eligibility to participate in some or al of the Title IV programs if, for three
consecutive years, 25% or more of its students who were required to begin repayment on their student loansin one
year default on their payment by the end of the following year. In addition, an institution may lose its eligibility to
participate in some or all of the Title IV programsif the default rate of its students exceeds 40% for any single year.
The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act extends by one year the period for which students’
defaults on their loans will be included in the calculation of aninstitution’s default rate, a change that is expected to
increase our cohort default rates. The new law also increases the threshold for an institution to lose its eligibility to
participate in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30% over three consecutive years, while leaving the
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threshold at 40% for a single year. These changes to the law take effect for institutions’ cohort default rates for
federal fiscal year 2009, which are expected to be calculated and issued by the Department of Education in 2012.
While our cohort default rates have historically been significantly below these levels, we cannot assure you that this
will continue to be the case. For example, we expect our cohort default rate for the 2008 federal fiscal year to
increase (but remain well below the Department of Education’s thresholds) due primarily to the impact of current
economic conditions on our students and former students. Our cohort default rates on FFEL Program loans for the
2007, 2006 and 2005 federal fiscal years, the three most recent years for which such rates have been calcul ated,
were 1.4%, 1.6% and 1.8%, respectively. Our trial cohort default rates for these years, as issued by the Department
of Education in December 2009, were 2.9%, 2.7% and 3.0%, respectively. Our draft cohort default rate for the 2008
federal fiscal year is 3.5%. In addition, increasesin interest rates or declinesin income or job losses for our students
could contribute to higher default rates on student loans. Exceeding the student loan default rate threshol ds and
losing our eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition, and results of operations. Any future changes in the formula for calculating student
loan default rates, economic conditions, or other factors that cause our default rates to increase, could place usin
danger of losing our eligibility to participate in some or all of the Title IV programs and materially adversely affect
us.

We are subject to sanctions if we fail to correctly calculate and timely return Title IV program funds for students
who withdraw before completing their educational program.

A school participating in the Title IV programs must calculate the amount of unearned Title IV program funds
that it has disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational programs before completing such programs
and must return those unearned funds to the appropriate lender or the Department of Education in atimely manner,
generally within 45 days of the date the school determines that the student has withdrawn. If the unearned funds are
not properly calculated and timely returned for a sufficient percentage of students, we may have to post a letter of
credit in favor of the Department of Education equal to 25% of the Title IV program funds that should have been
returned for such studentsin the prior fiscal year, we may be liable for repayment of Title IV program funds and
related interest and we could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by the Department of Education, which could increase
our cost of regulatory compliance and materially adversely affect us. Further, afailure to comply with these
regulatory requirements could result in termination of our ability to participate in the Title IV programs, which
would materialy affect us.

We cannot offer new programs, expand our operationsinto certain states, or acquire additional schoolsif such
actions are not timely approved by the applicable regulatory agencies, and we may haveto repay Title IV funds
disbursed to students enrolled in any such programs, schools, or statesif we do not obtain prior approval.

Our expansion efforts include offering new educational programs. In addition, we may increase our operationsin
additional states and seek to acquire existing schools from other companies. If we are unable to obtain the necessary
approvals for such new programs, operations, or acquisitions from the Department of Education, the Higher
Learning Commission, the Arizona State Board for Private Postsecondary Education, or any other applicable state
education agency or accrediting commission, or if we are unable to obtain such approvalsin atimely manner, our
ability to consummate the planned actions and provide Title IV funds to any affected students would be impaired,
which could have a material adverse effect on our expansion plans. If we were to determine erroneoudly that any
such action did not need approval or that we had all required approvals, we could be liable for repayment of the Title
IV program funds provided to students in that program or at that location.
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Risks Related to Our Business

Our success depends, in part, on the effectiveness of our marketing and advertising programsin recruiting new

students.

Building awareness of Grand Canyon University and the programs we offer iscritical to our ability to attract
prospective students. It isalso critical to our success that we convert prospective students to enrolled studentsin a
cost-effective manner and that these enrolled students remain active in our programs. Some of the factors that could
prevent us from successfully recruiting, enrolling, and retaining students in our programs include:

the reduced availability of, or higher interest rates and other costs associated with, Title 1V loan funds or
other sources of financial aid;

the emergence of more successful competitors;

factors related to our marketing, including the costs and effectiveness of Internet advertising and broad-
based branding campaigns and recruiting efforts;

performance problems with our online systems;
failure to maintain institutional and specialized accreditations;

the requirements of the education agencies that regulate us which restrict schools' initiation of new
programs and modification of existing programs;

the requirements of the education agencies that regulate us which restrict the ways schools can
compensate their recruitment personnel;

increased regulation of online education, including in states in which we do not have a physical presence;

restrictions that may be imposed on graduates of online programs that seek certification or licensure in
certain states,

student dissatisfaction with our services and programs,

the results of the ongoing investigation by the Department of Education’s Office of |nspector General and
the pending qui tam action regarding the manner in which we have compensated our enrollment
personnel, and possible remedia actions or other liability resulting therefrom;

damage to our reputation or other adverse effects as aresult of negative publicity in the media, in industry
or governmental reports, or otherwise, affecting us or other companiesin the for-profit postsecondary
education sector;

price reductions by competitors that we are unwilling or unable to match;

a decline in the acceptance of online education;

an adverse economic or other development that affects job prospectsin our core disciplines; and

adecrease in the perceived or actual economic benefits that students derive from our programs.

If we are unable to continue to develop awareness of Grand Canyon University and the programs we offer, and
to recruit, enroll, and retain students, our enrollments would suffer and our ability to increase revenues and maintain
profitability would be significantly impaired.
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If we are unable to hire and train new and existing employees responsible for student recruitment, the
effectiveness of our student recruiting efforts would be adversely affected.

In order to support our planned revenue growth we intend to hire, develop, and train a significant number of
additional employees responsible for student recruitment and retain and continue to develop and train our current
student recruitment personnel. Our ability to develop and maintain a strong student recruiting function may be
affected by a number of factors, including our ability to integrate and motivate our enrollment counselors, our ability
to effectively train our enrollment counselors, the length of time it takes new enrollment counsel ors to become
productive, regulatory restrictions on the method of compensating enrollment counselors, and the competitionin
hiring and retaining enrollment counselors. If we are unable to hire, develop, and retain a sufficient number of
qualified enrollment counselors, our ability to increase enrollments would be adversely affected.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and competitors with greater resources could harm our business.

The postsecondary education market is highly fragmented and competitive. We compete for students with
traditional public and private two-year and four-year colleges and universities and other for-profit schools, including
those that offer online learning programs. Many public and private schools, colleges, and universities, including
most major colleges and universities, offer online programs. We expect to experience additional competition in the
future as more colleges, universities, and for-profit schools offer an increasing number of online programs. Each of
these competitors may develop platforms or other technologies, including technol ogies such as streaming video, that
alow for greater levels of interactivity between faculty and students and that are superior to the platform and
technology we use, and these differences may affect our ability to recruit and retain students. Public institutions
receive substantial government subsidies, and public and private non-profit institutions have access to government
and foundation grants, tax-deductible contributions, and other financial resources generally not available to for-
profit schools. Accordingly, public and private non-profit institutions may have instructional and support resources
superior to those in the for-profit sector, and public institutions can offer substantially lower tuition prices. Some of
our competitors in both the public and private sectors aso have substantially greater financial and other resources
than we do. We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors, including with
respect to our ability to acquire or compete with technol ogies being developed by our competitors, and may face
competitive pressures that could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of
operations. These competitive factors could cause our enrollments, revenues, and profitability to significantly
decrease and could render our online delivery format less competitive or obsolete.

Capacity constraints, system disruptions, or security breachesin our online computer networks could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to attract and retain students.

The performance and reliability of the infrastructure of our online operations are critical to our reputation and to
our ability to attract and retain students. Any computer system disruption or failure, or a sudden and significant
increase in traffic on the servers that host our online operations, may result in our online courses and programs being
unavailable for a period of time. In addition, any significant failure of our computer networks or servers, whether as
aresult of third-party actions or in connection with planned upgrades and conversions, could disrupt our on-campus
operations. Individual, sustained, or repeated occurrences could significantly damage the reputation of our online
operations and result in aloss of potential or existing students. Additionally, our online operations are vulnerable to
interruption or malfunction due to events beyond our control, including natural disasters and network and
telecommunications failures. Our computer networks may also be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer
hackers, computer viruses, and other security problems. A user who circumvents security measures could
misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions to or malfunctions in operations. As a result, we may
be required to expend significant resources to protect against the threat of these security breaches or to aleviate
problems caused by these incidents. Any interruption to our online operations could have a material adverse effect
on our ability to attract students to our online programs and to retain those students.
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The implementation of our new back office systems could impact our ability to timely and accurately admit
studentsto the university and register them for classes, bill students, certify and disburse financial aid, prepare
financial reports, or impact the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.

We plan to transition our online programs from a “term-based” financial aid system (where all students,
including online students, begin programs and are eligible to receive financial aid at periodic start dates pursuant to a
calendar-based term system) to a “borrower-based” financial aid system (where each student may begin a program
and be eligible to receive financial aid at any time throughout the year). As part of thistransition, we are converting
our back office system from Datatel, Inc. to a series of programs devel oped by Campus Management Corp.,
including CampusV ue and CampusPortal, and a so implementing Microsoft’s Great Plains accounting system.
These new systems are intended to allow us to manage our non-traditional online students with greater ease and
flexibility by providing for rolling and flexible start dates. While we intend to maintain redundancies between our
old and new systems for a period of time while we complete the conversions and ensure the that the new systems
operate as intended, if we do not effectively transition our student and financial aid datato these systems or if these
systems do not operate as intended, it could adversely impact the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial
reporting, as well as our ability to timely and accurately admit students to the university and register them for
classes, bill students, certify and disburse financial aid, and prepare financial reports. This may in turn affect our
ability to comply with the Department of Education’s administrative capability standards, as discussed under Item
1A, Risk Factors—If we do not comply with the Department of Education’s administrative capability standards, we
could suffer financial penalties, be required to accept other limitationsin order to continue participating in the Title
IV programs, or lose our digibility to participate in the Title IV programs.

We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategy if we are not able to improve the content of our
existing academic programs or to develop new programs on a timely basis and in a cost-effective manner, or at
all.

We continually seek to improve the content of our existing programs and develop new programsin order to meet
changing market needs. The success of any of our programs and courses, both ground and online, depends in part on
our ability to expand the content of our existing programs, develop new programsin a cost-effective manner, and
meet the needs of existing and prospective students and employersin atimely manner, as well as on the acceptance
of our actions by existing or prospective students and employers. We developed many of our online programs based
on our existing ground programs. In the future, we may develop programs solely, or initially, for online use, which
may pose new challenges, including the need to develop course content without having an existing program on
which such content can be based. Even if we are able to develop acceptable new programs, we may not be able to
introduce these new programsin atimely fashion or as quickly as our competitors are able to introduce competing
programs. If we do not respond adequately to changes in market conditions, our ability to attract and retain students
could be impaired and our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations could suffer.

The development and approval of new programs and courses, both ground and online, are subject to
requirements and limitations imposed by the Department of Education, state licensing agencies, and the relevant
accrediting commissions, and in certain cases, such as with doctoral programs, involves a process that can take
several years to complete. The imposition of restrictions on the initiation of new educational programs by any of our
regulatory agencies, or delays in obtaining approvals of such programs, may delay our expansion plans. Establishing
new academic programs or modifying existing academic programs may also require us to make investmentsin
specialized personnel, increase marketing efforts, and reallocate resources. We may have limited experience with the
subject matter of new programs.

If we are unable to expand our existing programs, offer new programs on atimely basis or in a cost-effective

manner, or otherwise manage effectively the operations of newly established programs, our business, prospects,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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Our failureto keep pace with changing market needs and technology could harm our ability to attract students.

Our success depends to a large extent on the willingness of employers to employ, promote, or increase the pay of
our graduates. Increasingly, employers demand that their new employees possess appropriate technical and
analytical skills and also appropriate interpersonal skills, such as communication, and teamwork skills. These skills
can evolve rapidly in a changing economic and technological environment. Accordingly, it isimportant that our
educational programs evolve in response to those economic and technological changes. The expansion of existing
academic programs and the development of new programs may not be accepted by current or prospective students or
by the employers of our graduates. Even if we are able to develop acceptable new programs, we may not be able to
begin offering those new programs in atimely fashion or as quickly as our competitors offer similar programs. If we
are unable to adequately respond to changes in market requirements due to regulatory or financial constraints,
unusually rapid technological changes, or other factors, the rates at which our graduates obtain jobsin their fields of
study could suffer, our ability to attract and retain students could be impaired, and our business, prospects, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we do not maintain existing, and develop additional, relationships with employers, our future growth may be
impaired.

We currently have relationships with large school districts and healthcare systems, primarily in Arizona, and also
recently began seeking relationships with national and international employers, to provide their employees with the
opportunity to obtain degrees through us while continuing their employment. These relationships are an important
part of our strategy as they provide us with a steady source of potential working adult students for particular
programs and also serve to increase our reputation among high-profile employers. As aresult of economic
conditions, a number of employers we work with have reduced the extent to which they reimburse their employees
for participating in our programs. If we are unable to develop new relationships, or if our existing relationships
deteriorate or end as aresult of current or future economic conditions affecting employers or otherwise, our efforts
to seek these sources of potential working adult students will be impaired, and this could materially and adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our failureto effectively manage our growth could harm our business.

Our business continues to experience rapid growth. Growth and expansion of our operations place a significant
strain on our resources and increase demands on our executive management team, management information and
reporting systems, financial management controls and personnel, and regulatory compliance systems and personnel.
We may not be able to maintain or accelerate our current growth rate, effectively manage our expanding operations,
or achieve planned growth on atimely or profitable basis. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, we
may experience operating inefficiencies and our earnings may be materially adversely affected.

We may be unable to finance our expansion activities, and interest and other expenses may increase.

We intend to expand the size and enhance the profile and reputation of our ground campus by, among other
things, adding faculty and expanding upon and modernizing our campus infrastructure and technological capabilities
over the next several years. These activities may require significant capital expenditures and may cause us to incur
significant expenses, and there can be no guarantee that we will be able, or that it will be advantageous, to fund such
expenditures or expenses with cash flow from operations. If we do not fund such activities with cash flow from
operations, we will be reguired to finance such activities. Financing may take the form of, among other things, loans
under acredit facility, sale-leaseback transactions, the issuance of equity securities, or a combination of the
foregoing. There can be no guarantee that any such financing will be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all.
Furthermore, our existing loan agreement contains covenants that restrict our ability to incur debt, and there can be
no guarantee that we will be able to secure the consent of our lender for any financing.

If we obtain financing, we may incur increased interest or lease expenses, or other financing charges, that could
have an adverse effect on our cash flow. In addition, any financing accomplished through the issuance of any
additional equity securities could be dilutive to holders of our common stock. If we are unable to fund our expansion
activities, our ability to implement our business plan will be adversely affected.
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If we fail to maintain proper and effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting, our ability to produce accurate financial statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect
our stock price, our ability to operate our business and investors' views of us.

Ensuring that we have adequate disclosure controls and procedures, including internal controls over financial
reporting, in place so that we can produce accurate financial statements on atimely basisis a costly and time-
consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. We are subject to the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the first time for the year ended December 31, 2009. Section 404 requires annual
management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and a report by our
independent auditors addressing these assessments. Failure to maintain effective internal controls could lead to a
lack of confidence by investorsin our reported results, adeclinein our stock price and significant costs to remediate
the situation.

Our success depends upon our ability to recruit and retain key personnel.

Our success to date has largely depended on, and will continue to depend on, the skills, efforts, and motivation of
our executive officers, who generally have significant experience with our company and within the education
industry. Our success also largely depends on our ability to attract and retain highly qualified faculty, school
administrators, and additional corporate management personnel. We may have difficulties in locating and hiring
qualified personnel and in retaining such personnel once hired. In addition, because we operate in a highly
competitive industry, our hiring of qualified executives or other personnel may cause us or such personsto be
subject to lawsuits alleging misappropriation of trade secrets, improper solicitation of employees, or other claims.
Other than non-compete agreements of limited duration that we have with certain executive officers, we have not
historically sought non-compete agreements with key personnel and they may leave and subsegquently compete
against us. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, many of whom are not party to employment
agreements with us, or our failure to attract and retain other qualified and experienced personnel on acceptable
terms, could cause our business to suffer.

The protection of our operations through exclusive proprietary rights and intellectual property islimited, and
from time to time we encounter disputesrelating to our use of intellectual property of third parties, any of which
could harm our operations and prospects.

In the ordinary course of our business we develop intellectual property of many kinds that is or will be the
subject of copyright, trademark, service mark, patent, trade secret, or other protections. Thisintellectual property
includes but is not limited to courseware material s and business know-how and internal processes and procedures
developed to respond to the requirements of operating our business and to comply with the rules and regulations of
various education regulatory agencies. We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade
secrets, domain names, and agreements to protect our intellectual property. We rely on service mark and trademark
protection in the United States to protect our rights to the mark “Grand Canyon University,” aswell as distinctive
logos and other marks associated with our services. We rely on agreements under which we aobtain rightsto use
course content devel oped by faculty members and other third party content experts, as well as license agreements
pursuant to which we license the right to brand certain of our program offerings. We cannot assure you that the
measures that we take will be adequate or that we have secured, or will be able to secure, appropriate protections for
al of our proprietary rights in the United States or select foreign jurisdictions, or that third parties will not infringe
upon or violate our proprietary rights. Unauthorized third parties may attempt to duplicate or copy the proprietary
aspects of our curricula, online resource material, and other content, and offer competing programs to ours.

In particular, we license the right to utilize the name of Ken Blanchard in connection with our business school
and Executive MBA programs and have spent significant resources in related branding efforts. Nevertheless, our
license agreement with Blanchard Education, LLC has afixed term and may not necessarily be extended in the
future. In addition, third parties may attempt to devel op competing programs or copy aspects of our curriculum,
online resource material, quality management, and other proprietary content. The termination of this license
agreement, or attempts to compete with or duplicate our programs, if successful, could adversely affect our business.
Protecting these types of intellectual property rights can be difficult, particularly asit relates to the development by
our competitors of competing courses and programs.
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We may from time to time encounter disputes over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property, and
we may not prevail in these disputes. In certain instances, we may not have obtained sufficient rightsin the content
of acourse. Third parties may raise a claim against us aleging an infringement or violation of the intellectual
property of that third party. Some third-party intellectual property rights may be extremely broad, and it may not be
possible for us to conduct our operations in such away as to avoid those intellectual property rights. Any such
intellectual property claim could subject usto costly litigation and impose a significant strain on our financial
resources and management personnel regardless of whether such claim has merit, and we may be required to alter
the content of our classes or pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

We are subject to laws and regulations as a result of our collection and use of personal information, and any
violations of such laws or regulations, or any breach, theft, or loss of such information, could adversely affect
our reputation and operations.

Possession and use of personal information in our operations subjects us to risks and costs that could harm our
business. We collect, use, and retain large amounts of personal information regarding our applicants, students,
faculty, staff, and their families, including social security numbers, tax return information, personal and family
financial data, and credit card numbers. We also collect and maintain personal information of our employeesin the
ordinary course of our business. Our services can be accessed globally through the Internet. Therefore, we may be
subject to the application of national privacy lawsin countries outside the U.S. from which applicants and students
access our services. Such privacy laws could impose conditions that limit the way we market and provide our
services.

Our computer networks and the networks of certain of our vendors that hold and manage confidential
information on our behalf may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, employee theft or misuse, computer hackers,
computer viruses, and other security threats. Confidential information may also inadvertently become available to
third parties when we integrate systems or migrate data to our servers following an acquisition of a school or in
connection with periodic hardware or software upgrades.

Due to the sensitive nature of the personal information stored on our servers, our networks may be targeted by
hackers seeking to access this data. A user who circumvents security measures could misappropriate sensitive
information or cause interruptions or malfunctionsin our operations. Although we use security and business controls
to limit access and use of personal information, athird party may be able to circumvent those security and business
controls, which could result in a breach of student or employee privacy. In addition, errorsin the storage, use, or
transmission of personal information could result in abreach of privacy for current or prospective students or
employees. Possession and use of personal information in our operations also subjects us to legislative and
regulatory burdens that could require us to implement certain policies and procedures, such as the procedures we
adopted to comply with the Red Flags Rule that was promul gated by the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, under
the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act and that requires the establishment of guidelines and policies regarding
identity theft related to student credit accounts, and could require us to make certain notifications of data breaches
and restrict our use of personal information. A violation of any laws or regulations relating to the collection or use of
personal information could result in the imposition of fines against us. As aresult, we may be required to expend
significant resources to protect against the threat of these security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by these
breaches. A major breach, theft, or loss of personal information regarding our students and their families or our
employees that is held by us or our vendors, or aviolation of laws or regulations relating to the same, could have a
material adverse effect on our reputation and result in further regulation and oversight by federal and state
authorities and increased costs of compliance.

We areincurring increased costs as a result of being a public company, and the requirements of being a public
company may divert management attention from our business.

We have operated as a public company since November 19, 2008. As a public company, we incur significant
legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, we are subject to a
number of additional requirements, including the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the listing standards of Nasdag. These requirements
have caused usto incur increased costs and place a strain on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires,
among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and financial
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condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, and also requires that our internal controls be assessed by
management and attested to by our auditors as of December 31 of each fiscal year commencing with our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2009. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, significant resources and management oversight is required.
Asaresult, our management’s attention might be diverted from other business concerns, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

At present we derive a significant portion of our revenues and operating income from our graduate programs.

As of December 31, 2009, 42.7% of our students were graduate students, which includes master’s and doctoral
students. This percentage has declined in recent periods, and we anticipate that this percentage may continue to
decline over time, due to our recent growth emphasis in our undergraduate nursing and liberal arts programs as well
asour military division. If we were to experience any event that adversely affected our graduate offerings or the
attractiveness of our programs to prospective graduate students, our business, prospects, financial condition, and
results of operations could be significantly and adversely affected.

We may incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of class materials posted online for class
discussions.

In some instances, our faculty members or our students may post various articles or other third-party content on
class discussion boards. Third parties may raise claims against us for the unauthorized duplication of material posted
online for class discussions. Any such claims could subject usto costly litigation and impose a significant strain on
our financial resources and management personnel regardless of whether the claims have merit. Our general liability
insurance may not cover potential claims of thistype adequately or at all, and we may be required to alter the
content of our courses or pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

The provider of third-party software for our online classroom has been acquired by a competitor, and we may
have difficulty maintaining the software required for our online classroom or updating it for future technological
changes, which could adversely affect our performance.

Our online classroom employs the ANGEL Learning Management Suite pursuant to alicense from ANGEL
Learning, Inc. The ANGEL system is a web-based portal that stores, manages, and delivers course content; enables
assignment uploading; provides interactive communication between students and faculty; and supplies online
evaluation tools. In May 2009, ANGEL Learning, Inc. was acquired by Blackboard, Inc., a competitor in the
provision of online educational software and tools. We now rely on Blackboard, Inc. for administrative support of
the ANGEL system and, if Blackboard, Inc. ceased to operate or was unable or unwilling to continue to provide us
with services or upgrades on atimely basis, we may have difficulty maintaining the software required for our online
classroom or updating it for future technological changes. We cannot predict what effect, if any, Blackboard, Inc.’s
acquisition of ANGEL Learning, Inc. will have on our use of, or the support for or the efficacy of, the ANGEL
Learning Management Suite. Any failure to maintain our online classroom would have an adverse impact on our
operations, damage our reputation, and limit our ability to attract and retain students.

Seasonal and other fluctuationsin our results of operations could adversely affect the trading price of our
common stock.

Our net revenue and operating results normally fluctuate as a result of seasonal variationsin our business,
principally due to changes in enrollment, and are typically lowest in our second fiscal quarter and highest in our
fourth fiscal quarter. Accordingly, our resultsin any quarter may not indicate the results we may achieve in any
subsequent quarter or for the full year. Student population varies as aresult of new enrollments, graduations, and
student attrition. A significant portion of our general and administrative expenses do not vary proportionately with
fluctuations in revenues. We expect quarterly fluctuations in operating results to continue as a result of seasonal
enrollment patterns. Such patterns may change, however, as aresult of new program introductions, the timing of
colloguia and events, and increased enrollments of students. These fluctuations may result in volatility or have an
adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
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Our loan agreement may restrict our operations and our ability to complete certain transactions.

Our loan agreement, which we entered into in connection with the purchase of our campusin April 2009,
imposes certain operating and financial restrictions on us. Without the consent of our lender, these restrictions
generaly limit our ability to, among other things:

* incur additional indebtedness or liens;

« dl, assign, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any part of our assets other than in the ordinary course
of business;

« makeinvestments or capital contributionsto any individual or entity;

e enter into any consolidation, merger, or other combination, or become a partner in a partnership, a
member of ajoint venture, or a member of alimited liability company;

e acquire or purchase a business or all or substantially all of the assets of a business in an aggregate amount
exceeding an amount equal to 25% of our tangible net worth; and

e engage in any business activities substantially different from our present business.

In addition, the loan agreement requires us to maintain a maximum funded debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio, a
minimum basic fixed charge coverage ratio and a minimum tangible net worth ratio, in each case as such terms are
defined in the loan agreement. We cannot assure you that these covenants will not adversely affect our ability to
finance our future operations or capital needs or to pursue available business opportunities. A breach of any of these
covenants or our inability to maintain the required financial ratios could result in a default in respect of the related
indebtedness. If adefault occurs, the affected lenders could elect to declare the indebtedness, together with accrued
interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable.

Our current success and future growth depend on the continued growth in users seeking educational serviceson
the Internet.

Our businessreliesin part on the Internet for its success. A number of factors could inhibit the continued
acceptance of the Internet and adversely affect our profitability, including:

e inadequate Internet infrastructure;

e security and privacy concerns,

the unavailability of cost-effective Internet service and other technological factors; and
» changesin government regulation of Internet use.

If the number of Internet users seeking educational services on the Internet does not continue to increase, our
business may not grow as planned.

Government regulations relating to the Internet could increase our cost of doing business, affect our ability to
grow or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business.

Theincreasing popularity and use of the Internet and other online services has led and may lead to the adoption
of new laws and regulatory practices in the United States or foreign countries and to new interpretations of existing
laws and regulations. These new laws and interpretations may relate to issues such as online privacy, copyrights,
trademarks and service marks, sales taxes, fair business practices, and the requirement that online education
institutions qualify to do business as foreign corporations or be licensed in one or more jurisdictions where they
have no physical location or other presence. New laws and regulations or interpretations thereof related to doing
business over the Internet could increase our costs and materially and adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition, and results of operations.
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We may incur significant costs complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act and similar laws.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the ADA, all public accommodations must meet federal
reguirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Additional federal, state, and local laws also may require
modifications to our properties, or restrict our ability to renovate our properties. For example, the Fair Housing
Amendments Act of 1988, or FHAA, requires apartment properties first occupied after March 13, 1990 to be
accessible to the handicapped. We have not conducted an audit or investigation of all of our propertiesto determine
our compliance with present requirements. Noncompliance with the ADA or FHAA could result in the imposition of
fines or an award or damages to private litigants and also could result in an order to correct any hon-complying
feature. We cannot predict the ultimate amount of the cost of compliance with the ADA, FHAA, or other legidation.
If weincur substantial costs to comply with the ADA, FHAA, or any other legislation, we could be materially and
adversely affected.

Our failureto comply with environmental laws and regulations governing our activities could result in financial
penalties and other costs.

We use hazardous materials at our ground campus and generate small quantities of waste, such as used ail,
antifreeze, paint, car batteries, and laboratory materials. As aresult, we are subject to a variety of environmental
laws and regulations governing, among other things, the use, storage, and disposal of solid and hazardous substances
and waste, and the clean-up of contamination at our facilities or off-site locations to which we send or have sent
waste for disposal. In the event we do not maintain compliance with any of these laws and regulations, or are
responsible for a spill or release of hazardous materials, we could incur significant costs for clean-up, damages, and
fines, or penalties which could adversely impact our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Our failureto obtain additional capital in the future could adversely affect our ability to grow.

We believe that funds from operations, cash on hand, and investments will be adeguate to fund our current
operating and growth plans for the foreseeable future. However, we may need additional financing in order to
finance our continued growth, particularly if we pursue any acquisitions. The amount, timing, and terms of such
additional financing will vary principally depending on the timing and size of new program offerings, the timing and
size of acquisitions we may seek to consummate, and the amount of cash flows from our operations. To the extent
that we require additional financing in the future, such financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at
all, and, consequently, we may not be able to fully implement our growth strategy.

If we are not able to integrate acquired schools, our business could be harmed.

From time to time, we may pursue acquisitions of other schools. Integrating acquired operationsinto our
institution involves significant risks and uncertainties, including:

« inability to maintain uniform standards, controls, policies, and procedures,

« distraction of management’s attention from normal business operations during the integration process,

* inability to obtain, or delay in obtaining, approval of the acquisition from the necessary regulatory
agencies, or the imposition of operating restrictions or aletter of credit requirement on us or on the
acquired school by any of those regulatory agencies,

* expenses associated with the integration efforts; and

« unidentified issues not discovered in our due diligence process, including legal contingencies.

If we complete one or more acquisitions and are unable to integrate acquired operations successfully, our
business could suffer.
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Risks Related to Owning our Common Stock

Our executive officers, directors, and principal existing stockholders own a large percentage of our voting stock,
which may allow them to collectively control substantially all matters requiring stockholder approval and, in the
case of certain of our principal stockholders, will have other unique rightsthat may afford them access to our
management.

Certain of our stockholders have entered into a proxy and voting agreement, pursuant to which such persons
granted to the Richardson Voting Group afive-year irrevocable proxy to exercise voting authority with respect to
certain shares of our common stock held by such persons, for so long as such shares are held by such persons. Upon
the completion of our secondary offering in September 2009, as a result of the proxy and voting agreement, the
Richardson Voting Group had the power to exercise voting authority with respect to 32.1% of our common stock.
Under the terms of the proxy and voting agreement, if any person party to the voting agreement transfers shares
covered by the proxy in registered or open-market transactions, the proxy is no longer effective asto such shares.
Accordingly, the number of shares as to which the Richardson Voting Group has voting power will decrease over
time as shares held by other parties to the proxy and voting agreement are sold.

Asaresult of the proxy and voting agreement, the Richardson Voting Group could significantly influence the
outcome of any actions requiring the vote or consent of stockholders, including elections of directors, amendments
to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, mergers, going private transactions, and other extraordinary
transactions, and any decisions concerning the terms of any of these transactions. The ownership and voting
positions of these stockholders may have the effect of delaying, deterring, or preventing a change in control or a
change in the composition of our Board of Directors. These stockholders may also use their contractual rights,
including access to management, and their large ownership position to address their own interests, which may be
different from those of our other stockholders.

Your percentage ownership in us may be diluted by future issuances of capital stock, which could reduce your
influence over matters on which stockholders vote.

Our Board of Directors has the authority, without action or vote of our stockholders, to issue all or any part of
our authorized but unissued shares of common stock, including shares i ssuable upon the exercise of options, shares
that may be issued to satisfy our payment obligations under our incentive plans, or shares of our authorized but
unissued preferred stock. Issuances of common stock or voting preferred stock would reduce your influence over
matters on which our stockholders vote, and, in the case of issuances of preferred stock, likely would result in your
interest in us being subject to the prior rights of holders of that preferred stock.

Provisionsin our charter documents and the Delaware General Corporation Law could make it more difficult for
a third party to acquire us and could discourage a takeover and adversely affect existing stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, the Delaware General Corporation Law, or
DGCL, and regulations of state and federal education agencies could diminish the opportunity for stockholdersto
participate in acquisition proposals at a price above the then-current market price of our common stock. For
example, while we have no present plansto issue any preferred stock, our Board of Directors, without further
stockholder approval, may issue shares of undesignated preferred stock and fix the powers, preferences, rights, and
limitations of such class or series, which could adversely affect the voting power of your shares. In addition, our
bylaws provide for an advance notice procedure for nomination of candidates to our Board of Directors that could
have the effect of delaying, deterring, or preventing a change in control. Further, as a Delaware corporation, we are
subject to provisions of the DGCL regarding “business combinations,” which can deter attempted takeoversin
certain situations. The approval requirements of the Department of Education, our regional accrediting commission,
and state education agencies for a change in control transaction could also delay, deter, or prevent a transaction that
would result in a change in control. We may, in the future, consider adopting additional anti-takeover measures. The
authority of our board to issue undesignated preferred or other capital stock and the anti-takeover provisions of the
DGCL, aswell as other current and any future anti-takeover measures adopted by us, may, in certain circumstances,
delay, deter, or prevent takeover attempts and other changes in control of the company not approved by our Board of
Directors.
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The price of our common stock may be volatile, and as a result returns on an investment in our common stock
may be volatile.

We completed our initia public offering in November 2008. Given the relatively limited public float since that
time, trading in our common stock has also been limited and, at times, volatile. An active trading market for our
common stock may not be sustained, and the trading price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially.

The market price of our common stock could fluctuate significantly for various reasons, which include;

* our quarterly or annual earnings or earnings of other companiesin our industry;

the public’ s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements, and our filings with the SEC,;

« changesin earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track our common stock or
the stocks of other companiesin our industry;

« changesin our number of enrolled students;

* new or proposed laws or regulations or new or proposed interpretations of laws or regulations applicable
to our business;

e seasonal variationsin our student population;

« damage to our reputation or other adverse effects as aresult of negative publicity in the media, in industry
or governmental reports, or otherwise, affecting us or other companiesin the for-profit postsecondary
education sector;

e theavailability and cost of Title IV funds, other student financial aid, and private loans;
¢ thefailure to maintain or keep in good standing our regulatory approvals and accreditations,
» changesin accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles;

» changesin genera conditionsin the U.S. and global economies or financial markets, including those
resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, or responses to such events,

» an adverse economic or other development that affects job prospects in our core disciplines;

* litigation involving our company, or investigations or audits by regulators into the operations of our
company or our competitors, including the investigation of Grand Canyon University currently being
conducted by the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education, and the pending qui tam
action regarding the manner in which we have compensated our enrollment personnel; and

» sales of common stock by our directors, executive officers, and significant stockholders.

In addition, in recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This
volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including
companiesin our industry. The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of
these companies. The price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do
with our company, and these fluctuations could materially reduce our stock price.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action
litigation has often been brought against that company. Because of the potential volatility of our stock price, we may
become the target of securities litigation in the future. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources from our business.
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If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade their evaluations
of our stock, the price of our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that industry or financial
analysts publish about us or our business. If one or more of the analysts covering us downgrade their estimates or
evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our
company, we could lose visibility in the market for our stock, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your only opportunity to
achieve a return on your investment isif the price of our common stock appreciates.

We do not expect to pay dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future and intend to use
cash to grow our business. The payment of cash dividends in the future, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board
of Directors and will depend upon such factors as earnings levels, capital requirements, our overall financial
condition, and any other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. Conseguently, your only opportunity to
achieve a positive return on your investment in us will be if the market price of our common stock appreciates.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our ground campus is located on approximately 100 acresin the center of the Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan
area, near downtown Phoenix. Our campus facilities currently consist of 43 buildings with more than 500,000 square
feet of space, which include 63 classrooms, three lecture halls, a 500-seat theater, three student computer labs with
150 computers that are available to students 18 hours per day, a 68,000-volume physical library, and a media arts
complex that provides communications students with audio and video equipment. We house our ground studentsin
on-campus student apartments and dormitories that can collectively hold up to 800 students. In April 2009, we
acquired the land and buildings that comprise our ground campus from Spirit Master Funding, LLC and Spirit
Management Company, respectively (collectively, “Spirit”). Prior to the acquisition, the Company had leased the
land and buildings from Spirit, accounting for the land as an operating lease and the buildings and improvements as
capital lease obligations. Our ground campus serves as collateral under our loan agreement, which we entered into,
in part, to finance the purchase of the campus. We also lease four additional facilities for employeesin Arizona. We
plan on adding additional space in our Arizonalocations to accommodate our growth plansin 2010 and beyond and
may add additional locations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On August 14, 2008, the Office of Inspector General of the United States Department of Education served an
administrative subpoena on Grand Canyon University requiring us to provide certain records and information related
to performance reviews and salary adjustments for all of our enrollment counselors and managers from January 1,
2004 to August 2008. We are cooperating with the Office of Inspector General to facilitate its investigation and have
completed production of all requested documents. We cannot presently predict the ultimate outcome of the
investigation or any liability or other sanctions that may result.

On September 11, 2008, we were served with a qui tam lawsuit that had been filed against usin August 2007, in
the United States District Court for the District of Arizona by athen-current employee on behalf of the federal
government. All proceedings in the lawsuit had been under seal until September 5, 2008, when the court unsealed
the first amended complaint, which was filed on August 11, 2008. The qui tam lawsuit aleges, among other things,
that we violated the False Claims Act by knowingly making false statements, and submitting fal se records or
statements, from at least 2001 to the present, to get false or fraudulent claims paid or approved, and asserts that we
improperly compensated certain of our enrollment counselorsin violation of the Title IV law governing
compensation of such employees, and as aresult, improperly received Title IV program funds. The complaint
specifically alleges that some of our compensation practices with respect to our enrollment personnel, including
providing non-cash awards, have violated the Title IV law governing compensation. While we believe that the
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compensation policies and practices at issue in the complaint have not been based on successin enrolling studentsin
violation of applicable law, the Department of Education’s regulations and interpretations of the incentive
compensation law do not establish clear criteriafor compliance in all circumstances, and some of these practices,
including the provision of non-cash awards, are not within the scope of any explicit “safe harbor” provided in the
compensation regulations. The complaint seeks treble the amount of unspecified damages sustained by the federal
government in connection with our receipt of Title IV funding, acivil penalty for each violation of the False Claims
Act, attorneys fees, costs, and interest. The Company filed a motion to dismiss this case in November 2008, which
was denied by the court in February 2009, and it has continued to vigorously contest this lawsuit. We cannot
presently predict the ultimate outcome of this litigation or any liability or other sanctions that may result.

Pursuant to the court’s mandatory scheduling order, we have entered into a settlement discussions with respect to
the qui tam matter with the relator. In connection with such discussions, we have reached a settlement in principle
with the relator pursuant to which we have agreed to pay $5.2 million to finally resolve the qui tam case and thereby
avoid the cost and distraction of a potentially protracted trial. We have accrued that amount in the accompanying
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. This settlement is conditioned upon obtaining the
approval of the U.S. Department of Justice (which has authority to approve settlement of False Claims Act matters)
and the Department of Education with respect to the resolution of the OIG investigation, and finalizing settlement
terms that would release us from other False Claims Act cases based upon the conduct covered by the settlement.
The parties and the United States government continue to negotiate towards afinal settlement. The ultimate
dismissal of the action, should afinal settlement be reached, is subject to the court’s approval. Should the parties fail
to conclude the settlement on the proposed or other terms, we intend to vigorously defend this lawsuit.

If it were determined that any of our compensation practices violated the incentive compensation law, we could
experience an adverse outcome in the qui tam litigation and be subject to substantial monetary liabilities, fines, and
other sanctions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition
and results of operations and could adversely affect our stock price.

From time to time, we are subject to ordinary and routine litigation incidental to our business. While the
outcomes of these matters are uncertain, management does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters
will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Submission of Mattersto a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and | ssuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Mar ket I nfor mation

Our common stock trades on the Nasdag Global Market under the symbol “LOPE.” The holders of our common
stock are entitled to one vote per share on any matter to be voted upon by stockholders. All shares of common stock
rank equally asto voting and all other matters. The shares of common stock have no preemptive or conversion
rights, no redemption or sinking fund provisions, are not liable for further call or assessment and are not entitled to
cumulative voting rights.

The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock, as reported by the Nasdag Global
Market, between November 20, 2008, the day we began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market in connection with
our initial public offering of common stock, and the end of the 2009 fiscal year.

High Low

2008

FOUMN QUAITET .......eeeeeeteeeeeeteet ettt st eae et ae st et te et et ese st et ese et e besese st ete st etese s etesessstensseesnnsetens $ 1912 $ 949
2009

T 6 AU (= T $ 20.80 $ 1253
RS S 000 010 N @)1 = (= $ 1735 % 12.74
LI TT (o O U= = T $ 1952 $ 15.69
o U5 {1 U= (= T $ 19.88 $ 15.96
Holders

As of December 31, 2009, there were approximately 26 registered holders of record of common stock. A
substantially greater number of holders of common stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, whose shares are
held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividends

On November 19, 2008, our registration statement for our initial public offering of common stock became
effective. In theinitial public offering, we sold 10,500,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of $12.00
per share, before underwriting discounts and commissions. On November 26, 2008, the underwriters elected to
exercisein full their option to purchase an additional 1,575,000 shares at the initial public offering price to cover
over-allotments. Aggregate net proceeds to us were approximately $134.8 million, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions and before offering expenses. On September 26, 2008, our Board of Directors approved
the payment of a specia distribution to our stockholders of record immediately prior to the initial public offering to
be paid from the proceeds of the initial public offering (including any proceeds resulting from sales of shares
pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option) in the amount of 75% of the gross offering proceeds. On
November 25, 2008, we distributed $94.5 million in the initial public offering and, on December 3, 2008, we
distributed an additional $14.2 million in connection with the underwriters' exercise of their over-allotment option.
The specia distribution was paid on an as converted basis to our common and preferred shareholders of record as of
November 18, 2008.

We currently intend to retain all future earnings for the operation and expansion of our business and do not
anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is provided under Item 12, Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters, “Equity Compensation Plan
Information,” which isincorporated herein by reference.

Company Stock Performance

The following graph compares the cumulative 13-month return of holders of our common stock with the
cumulative total returns of the S& P 500 Index, the NASDAQ Composite index, our old peer group of four
companies that includes: Capella Education Company, American Public Education, Inc., Apollo Group Inc., and
Strayer Education Inc; and a new peer group that includes all four companies from the old peer group plus
Education Management Corporation and Bridgepoint Education, Inc. This chart assumes that an investment of $100
was made in our common stock, in the index, and in the peer group on November 20, 2008 and that al dividends
paid by us (other than the special distribution) and such companies were reinvested, and tracks the relative
performance of such investments through December 31, 2009.

COMPARISON OF 13 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Amang Grand Canyon Education, ne., Tha S&P 500 Indax
And The MASDAQ Composite Index

&80

560

40

£20

108 1104 1208 105 208 3309 409 508 609 TOS A0S S09 1008 1008 1209
—8— Grand Caryen Education, Ing. — = — S&P 500
==« - - NASDAQ Composite —#%— Old Peer Group
—— New Peer Group

F100 mvested on 112008 in stock or 103108 inindex, including reivvestment of dividends,
Fiscal yaar anding Decarmber 31,

Copyright@ 2010 S&P, a division of The MoGraw -Hil Cormparies Inc. Al rights reserved,
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1108 11/08 12/08 _1/09 2/09  _3/09 _4/09 _5/09
Grand Canyon Education, Inc. ............... 100.00 125.23 158.48 146.24 143.63 14565 137.97 114.43
S&P 500......ccietiiieeie e 100.00 92.83 9381 8591 76.76 8348 9147 96.59
NASDAQ COMPOSIte.....ccccerverrererrierennns 100.00 89.99 9281 87.08 81.62 89.96 100.59 104.30
Old Peer Group.....cccceeveerevienrereseereeseesenans 100.00 115.66 112.62 117.80 103.71 111.15 94.79 89.95
New Peer Group......cccoeeeevveeeesierereseerennans 100.00 112.86 110.37 114.62 103.04 91.28 77.84 74.49

6/09 7/09 8/09 9/09 10/09 _11/09 _12/09
Grand Canyon Education, Inc. .............. 141.60 14776 146.84 15046 136.88 161.77 160.42
SE P 500......ceiiririnerieereseeeesee e 96.78 104.10 107.86 111.88 109.80 116.39 118.64
NASDAQ COMPOSItE...ccovervrrrererererrrnenens 108.02 116.39 11859 12508 120.89 126.96 134.06
Old Peer GroUpP...coueeeeeeerereeerereerenereeseenens 107.61 10486 100.14 11055 9152 9133 97.22
New Peer Group.....covevreeererereenerennenens 89.68 8784 8418 9149 7619 7597  80.07

Copyright © 2009 Standard & Poor’s, adivision of The McGraw-Hill CompaniesInc. All rights reserved.

(www.researchdatagroup.com/S& P.htm)

The information contained in the performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed”
with the SEC nor shall such information be deemed incorporated by reference into any future filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such

filing.

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price

performance.

66



Item 6. Selected Financial and Other Data

The following selected financial and other data should be read in conjunction with Item 8, Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data, and Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, to fully understand factors that may affect the comparability of the information presented below. The
selected statement of operations and other data, excluding period end enrollment, for the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008, and 2007, and the selected balance sheet data as of December 31, 2009, and 2008, have been derived
from our audited financial statements for such years, which are included herein. The selected statement of operations
and other data, excluding period end enrollment, for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the selected
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007, and 2006, have been derived from our audited financial statements for
such years, which are not included herein. The selected balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005 has been
derived from our unaudited financial statements for such year, which are not included herein. Our historical results
are not necessarily indicative of our results for any future period.

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

NEL TEVENUE.......cveiveieeete e $ 261902 $ 161,309 $ 99326 $ 72,111 $ 51,793
Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and Services.........ccoceevueneee. 87,592 54,450 39,050 31,287 28,063
Selling and promotional...........cccccevevviereneennne 85,405 65,551 35,148 20,093 14,047
General and administrative..........ccocoveeereienne 35,619 26,825 17,001 15,011 12,968
Estimated litigation [0SS........ccccoevvvvvceereenne 5,200 — — — —
Estimated exit COSLS.......cuvvrvrireiriiniecresienene 1,218 — — — —
Royalty to former OWner........cocecvvveeecvereeneenn 296 1,686 3,782 2,678 1,619
Total costs and EXPENSES.........cccvrveereerrenenns 215,330 148,512 94,981 69,069 56,697
Operating income (10SS)......ccoererererieeiiereenieninee 46,572 12,797 4,345 3,042 (4,904)
INEErESt EXPENSE ..ot (1,613) (2,897) (2,975) (2,827) (3,098)
INtEreSt INCOME .....ccveeieeieeeee e 324 640 1,172 912 276
Income (loss) before income taxes............ccc...... 45,283 10,540 2,542 1,127 (7,726)
Income tax expense (ben€efit) .....ccovvveeeevernnennnns 17,979 3,855 1,016 529 (3,440)
Net inCOME (0SS) ....vveeeeeeierernieresereeeereereesee e 27,304 6,685 1,526 598 (4,286)
Preferred dividends............ccoceeevecvcieicreiesenennns — (938) (349 (527) —
Net income available (loss attributable) to
common StOCKNOIAErS. ........ccevervrerireririsieieenenens $ 27304 $ 5747 $ 1177 $ 71 $ (4,286)
Earnings (loss) per common share
BaSIC ..ot $ 060 $ 026 $ 006 $ 000 $ (023
DIlUtE ...t $ 060 $ 017 $ 003 $ 000 $ (023

Shares used in computing earnings (10ss) per
common share
BESIC ..ot 45,184 22,185 18,923 18,853 18,470
DIlULE ... 45,503 33,430 35,143 36,858 18,470

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Other Data:
Capital eXpenditures..........ccceeevevevevevcecerereeeenns $ 24760 $ 8374 $ 7406 $ 2387 $ 817
Purchase of campus land and buildings.............. $ 35505 $ — % — 3 — $ —
Depreciation and amortization.............cccceeeeunee. $ 790 $ 509 $ 3300 $ 239 $ 1,879
Adjusted EBITDAY .....oveeeeeeeeee e $ 65119 $ 25675 $ 11,723 $ 9074 $ (895)
Period end enrollment:
ONIINE ..t 34,596 21,955 12,497 8,406 6,212
GrOUNG ..ot e 3,113 2,681 2,257 2,256 2,210
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As of December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable

SECUNities — UNrestricted .......cococeeeeeeeveeeeevcvcrcnenne, $ 63101 % 35627 % 18930 $ 11535 $ 544
Cash, cash equivalents and investments —

=S 1ol = o SRS 3,233 5,125 7,578 5,900 2,035
TOtal BSSELS ...oovevvieeeerieee s 174,738 116,990 88,568 61,232 51,859
Capital lease obligations (including short-term)...... 1,619 30,509 29,228 29,728 24,789
Notes payable and other (including short-term) ...... 27,555 1,816 2,408 2,462 2,635
Preferred StoCK ... — — 31,948 21,390 25,590
Total stockholders /member s equity (deficit)........ 86,028 53590 (10,386) (11,723) (12,111)

(1) Adjusted EBITDA isdefined as net income (loss) plusinterest expense net of interest income, plus income tax
expense (benefit), and plus depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), as adjusted for (i) royalty payments
incurred pursuant to an agreement with our former owner that was terminated as of April 15, 2008, as discussed
in Item 7, Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Factors
affecting comparability — Settlement with former owner, and Note 2 to our financial statements that are
included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data; (ii) management fees and expenses that are
no longer paid; (iii) contributions made to Arizona school tuition organizationsin lieu of payments of state
income taxes; (iv) estimated litigation loss; (v) exit costs; and (vi) share-based compensation.

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we consider it to be an important supplemental measure of our operating
performance. We also make certain compensation decisions based, in part, on our operating performance, as
measured by Adjusted EBITDA, and our |oan agreement requires us to comply with covenants that include
performance metrics substantially similar to Adjusted EBITDA. All of the adjustments made in our calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA are adjustments to items that management does not consider to be reflective of our core operating
performance. Management considers our core operating performance to be that which can be affected by our
managersin any particular period through their management of the resources that affect our underlying revenue and
profit generating operations during that period.

Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA:
¢ indeveloping our internal budgets and strategic plan;
e asameasurement of operating performance;
« asafactor in evaluating the performance of our management for compensation purposes,
e to, in part, assess compliance with our loan agreement; and
« inpresentations to the members of our board of directors to enable our board to have the same
measurement basis of operating performance as are used by management to compare our current
operating results with corresponding prior periods and with the results of other companies in our industry.
However, Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized measurement under GAAP, and when analyzing our operating
performance, investors should use Adjusted EBITDA in addition to, and not as an aternative for, net income,
operating income, or any other performance measure presented in accordance with GAAP, or as an aternative to
cash flow from operating activities or as a measure of our liquidity. Because not all companies use identical
calculations, our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other

companies. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, as discussed under Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Non-GAAP Discussion.
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The following table presents data relating to Adjusted EBITDA, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

NEL INCOME.....uiuiiiiietetetetetetete ettt ettt b se e s ss bt bebebebesese s s s ssesebebetete $ 27304% 66853 1526
Plus: interest expense net of iNterest iNCOME..........ccooviirinenerieeie e 1,289 2,257 1,803
PIUS: INCOME tAX EXPENSE. ... .eeueiiiierte ettt se et sae e e e e e 17,979 3,855 1,016
Plus: depreciation and amortiZation...........cceceeeeerereienenieee e 7,664 5,095 3,300
EBIT DA ettt e et e e et e e e e e e e e st e e e e e ate e e e e nreeeaareaaaas 54,236 17,892 7,645
Plus: royalty to fOrmer OWNEr® ............ccccueveveeeveeeeeeeeseeere st ses s senees 296 1,686 3,782
Plus: management fees and EXPENSES™ ........ccveeeeeeeesveereeesessssessesesesssenenes — 356 296
Plus: contributions made in lieu of state incometaxes' .........c.ccccoceveeurieennnee. 750 750 —
Plus: estimated litigation [0SSY ...........cccueveeeerreeeeeee e ses e enees 5,200 — —
PIUS. €XIt COSIS® ...ttt 1,218 — —
Plus: share-based compensation................coerveeereeereseecseseee st esesessenees 3419 4,991 —
F o NS (o =1 $ 651193% 25675 $ 11723

(a) Reflectsthe royalty fee arrangement with the former owner of Grand Canyon University in which we agreed to
pay a stated percentage of cash revenue generated by our online programs. As aresult of a 2008 settlement of a
dispute with the former owner, we are no longer obligated to pay this royalty, although the settlement included a
prepayment of future royalties that we amortize over time. See Item 7, Management’ s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Factors affecting comparability — Settlement with former
owner, and Note 2 to our financia statements that are included in Item 8, Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

(b) Reflects management fees and expenses to the general partner of Endeavour Capital Fund 1V, L.P., one of our
significant stockholders. Concurrent with the completion of theinitial public offering in November 2008, the
professional services agreement pursuant to which these fees and expenses were paid terminated by its terms.

(c) Reflects contributions made to various Arizona school tuition organizations to assist with funding for education.
In connection with such contributions made we received a dollar-for-dollar state income tax credit, which
resulted in areduction in our effective income tax rate to 39.7% and 36.6% for the years ended December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively. Had these contributions not been made, our effective tax rate would have been
40.7% and 40.8%, for 2009 and 2008, respectively. Such contributions are viewed by our management to be
made in lieu of payments of state income taxes and are therefore excluded from evaluation of our core operating
performance.

(d) Reflectsan accrual of $5.2 million for an estimated litigation settlement that has been reached in principle but is
conditioned upon obtaining governmental approval and finalizing settlement terms. See Item 8, Financial
Satements and Supplementary Data, and Part |, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

(e) Represents exit costs related to the closure of a student services facility in Utah, including termination benefits,
relocation expenses and the future lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, plus the write off of
leasehold improvements associated with the leased space.

(f) Reflects share-based compensation expense relating to stock and option grants made to employees and directors
in connection with our initial public offering and thereafter.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should beread in
conjunction with our financial statements and related notes that appear in Item 8, Financial Satements and
Supplementary Data. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion contains forward-
looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those
discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in Item 1A, Risk Factors and
Forward-Looking Statements.

Executive Overview

We are aregionally accredited provider of online postsecondary education services focused on offering graduate
and undergraduate degree programsin our core disciplines of education, business, and healthcare. In addition to our
online programs, we offer ground programs at our traditional campusin Phoenix, Arizona and onsite at the facilities
of employers. At December 31, 2009, we had approximately 37,700 students, an increase of 53.1% over 24,600
students at December 31, 2008. At December 31, 2009, 91.7% of students were enrolled in our online programs,
with 42.7% pursuing master’s or doctoral degrees.

During fiscal year 2009, we experienced the following significant events:

» Enrollment, Net Revenue, and Operating Income Growth — We achieved 53.1% growth in enrollment
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, which
was the primary factor contributing to a 62.4% increase in net revenue over the same period. In addition,
we increased tuition for studentsin our online and professional studies programs from 2.3% to 15.5%,
depending on the program, with an estimated blended rate increase of 5.0% for our 2009-10 academic
year as compared to 5.0% to 5.3% for our 2008-09 academic year. Tuition for our traditional ground
programs increased 6.6% for our 2009-10 academic year, as compared to 11.2% for the prior academic
year. The enrollment and tuition price increases were partially offset by the continuing mix shift towards
online programs, which have alower tuition price per credit hour and with respect to which our online
students take fewer credit hours per semester than our traditional ground students. Operating income was
$46.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of 264% over the $12.8 millionin
operating income for 2008.

» Spirit transaction and related borrowings — On April 28, 2009, we acquired the land and buildings that
comprise our ground campus and 909,348 shares of our common stock from Spirit for an aggregate
purchase price of $50 million. Prior to the acquisition, we had leased the land and buildings from Spirit.
To finance a portion of the purchase, we entered into a note agreement with afinancial institution
pursuant to which we borrowed $25.7 million. Under the terms of the loan agreement, we make principal
payments in equal monthly installments of approximately $143,000 plus accrued interest at 30 day
LIBOR plus 3.5% (approximately 3.7% at December 31, 2009). All remaining unpaid principal isdueon
April 30, 2014. We alocated $14.5 million to the repurchase of our common stock and the remaining
$35.5 million to the land and buildings. Additionally, we removed the building and improvement assets
and related capital lease obligations of $30.0 million and applied the deferred gain of $1.4 million asa
reduction to the new building value. Accordingly, beginning in May 2009, our interest expense became
lower as the effective interest rate for the capital lease obligations was approximately 8.7% as compared
to the 3.8% variable rate on our note payable.

» Changein Online Faculty — Effective July 1, 2009, all faculty were converted from independent
contractors to part-time employees. Previously, we classified our pool of online faculty as independent
contractors. As aresult, our employer taxes included in faculty compensation within instructional costs
and services increased in the third and fourth quarter of 2009 as compared to 2008 by approximately $0.8
million.
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» Secondary Offering — In September 2009, we sold 6,900,000 shares of common stock, consisting of
1,000,000 shares sold by us and 5,900,000 shares sold by certain selling stockholders. Total net proceeds
to us were $14.9 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. We did
not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common stock sold by the selling shareholders. We
expect to use the net proceeds from the offering for general corporate purposes.

e Exit Costs— On November 5, 2009, we finalized a plan to centralize our student services operationsin
Arizonaand, as aresult, decided to close our student services facility in Utah. Thisdecision resulted in a
reduction in force of approximately 50 employees. The exit costs, which related to the closure of our
student services facility in Utah, include termination benefits, relocation of employees, and future lease
payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, plus the write off of leasehold improvements associated with
the leased space. Exit costs of approximately $1.2 million were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2009.

»  Appointment of Director — On October 8, 2009 and November 6, 2009, the Board of Directors appointed
Jerry Colangelo to our Board of Directors and Audit Committee, respectively, for aterm expiring at the
2010 annual meeting of stockholders, or until his respective successor is elected or qualified or his earlier
resignation or removal. With the addition of Mr. Colangelo to our Audit Committee, we have atotal of
three independent directors on this committee.

« Estimated litigation loss— OIG Investigation and Qui Tam Law Suit — In recent years, several for-profit
education companies have been faced with whistleblower lawsuits, known as*“ qui tam” cases, brought
by current or former employees alleging that their institution had made impermissible incentive payments
to admissions employees. In thisregard, on September 11, 2008, we were served with a qui tam lawsuit
that had been filed against usin August 2007 in the United States District Court for the District of
Arizona by athen-current employee on behalf of the federal government. During the third quarter of
fiscal year 2009, we recorded an accrua of $5.2 million for alitigation settlement that has been reached
in principle but is conditioned upon obtaining governmental approval and finalizing settlement terms. See
Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, and Part |, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

« Srategic decision to implement new back office systems — During 2009, we decided to transition our
online programs from a“term-based” financial aid system (where al students including online students,
begin programs and are eligible to receive financial aid at periodic start dates pursuant to a calendar-
based term system) to a “borrower-based” financial aid system (where each student may begin a program
and be dligible to receive financia aid at any time throughout the year). As part of thistransition, we are
converting our back office system from Datatel, Inc. to a series of programs developed by Campus
Management Corp., including CampusV ue and CampusPortal, and also implementing Microsoft’' s Great
Plains accounting system. These new systems are intended to allow us to manage our non-traditional
online students with greater ease and flexibility by providing for rolling and flexible start dates. We
incurred approximately $3.6 million of capital expenditures during 2009 in connection with these
implementations which are expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2010.

Key financial metrics
Net revenue

Net revenue consists principally of tuition, room and board charges attributable to students residing on our
ground campus, application and graduation fees, and fees from educational resources such as access to online
materials or commissions we earn from bookstore and publication sales, less scholarships. Factors affecting our net
revenue include: (i) the number of students who are enrolled and who remain enrolled in our courses; (ii) the number
of credit hours per student; (iii) our degree and program mix; (iv) changesin our tuition rates; (v) the amount of the
scholarships that we offer; and (vi) the number of students housed in, and the rent charged for, our on-campus
student apartments and dormitories.
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We define enrollments for a particular time period as the number of students registered in a course for each
program within that financial reporting period. We offer three 16-week semestersin a calendar year, with up to four
starts available per semester for our online students, two starts available per semester for students who typically take
evening courses on-campus or onsite at the facilities of their employer, whom we refer to as professional studies
ground students, and one start available per semester for our traditional ground students. Enrollments are a function
of the number of continuing students at the beginning of each period and new enrollments during the period, which
are offset by graduations, withdrawals, and inactive students during the period. Inactive students for a particular
period include students who are not registered in a class and, therefore, are not generating net revenue for that
period, but who have not withdrawn from Grand Canyon University.

We believe that the principal factors that affect our enrollments and net revenue are the number and breadth of
the programs we offer; the attractiveness of our program offerings and learning experience, particularly for career-
oriented adults who are seeking pay increases or job opportunities that are directly tied to higher educational
attainment; the effectiveness of our marketing, recruiting and retention efforts, which is affected by the number and
seniority of our enrollment counselors and other recruiting personnel; the quality of our academic programs and
student services; the convenience and flexibility of our online delivery platform; the availability and cost of federal
and other funding for student financial aid; the seasonality of our net revenue, which is enrollment driven and is
typically lowest in our second fiscal quarter and highest in our fourth fiscal quarter; and general economic
conditions, particularly as they might affect job prospectsin our core disciplines.

The following is a summary of our student enrollment at December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 (which included
less than 200 students pursuing non-degree certificates in each period) by degree type and by instructional delivery
method:

December 31,
2009 2008 2007
# of Students % of Total # of Students % of Total # of Students % of Total
Graduate degree™..... 16,097 42.7% 13,031 52.9% 9,156 62.1%
Undergraduate
degree .....ooeveiennn. 21,612 57.3% 11,605 47.1% 5,598 37.9%
Total.....ooeeeeeeiieeees 37,709 100.0% 24,636 100.0% 14,754 100.0%
December 31,
2009 2008 2007
# of Students % of Total # of Students % of Total  #of Students % of Total
onling? ... 34,596 91.7% 21,955 89.1% 12,497 84.7%
Ground?............... 3,113 8.3% 2,681 10.9% 2,257 15.3%
Total....ooovveeeeereee. 37,709 100.0% 24,636 100.0% 14,754 100.0%

@ Includes 315 and 56 students pursuing doctoral degrees at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
@ Asof December 31, 2009, 44.5% of our online students are pursuing graduate or doctoral degrees.
@ Includes our traditional on-campus students, as well as our professional studies students.

For the 2009-10 academic year (the academic year that began in May 2009), our prices per credit hour are $415
for undergraduate online and professional studies courses, $440 for graduate online courses (other than graduate
business and graduate nursing), $485 for graduate business courses, $535 for graduate online nursing courses, and
$688 for undergraduate courses for ground students. For our active duty and active reserve online and professional
studies students, our prices per credit hour are $250 for undergraduate and $350 for graduate. The overall price of
each course varies based upon the number of credit hours per course (with most courses representing three credit
hours), the degree level of the program, and the discipline. In addition, we charge a fixed $8,250 “block tuition” for
undergraduate ground students taking between 12 and 18 credit hours per semester, with an additional $688 per
credit hour for creditsin excess of 18. A traditional undergraduate degree typically requires a minimum of 120 credit
hours. The minimum number of credit hours required for a master’s degree and overall cost for such a degree varies
by program, although such programstypically require approximately 36 credit hours. Our doctoral program in
education was $770 per credit hour during 2009 but was reduced to $550 per credit hour beginning January 1, 2010.
The doctoral program requires approximately 60 credit hours.

72



Based on current tuition rates, tuition for afull program would equate to approximately $16,000 for an online
master’s program, approximately $50,000 for a full four-year online bachelor’ s program, and approximately $55,000
for afull four-year bachelor’'s program taken on our ground campus. The tuition amounts referred to above assume
no reductions for transfer credits or scholarships, which many of our students utilize to reduce their total program
costs. The amount of tuition received from a student for afull program is reduced to the extent the student is able to
transfer credits from another institution, which many students are able to do. Additionally, tuition is reduced for
some of our students by scholarships. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, revenue was reduced
by approximately $34.2 million, $18.4 million and $10.3 million, respectively, as aresult of scholarships that we
offered to our students. The increase in scholarshipsis due to increased revenues and a significant increase in the use
of academic scholarshipsto attract high performing students.

Tuition increased for students in our online and professional studies ground programs from 2.3% to 15.5%,
depending on the program, which resulted in an estimated blended rate increase of 5.0% for our 2009-10 academic
year as compared to 5.0% to 5.3% in the prior academic year. Tuition increases have not historically been, and may
not in the future be, consistent across our programs due to market conditions and differences in operating costs of
individual programs. Tuition for our traditional ground programs increased 6.6% for our 2009-10 academic year, as
compared to 11.2% for the prior academic year. The lower increases for our programs for the current academic year
generaly reflect the ongoing leverage caused by increased online enrollment and a concerted effort to control costs
so that debt levels of students are reasonable.

We derive amgjority of our net revenue from tuition financed by the Title IV programs. For the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we derived cash receipts equal to approximately 79.9%, 74.4% and 70.2%,
respectively, of our net revenue from Title IV programs. Our students also rely on scholarships, personal savings,
private loans, and employer tuition reimbursements to pay a portion of their tuition and related expenses. During
fiscal 2009, payments derived from private loans constituted approximately 0.9% of our net revenue. Third party
lenders independently determine whether aloan to a student is classified as subprime, and, based on these
determinations, we derived no payments from subprime loans during the year ended December 31, 2009. Our future
revenues could be affected if and to the extent the Department of Education restricts our participation in the Title IV
programs, asit did during the period between 2005 and 2007. Current conditions in the credit markets have
adversely affected the environment surrounding access to and cost of student loans. The legislative and regulatory
environment is also changing, and new federal legislation was recently enacted or has been proposed that could have
an impact on us. See “Risk Factors’” and “Regulation — Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs.”
We do not believe these market and regulatory conditions have adversely affected us to date, but we cannot predict
whether the new legislation will improve accessto Title IV funding or the impact of any of these developments on
future performance.

Costs and expenses

Instructional cost and services. Instructional cost and services consist primarily of costs related to the
administration and delivery of our educational programs, including electronic media. This expense category includes
salaries and benefits for full-time and adjunct faculty and administrative personnel, costs associated with online
faculty, information technology costs, curriculum and new program development costs, and costs associated with
other support groups that provide service directly to the students. This category also includes an allocation of
depreciation, amortization, rent, and occupancy costs attributable to the provision of educational services. Classroom
facilities are leased or, in some cases, are provided by the students’ employers at no charge to us. We continue to
increase our spending on student and academic services, and we expect instructional costs and servicesasa
percentage of tuition and other net revenue to remain flat as these additional costs are offset by leverage of our
support services that are in place over alarger tuition and enrollment base.

Selling and promotional. Selling and promotional expenses include salaries and benefits of personnel engaged in
the marketing, recruitment, and retention of students, as well as advertising costs associated with purchasing leads,
hosting events and seminars, producing marketing materials, and our ad campaignsin Arizona. Our selling and
promotional expenses are generally affected by the cost of advertising media and leads, the efficiency of our
marketing and recruiting efforts, salaries, and benefits for our enrollment personnel, and expenditures on advertising
initiatives for new and existing academic programs. This category also includes an allocation of depreciation,
amortization, rent, and occupancy costs attributable to selling and promotional activities. Selling and promotional
costs are expensed as incurred.
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We have more than quadrupled the number of our enrollment counselors over the past four yearsin an effort to
increase our recruiting activities and enroll prospective students. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we
added between 10 and 15 enrollment counselors per month. We intend to continue to increase the number of our
enrollment counselors at arate similar to 2009 to increase enrollment and enhance student retention, and to lease
additional space to accommodate thisincrease in personnel in the future. We incur immediate expensesin
connection with hiring new enrollment counselors while these individuals undergo training, and typically do not
achieve full productivity or generate enrollments from these enrollment counselors until four to six months after
their dates of hire.

Selling and promotional costs also include revenue share arrangements with related parties pursuant to which we
pay a percentage of the net revenue that we actually receive from applicants recruited by those entities that
matriculate at Grand Canyon University. The related party bears all costs associated with the recruitment of these
applicants. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, we expensed approximately $6.7 million, $5.9
million, and $4.3 million, respectively, pursuant to these arrangements. As we increase our internal recruiting,
marketing, and enrollment staff, we expect this revenue share as a proportion of total revenue to continue to decline.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses include salaries, benefits, and share-based
compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance, human resources, facilities, compliance,
insurance, audit fees and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses al so include bad debt
expense and an alocation of depreciation, amortization, rent and occupancy costs attributable to general and
administrative functions.

Interest expense. Interest expense consists primarily of interest charges on our notes payable, capital |ease
obligations and on the outstanding balances of our line of credit.

Factor s affecting compar ability

We have set forth bel ow selected factors that we believe have had, or can be expected to have, a significant
effect on the comparability of recent or future results of operations:

Spirit transaction and related borrowings. In April 2009, we acquired the land and buildings that comprise our
ground campus and 909,348 shares of our common stock from Spirit for an aggregate purchase price of $50 million.
To finance a portion of the purchase, we entered into a note agreement with afinancial institution pursuant to which
we borrowed $25.7 million. We removed the building and improvement assets and related capital lease obligations
of $30.0 million. Accordingly, beginning in May 2009, our interest expense became lower as the effective interest
rate for the capital lease obligations was approximately 8.7% as compared to the 3.8% variable rate on our note
payable.

Public company expenses. In November 2008, we completed an initial public offering of shares of our common
stock and our shares are listed for trading on the Nasdag Global Market. Asaresult, we now need to comply with
laws, regulations, and requirements that we did not need to comply with as a private company, including certain
provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, related SEC regulations, and the requirements of Nasdag.
Compliance with the requirements of being a public company required usto increase our general and administrative
expenses in order to pay our employees, legal counsel, and accountants to assist us in, among other things, external
reporting, instituting and monitoring a more comprehensive compliance and board governance function, establishing
and maintaining internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, and preparing and distributing periodic public reports in compliance with our obligations under the federal
securities laws. In addition, being a public company has made it more expensive for usto obtain director and officer
liability insurance. We estimate that incremental annual public company costs were between $3.0 million and $4.0
million in fiscal 2009.
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Share-based compensation. Prior to becoming a public company, we had not granted or issued any share-based
compensation. Accordingly, we had not recognized any share-based compensation expense in prior periods. On
November 19, 2008, in connection with our initial public offering, we made substantial awards to our directors,
officers, and employees and have continue to make awards since that time, principally in connection with new
management hires. As aresult, we incurred share-based compensation expensesin the year ended December 31,
2009 and 2008 totaling $3.4 million and $5.0 million, respectively, and will continue to incur expensein future
periods as compared to no share-based compensation in the periods prior to September 30, 2008.

General and administrative expenses and tax expense. In July 2008, we hired a new Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, and Executive Vice President, and have since hired other financial, accounting, and
administrative personnel including a Chief Information Officer in September 2009. Accordingly, compensation
expenses are higher beginning in the third quarter of 2008.

In addition, we contributed $0.8 million to Arizona schoal tuition organizationsin lieu of state income taxes
during the fourth quarter of 2009 and 2008, for which we received a dollar-for-dollar tax credit. These contributions
were classified as a general and administrative expense and resulted in higher operating expenses and a lower
effective tax rate. Had these payments not been made our effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2009
and 2008 would have been 40.7% and 40.8% rather than 39.7% and 36.6%, respectively.

Estimated litigation loss. During the third quarter of 2009, we recorded an accrual of $5.2 million for alitigation
settlement that has been reached in principle but is conditioned upon obtaining governmental approval and finalizing
settlement terms. See Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, and Part |, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

Exit costs. During the fourth quarter of 2009, we recorded $1.2 million for the exit costs related to the closure of
the student services facility in Utah, including termination benefits, relocation expenses and the future lease
payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, plus the write off of leasehold improvements associated with the leased
space.

Management fees and expenses. In connection with an August 2005 investment in us led by the Endeavour
Entities, we entered into a professional services agreement with the Endeavour Entities’ general partner. Concurrent
with the completion of the public offering, the professional services agreement terminated by itsterms. For the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, we incurred $0.0 million, $0.4 million, and $0.3 million, respectively, in
fees and expenses under this agreement.

Settlement with former owner. To resolve a dispute with our former owner arising from our acquisition of
Grand Canyon University and subsequent lease of our campus, we entered into a standstill agreement in September
2007 pursuant to which we agreed with the former owner to stay all pending legal proceedings through April 15,
2008. In accordance with the terms of the standstill agreement, we made an initial non-refundable $3.0 million
payment to the former owner in October 2007 and made an additional $19.5 million payment to the former owner in
April 2008, with these amounts serving as consideration for: (i) the satisfaction in full of all past and future royalties
due to the former owner under aroyalty agreement; (ii) the acquisition by us of aparcel of real estate owned by the
former owner on our campus; (iii) the termination of a sublease agreement pursuant to which the former owner
leased office space on our campus; (iv) the assumption by us of all future payment obligationsin respect of certain
gift annuities made to the school by donors prior to the acquisition; (v) the cancellation of a warrant we issued to the
former owner in the lease transaction; and (vi) the satisfaction in full of a $1.25 million loan made by the former
owner to usin the lease transaction (including all accrued and unpaid interest thereon). Most of the amounts payable
to the former owner under the royalty arrangement in 2005, and all of the amounts payable in 2006 and 2007, were
accrued and not paid due to the dispute. A portion of the settlement payments has been treated as a prepaid royalty
asset that will be amortized over 20 years at approximately $0.3 million per year, which differs from the historical
royalty expense.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. During the
preparation of these financial statements, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses, and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those discussed below. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of
our analysis form the basis for making assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions, and the impact of such differences may be material to our financial statements.

We believe that the following critical accounting policies involve our more significant judgments and estimates
used in the preparation of our financial statements:

Revenue recognition. Net revenues consist primarily of tuition and fees derived from courses taught by us
online, at itstraditional campus in Phoenix, Arizona, and onsite at facilities of employers, as well as from related
educational resources such as access to online materials. Tuition revenue and most fees and related educational
resources are recognized over the applicable period of instruction, net of scholarships provided by us. Generally, we
will refund all or a portion of tuition already paid pursuant to our refund policy, dependent upon length of course
and modality and subject to certain state specific refund requirements. Deferred revenue and student depositsin any
period represent the excess of tuition, fees and other student payments received as compared to amounts recognized
as revenue on the statement of operations and are reflected as current liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet.
Our educational programs have starting and ending dates that differ from our quarters. Therefore, at the end of each
fiscal quarter, a portion of revenue from these programsis not yet earned. Other revenues may be recognized as
sales occur or services are performed.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. Bad debt expense is recorded as a general and administrative expense. We
record an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability, failure, or refusal of our
students to make required payments. We determine the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts based on an
analysis of our aging of our accounts receivable and historical bad debt experience. Our actual experience and the
qualitative factors that we use to determine the allowance for doubtful accounts are susceptible to change based on
unforeseen events and uncertainties. We assess the trends that could affect our estimates and make changes to the
allowance quarterly when it appears our actual bad debt experience may differ from our original estimates. We
apply reservesto each aging category based upon an estimate of the risk presented by the age of the receivables. We
assess the reasonableness of our estimation process by comparing actual and project write-offs as a percentage of
revenue on a course-by-course basis to the bad debt expense recorded in the general ledger to determine if the
composition of our accounts receivable has materially changed, which could indicate that modifications to the
allowance may be required. We generally write off accounts receivable balances deemed uncollectible at the time
the account is returned by an outside collection agency. However, we continue to reflect accounts receivable with
offsetting allowances as long as management believes there is a reasonable possibility of collection. As aresult, our
allowance for doubtful accounts has increased on an annual basis as bad debt expense has exceeded amounts written
off. Commencing in the second half of 2008, we began writing off existing and new doubtful accounts no later than
one year after the revenue is generated, which will likely result in a significant reduction in our gross accounts
receivable and related allowances. We believe our reserves are adequate to cover any write offs we may make. We
have noticed that as aresult of the current economic conditions, a higher percentage of aged receivables are not
being paid. However, this deterioration in collections of aged receivables has recently been more than offset by
changes that we have implemented with respect to our student accounts receivable collection process, which has
resulted in fewer accounts reaching aged status. Thus, the amount of aged receivables as a percentage of revenue has
remained consistent on ayear over year basis.

Long-Lived Assets. We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net
cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the
assets.
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Loss Contingencies. We are subject to various claims and contingencies in the ordinary course of business and
incidental to our industry, including those related to regulation, litigation, business transactions and taxes, among
others. We accrue for contingent obligations when it is probable that aliability has been incurred and the amount is
reasonably estimable. When we become aware of a claim or potential claim, the likelihood of any loss exposureis
assessed. If itis probable that aloss will result and the amount of the lossis estimable, we accrue for the estimated
amount of theloss. If the lossis not probable or the amount of the potential lossis not estimable, we disclose the
claimif the likelihood of a potential lossis reasonably possible and that the amount of the potential loss could be
material. Estimates that are particularly sensitive to future changes include tax, legal, and other regulatory matters,
which are subject to change as events evolve, and as additional information becomes available during the
administrative and litigation process.

Income taxes. We recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax
assets and liabilities for future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or
tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
temporary differences are expect to be realized. Our deferred tax assets are subject to periodic recoverability
assessments. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that
more likely than not will be realized. Realization of the deferred tax assetsis principally dependent upon
achievement of projected future taxable income offset by deferred tax liabilities. We evaluate the realizability of the
deferred tax assets annually. Since becoming ataxable corporation in August 2005, we have not recorded any
valuation allowances to date on our deferred income tax assets. Commencing in January 2008, we evaluate and
account for uncertain tax positions using a two step approach. Recognition occurs when we conclude that a tax
position based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement
determines the amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon the ultimate settlement with a
taxing authority that has full knowledge of the facts. Derecognition of atax position that was previously recognized
occurs when we determine that a tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained
upon examination.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth statements of operations data as a percentage of net revenue for each of the periods
indicated:

Y ear Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
INEL TEVENUE. ... ettt sttt st sttt et sae e sbesae e ebesae e etesaenentesaenentens 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Operating expenses
Instructional COSt aNd SEIVICES.........cccieiieiieee e 334 33.8 39.3
Selling and PromotionNal...........ccccvveieeeeieerere e 32.6 40.6 35.4
General and admiNiStratiVe........ccoeeveiee e e 13.6 16.6 17.1
Estimated litigation [0SS.........cccuviviiiiiiieeerese s e 2.0 0.0 0.0
(] oo = £SO 0.5 0.0 0.0
ROYalty 0 TOrMEr OWNEN .....c.eiece et nne 01 1.0 3.8
Total OPErating EXPENSES .....ccvereeriereerterieetesee e et sae e e e e e seeseesae s 82.2 92.1 95.6
(0] 07< = 110 [T 0070 0 2= 17.8 7.9 4.4
INEEIESE EXPENSE ...ttt ettt bt b et se bbb ae e b e (0.6) (1.8) (3.0
INEEIESE INCOMIE ...ttt et st re e b e e sae e e neesreenes 0.1 04 12
Income before INCOME LAXES........ccee e 17.3 6.5 2.6
INCOME 1AX EXPENSE ....veeveeeeeesteesieeseeeseesee st e seeeste e e eseesseesreesreesaeeeesneesneesneenseenes 6.9 24 1.0
NN 0T 1o L= SRS 10.4 4.1 1.6
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Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2008

Net revenue. Our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $261.9 million, an increase of $100.6
million, or 62.4%, as compared to net revenue of $161.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This
increase was primarily due to increased enrollment and, to alesser extent, increases in the average tuition per
student caused primarily by tuition price increases, partialy offset by an increase in institutional scholarships. End-
of-period enrollment increased 53.1% between December 31, 2009 and 2008, as we continued our growth and
increased our recruitment, marketing, and enrollment operations.

Instructional cost and services expenses. Our instructional cost and services expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2009 were $87.6 million, an increase of $33.1 million, or 60.9%, as compared to instructional cost
and services expenses of $54.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This increase was primarily due to
increases in instructional compensation and related expenses, faculty compensation, instructional supplies,
depreciation and amortization, occupancy and other miscellaneous instructional costs and services of $16.3 million,
$7.6 million, $2.6 million, $2.2 million, $2.2 million, and $2.2 million, respectively. These increases are primarily
attributable to the increased headcount (both staff and faculty) needed to provide student instruction and support
services, including increased occupancy and equipment costs for the increased headcount, as a result of the increase
in enrollments. Our instructional cost and services expenses as a percentage of net revenue decreased by 0.4% to
33.4% for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to 33.8% for the year ended December 31, 2008. This
decrease was a result of the continued shift of our student population to online programs and our ability to leverage
the relatively fixed cost structure of our campus-based facilities and ground faculty across an increasing revenue
base, as well asincreased class size, partialy offset by an increase in employee compensation and related expenses
as a percentage of revenue as we have increased the support personnel to student ratios to further improve the
customer service to our students.

Selling and promotional expenses. Our selling and promotional expenses for the year ended December 31, 2009
were $85.4 million, an increase of $19.9 million, or 30.3%, as compared to selling and promotional expenses of
$65.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This increase was primarily due to increasesin selling and
promotional employee compensation and related expenses, advertising and revenue sharing expense, occupancy, and
other selling and promational related costs of $11.0 million, $7.1 million, $1.5 million, and $0.3 million,
respectively. These increases were driven by the continued expansion in our marketing efforts, which resulted in an
increase in recruitment, marketing, and enrollment staffing, and expenses related to our revenue sharing
arrangement. Our selling and promotional expenses as a percentage of net revenue decreased by 8.0% to 32.6% for
the year ended December 31, 2009, from 40.6% for the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease occurred as a
result of an increase in the productivity of our enrollment counselors that were hired during 2008 and early 2009,
coupled with afocus on higher quality leads. In this regard, we incur immediate expenses in connection with hiring
new enrollment counsel ors while these individual s undergo training, and typically do not achieve full productivity or
generate enrollments from these enrollment counselors until four to six months after their dates of hire. We plan to
continue to add additional enrollment counselorsin the future, although the number of additional hires as a
percentage of the total headcount is expected to decrease, and we therefore expect selling and promotional expenses
as a percentage of net revenue to continue to decrease in the future.

General and administrative expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31,
2009 were $35.6 million, an increase of $8.8 million, or 32.8%, as compared to general and administrative expenses
of $26.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Thisincrease was primarily due to increasesin bad debt
expense, employee compensation, and share-based compensation, which were partially offset by decreasesin legal,
audit and corporate insurance of $5.5 million, $3.5 million, $0.6 million, and $0.8 million, respectively. Bad debt
expense increased to $14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 from $8.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 as aresult of an increase in net revenues and the increase in aged receivables between periods.
Employee compensation increased primarily as aresult of the full year impact of the additions made in July 2008 to
our executive management team and the subsequent hiring of other personnel needed to operate as a public
company. The decrease in legal, audit, and corporate insurance is primarily related to legal costs associated with the
Sungard matter incurred in 2008 and subsequently settled in 2009. Our general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of net revenue decreased by 3.0% to 13.6% for the year ended December 31, 2009, from 16.6% for the
year ended December 31, 2008, primarily due to a decrease in our legal costs as a percentage of net revenue between
periods during 2008 to 1.5% of net revenue during 2009 from 2.9% in 2008 and our ability to leverage our fixed
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infrastructure over higher net revenue. As aresult of current economic conditions, a higher percentage of aged
receivables are not being paid. However, this deterioration in collections of aged receivables has recently been more
than offset by changes that have been implemented with respected to our student accounts receivable collection
process, which has resulted in fewer accounts reaching aged status. Thus the amount of aged receivables and bad
debt expense as a percentage of revenue has remained comparabl e between years.

Estimated litigation loss. During the third quarter of 2009, we recorded an accrual of $5.2 million for the
estimated settlement of the qui tam lawsuit that has been reached in principle but is conditioned upon obtaining
governmental approval and finalizing settlement terms. See Item 8, Financial Satements and Supplementary Data,
and Part |, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

Exit costs. During the fourth quarter of 2009, we recorded $1.2 million for exit costs related to the closure of the
student services facility in Utah, including termination benefits, relocation expenses and the future lease payments,
net of estimated sublease rentals, plus the write off of leasehold improvements associated with the leased space.

Royalty to former owner. In connection with our royalty fee arrangement with the former owner related to online
revenue, we incurred royalty expenses for the year ended December 31, 2009 of $0.3 million, a decrease of $1.4
million, or 82.4%, as compared to royalty expenses incurred of $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2008
as aresult of the elimination of the obligation to pay royalties to the former owner effective April 15, 2008.

Interest expense. Our interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $1.6 million, a decrease of
$1.3 million, or 44.3%, from $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, as the average level of borrowings
and related interest rates changed as a result of the purchase of the campus land and buildingsin late April 2009
from an effective borrowing rate of approximately 8.7% to the 3.8% variable rate note payable as of December 31,
2009.

Interest income. Our interest income for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $0.3 million, a decrease of $0.3
million from $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, as aresult of decreased short-term interest ratesin
2009 partially offset by higher cash balance in 2009.

Income tax expense. Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $18.0 million, an increase
of $14.2 million from $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This increase was primarily attributable
to increased income before income taxes. Our effective tax rate increase from 36.6% in 2008 to 39.7% in 2009 as
the $0.8 million in contributions made to various Arizona school tuition organization in lieu of the payment of state
income taxes had a greater impact on the 2008 effective tax rate than the 2009 effective tax rate due to higher
income before taxes in 2009. Excluding the contributions made in lieu of state income taxes the effective tax rate
would have been 40.7% and 40.8% in 2009 and 2008.

Net income. Our net income for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $27.3 million, an increase of $20.6
million, or 308%, as compared to net income of $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, due to the
factors discussed above.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2007

Net revenue. Our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $161.3 million, an increase of $62.0
million, or 62.4%, as compared to net revenue of $99.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Thisincrease
was primarily due to increased enrollment and, to alesser extent, increases in the average tuition per student caused
by tuition price increases and an increase in the average credits per student, partially offset by an increase in
ingtitutional scholarships. End-of-period enrollment increased 67.0% between December 31, 2007 and 2008, as we
were able to continue our growth and increase our recruitment, marketing, and enrollment operations following the
elimination of the Department of Education’s growth restrictions in October 2006. The year over year increasein
enrollment exceeded the year over year increase in revenue due to the continuing mix shift towards online programs,
which have alower tuition price per credit hour and with respect to which our online students take fewer credit
hours per semester than our traditional ground students.
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Instructional cost and services expenses. Our instructional cost and services expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2008 were $54.5 million, an increase of $15.4 million, or 39.4%, as compared to instructional cost
and services expenses of $39.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily due to
increases in instructional compensation and related expenses, faculty compensation, share-based compensation,
depreciation and amortization, occupancy and other miscellaneous instructional costs and services of $4.9 million,
$4.2 million, $1.7 million, $1.3 million, $0.8 million, and $2.5 million, respectively. These increases are primarily
attributable to the increased headcount (both staff and faculty) needed to provide student instruction and support
services as a result of the increase in enrollments. Our instructional cost and services expenses as a percentage of net
revenue decreased by 5.5% to 33.8% for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to 39.3% for the year
ended December 31, 2007. This decrease was a result of the continued shift of our student population to online
programs and our ability to leverage the relatively fixed cost structure of our campus-based facilities and ground
faculty across an increasing revenue base, as well asincreased class size, partially offset by share-based
compensation, which represented 1.1% of net revenue in 2008.

Selling and promotional expenses. Our selling and promotional expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008
were $65.5 million, an increase of $30.4 million, or 86.5%, as compared to selling and promotional expenses of
$35.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily due to increasesin selling and
promotional employee compensation and related expenses, advertising, revenue sharing expense, share-based
compensation, and other selling and promotional related costs of $17.5 million, $8.3 million, $1.6 million, $1.3
million and $1.7 million, respectively. These increases were driven by a substantial expansion in our marketing
efforts following the removal of our growth restrictions by the Department of Education, which resulted in an
increase in recruitment, marketing, and enrollment staffing, and expenses related to our revenue sharing
arrangement. Our selling and promotional expenses as a percentage of net revenue increased by 5.2% to 40.6% for
the year ended December 31, 2008, from 35.4% for the year ended December 31, 2007. Thisincrease occurred as a
result of a significant increase in the number of our enrollment counselors to increase our efforts to enroll
prospective students and also increased lead purchases to support the additional enrollment counselors. In this
regard, we incur immediate expenses in connection with hiring new enrollment counsel ors while these individuals
undergo training, and typically do not achieve full productivity or generate enrollments from these enrollment
counselors until four to six months after their dates of hire. We plan to continue to add additional enrollment
counselorsin the future, although the number of additional hires as a percentage of the total headcount is expected to
decrease, and we therefore plan to reduce selling and promotional expenses as a percentage of net revenue in the
future. In addition share-based compensation represented 0.8% of net revenue in 2008.

General and administrative expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31,
2008 were $26.8 million, an increase of $9.8 million, or 57.8%, as compared to general and administrative expenses
of $17.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Thisincrease was primarily due to increasesin bad debt
expense; employee compensation; share-based compensation; legal, audit and corporate insurance; contributions to
Arizona school tuition organization in lieu of state income taxes; and other general and administrative expenses of
$2.2 million, $2.0 million, $1.9 million, $1.7 million, $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively. Bad debt expense
increased to $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 from $6.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2007 as aresult of an increase in net revenue. Employee compensation increased primarily as a result of the
additions in July 2008 to our executive management team and the hiring of other personnel needed to operate asa
public company. Theincrease in legal, audit, and corporate insurance is primarily related to legal costs associated
with the Sungard matter, as well as costsincurred related to the OIG investigation and the qui tam lawsuit. See Item
3, Legal Proceedings. The other general and administrative expense increase was attributabl e to expenditures made
to continue to support the growth of our business. Our general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net
revenue decreased by 0.5% to 16.6% for the year ended December 31, 2008, from 17.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2007, primarily due to adecrease in our bad debt expense as a percentage of net revenue between
periods from 6.3% of net revenue during 2007 to 5.3% of net revenue during 2008 and our ability to leverage our
fixed infrastructure over higher net revenue, partially offset by share-based compensation, which represented 1.2%
of net revenue in 2008. The improvement in bad debt expense as a percentage of net revenue is primarily dueto an
improvement in our aging between periods and an increased revenue base.
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Royalty to former owner. In connection with our royalty fee arrangement with the former owner related to online
revenue, we incurred royalty expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 of $1.7 million, a decrease of $2.1
million, or 55.4%, as compared to royalty expenses incurred of $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
as aresult of the elimination of the obligation to pay royalties to the former owner effective April 15, 2008. As
discussed above, the only related expense in future periods will be the approximately $0.3 million in annual
amortization of the prepaid royalty asset that was established as aresult of payments made to eliminate this future
obligation. Our royalty expense as a percentage of net revenue decreased to 1.0% for the year ended December 31,
2008 from 3.8% for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Interest expense. Our interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $2.9 million, a decrease of
$0.1 million from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, as the average level of borrowings remained
fairly consistent between periods.

Interest income. Our interest income for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $0.6 million, a decrease of $0.6
million from $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, as aresult of decreased interest rates and lower
levels of cash and cash equivalentsin most of 2008.

Income tax expense. Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $3.8 million, an increase of
$2.8 million from $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Thisincrease was primarily attributable to
increased income before income taxes, partially offset by a reduction in our effective tax rate as aresult of our $0.8
million in contributions made to various Arizona school tuition organizationsin lieu of the payment of state income
taxes. These contributions resulted in a state income tax credit, which reduced our effective income tax rate in 2008
to 36.6% compared to 40.0% in 2007.

Net income. Our net income for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $6.7 million, an increase of $5.2 million,
or 338.2%, as compared to net income of $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, due to the factors
discussed above.

Seasonality

Our net revenue and operating results normally fluctuate as a result of seasonal variationsin our business,
principally due to changesin enrollment. Student population varies as aresult of new enrollments, graduations, and
student attrition. A portion of our ground students do not attend courses during the summer months (June through
August), which affects our results for our second and third fiscal quarters. Because a significant amount of our
campus costs are fixed, the lower revenue resulting from the decreased enrollment has historically contributed to
operating losses during those period. As we increase the relative proportion of our online students and move to the
“borrower-based” system that allows rolling enrollments, we expect this summer effect to lessen. Partially offsetting
this summer effect in the third quarter has been the sequential quarterly increase in enrollments that has occurred as
aresult of the traditional fall school start. Thisincrease in enrollments also has occurred in the first quarter,
corresponding to calendar year matriculation. In addition, we typically experience higher net revenue in the fourth
quarter due to its overlap with the semester encompassing the traditional fall school start and in the first quarter due
to its overlap with the first semester of the calendar year. A portion of our expenses do not vary proportionately with
fluctuation in net revenue, resulting in higher operating income in the first and fourth quarters relative to other
quarters. We expect quarterly fluctuation in operating results to continue as a result of these seasonal patterns.

Liquidity, Capital Resour ces, and Financial Position

Liquidity. We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures primarily through cash provided by
operating activities and several private placements of securities. Our unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, and
marketable securities were $63.1 million at December 31, 2009 and our restricted cash, cash equivalents and
investments were $3.2 million.

During 2009, we acquired our campus land and buildings and repurchased 909,348 shares of our common stock

from Spirit. We financed a portion of the purchase price through aloan agreement with a financial institution for an
initial amount of $25.7 million.
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A significant portion of our net revenue is derived from tuition financed by the Title IV programs. Federal
regulations dictate the timing of disbursements under the Title IV programs. Students must apply for new loans and
grants each academic year, which starts July 1 for Title IV purposes. Loan funds are generally provided by lenders
in multiple disbursements for each academic year. The disbursements are usually received by the start of the second
week of the semester. These factors, together with the timing of our students beginning their programs, affect our
operating cash flow. We believe we have a favorable working capital profile asthese Title IV funds and a significant
portion of other tuition and fees are typically received by the start of the second week of a semester and the revenue
is recognized and the related expenses are incurred over the duration of the semester, which reduces the impact of
the growth in our accounts receivabl es associated with our enrollment growth.

Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we believe that our cash flow from operations
and other sources of liquidity, including cash, and cash equivalents, will provide adequate funds for ongoing
operations, planned capital expenditures, and working capital requirements for at least the next 24 months.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $61.2
million. Cash provided by operations in 2009 resulted from our net income plus non cash charges for provision for
bad debts, depreciation and amortization, estimated settlement loss, exit costs, share-based compensation and
improvement in our working capital management. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended
December 31, 2008 was $10.2 million. Excluding the payment of $19.5 million that was made to our former owner
in April 2008 to satisfy in full all past royalties due under the royalty agreement and the elimination of the existing
obligation to pay royalties for online student revenues in perpetuity, net cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31, 2008 would have been $22.5 million. Net cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31, 2007 was $7.1 million. Our operating cash flows were affected by our dispute with our
former owner; as previously discussed, during 2007 we accrued $3.8 million of royalties payable to our former
owner and funded a $3.0 million deposit in connection with a preliminary settlement of that dispute with our former
owner. Excluding the accrual and payment to our former owner, net cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31, 2007 would have been $6.3 million.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $58.4 million, $6.3 million, and $9.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. Our cash used in investing activitiesis primarily
related to the purchase of property and equipment, leasehold improvements, and changes in restricted cash and cash
equivalents. In 2009, cash used in investing activities was primarily related to the acquisition of our campus land
and buildings from Spirit, for $35.5 million. Other capital expenditures were $24.8 million, $8.4 million and $7.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. Capital expenditures primarily
consisted of purchases of computer equipment, leasehold improvements, infrastructure licenses to facilitate our
transition from Datatel to CampusV ue and Great Plains, and office furniture and fixtures to support our increasing
employee headcounts, and a significant increase in internal use software development. We anticipate capital
expenditures as a percentage of revenue to remain at levels comparable to 2009 in 2010 and 2011 as a result of
continued internal use software development and ground campus building projects.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $24.7 million, $12.3 million, and $9.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. During 2009, the proceeds from the
note payabl e associated with the acquisition of our ground campus and buildings and proceeds from our September
2009 offering of stock were partialy offset by the repurchase of our shares from Spirit. During 2008 and 2007,
principal payments on notes payable, capital lease obligations and our line of credit were offset by private
placements of securities to our stockholders, amounts drawn on our line of credit and the net proceeds from our
initial public offering of common stock.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2009, the aggregate amounts of our significant contractual
obligations and commitments with definitive payment terms due in each of the periods presented (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Lessthan Morethan
Total 1Year 2-3Years _4-5Years 5Years
Long term notes payable™.............ccccovvereveiccrenne. $ 2619 21% 39% 197 $ 0.4
Capital lease obligations™ ..........cccocovevveeeerecennnns 1.6 0.7 0.9 0.0 0.0
Purchase obligations............ccocevvvevecceescsere e, 284 26.4 16 04 0.0
Operating lease obligations?............ccccevvveveevnnnne. 30.3 3.7 7.1 6.9 12.6
Total contractual obligations.............cccceeevveeivenenn. $ 864 % 329 % 135 % 270 $ 13.0

(1) See Note 7, “Notes Payable and Other,” to our financial statements, included in Item 8, Financial Satements
and Supplementary Data, for a discussion of our long term notes payable and other obligations.

(2) See Note 8, “Capital Lease Obligations,” to our financial statements, included in Item 8, Financial Satements
and Supplementary Data, for adiscussion of our capital |ease obligations.

(3) See Note 9, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to our financial statements, included in Item 8, Financial
Satements and Supplementary Data, for a discussion of our operating lease obligations.

The foregoing obligations exclude potential royalty paymentsto Blanchard Education, LLC under our license
agreement, the amounts of which are contingent on tuition revenue from certain of our business programs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have a material
current or future effect on our financial condition, changesin financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Non-GAAP Discussion

In addition to our GAAP results, we use Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure of our operating
performance and as part of our compensation determinations. Adjusted EBITDA is not required by or presented in
accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating income, or any other
performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an aternative to cash flow from operating activities
or asameasure of our liquidity.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income plus interest expense net of interest income, plusincome tax
expense, and plus depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), as adjusted for (i) royalty payments incurred pursuant
to an agreement with our former owner that has been terminated as of April 15, 2008, as discussed above and in
Note 2 to our financia statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data , (ii)
management fees and expenses that are no longer paid, (iii) contributions made to Arizona school tuition
organizationsin lieu of the payment of state income taxes, (iv) estimated litigation loss; (v) exit costs; and (vi)
share-based compensation.

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we consider it to be an important supplemental measure of our operating
performance. We also make certain compensation decisions based, in part, on our operating performance, as
measured by Adjusted EBITDA, and our loan agreement requires us to comply with covenants that include
performance metrics substantially similar to Adjusted EBITDA. All of the adjustments made in our calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA are adjustments to items that management does not consider to be reflective of our core operating
performance. Management considers our core operating performance to be that which can be affected by our
managersin any particular period through their management of the resources that affect our underlying revenue and
profit generating operations during that period. We believe Adjusted EBITDA allows us to compare our current
operating results with corresponding historical periods and with the operational performance of other companiesin
our industry because it does not give effect to potential differences caused by variationsin capital structures
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(affecting relative interest expense, including the impact of write-offs of deferred financing costs when companies
refinance their indebtedness), tax positions (such as the impact on periods or companies of changesin effective tax
rates or net operating losses), the book amortization of intangibles (affecting relative amortization expense), and
other items that we do not consider reflective of underlying operating performance. We also present Adjusted
EBITDA because we believe it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested partiesas a
measure of performance.

In evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to the
adjustments described above. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that
our future results will be unaffected by expenses that are unusual, non-routine, or non-recurring. Adjusted EBITDA
has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our
results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are that it does not reflect:

« cash expenditures for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;
« changesin, or cash requirements for, our working capital requirements;

¢ interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principa payments on our
indebtedness;

« thecost or cash required to replace assets that are being depreciated or amortized; and

« theimpact on our reported results of earnings or charges resulting from (i) royalties to our prior owner,
including amortization of royalties prepaid in connection with our settlement, (ii) management fees and
expenses that were payable until completion of our public offering, (iii) contributions to Arizona school
tuition organizationsin lieu of the payment of state income taxes; (iv) estimated litigation loss; (v) exit
costs; and (vi) share-based compensation.

In addition, other companies, including other companies in our industry, may calculate these measures
differently than we do, limiting the usefulness of Adjusted EBITDA as a comparative measure. Because of these
limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a substitute for net income, operating income, or any
other performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an alternative to cash flow from operating
activities or as a measure of our liquidity. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP
results and using Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally. For more information, see our financia statements and the
notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following table presents data relating to Adjusted EBITDA, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

NEL INCOME.....ucuiiiiietetete ettt sttt be e se e e s bbbt b bebese e s s s b bbbt $ 27304 $ 668 $ 1526
Plus: interest expense net of iNterest iNCOME..........ccooviiiiiinenieeie e 1,289 2,257 1,803
PIUS: INCOME tAX EXPENSE. ... .eeuieiiiesie sttt sttt e et se et s ae e e e 17,979 3,855 1,016
Plus: depreciation and amortiZation............ccceeeerererenenieee e 7,664 5,095 3,300
EBIT DA et e e et e e e e e e e st e e e e e ate e e e e ne e e e aareaaaas 54,236 17,892 7,645
Plus: royalty to former OWNEN? .............ccocuevcueeeeveeieeeeeeeeeeeestese e 296 1,686 3,782
Plus: management fees and exXpenses™ ..........ccocveceeeeeerivseissesessssessesssseesnens — 356 296
Plus: contributions made in lieu of state income taxes ...........coooeeeveeveeveerene. 750 750 —
Plus: estimated litigation [0SS'Y ..........c.oueverieeeieieeieeesesees e 5,200 — —
TR = o = 1,218 — —
Plus: share-based compensation™..............cccoccerreeeieeeeseeseseseee s 3419 4,991 —
F o NS (o =1 $ 65119 $ 25675 $ 11,723

(a) Reflectsthe royalty fee arrangement with the former owner of Grand Canyon University in which we agreed to
pay a stated percentage of cash revenue generated by our online programs. As aresult of the settlement of a
dispute with the former owner, we are no longer obligated to pay this royalty, although the settlement includes a
prepayment of future royalties that we amortize over time. See Note 2 to our financia statementsincluded in
Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

84



(b) Reflects management fees and expenses to the general partner of Endeavour Capital Fund 1V, L.P., one of our
significant stockholders. Concurrent with the completion of theinitial public offering in November 2008, the
professional services agreement pursuant to which we paid such fees and expenses was terminated by its terms.

(c) Reflects contributions made to various Arizona school tuition organizations to assist with funding for education.
In connection with such contributions made we received a dollar-for-dollar state income tax credit, which
resulted in areduction in our effective income tax rate to 39.7% and 36.6% for the years ended December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively. Had this payment not been made our effective tax rate would have been 40.7% and
40.8%, for 2009 and 2008, respectively. Such contributions are viewed by our management to be madein lieu of
payments of state income taxes and are therefore excluded from evaluation of our core operating performance.

(d) Reflectsan accrual of $5.2 million for an estimated litigation settlement that has been reached in principle but is
conditioned upon obtaining governmental approval and finalizing settlement terms. See Item 8, Financial
Satements and Supplementary Data, and Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

(e) Represents exit costs as aresult of the closure of the student services facility in Utah, including termination
benefits, relocation expenses and the future lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, plus the write off
of leasehold improvements associated with the leased space.

(f) Reflects share-based compensation expense relating to stock and option grants made to employees and directors
in connection with our initial public offering and thereafter.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Impact of inflation. We believe that inflation has not had a material impact on our results of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, or 2007. There can be no assurance that future inflation will not have an
adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

Market risk. On June 30, 2009, we entered into two derivative agreements to manage our 30-day LIBOR interest
exposure from the variable rate note payable. The corridor instrument hedges our variable interest rate risk from July
1, 2009 through April 30, 2014 with a notional amount of $12.3 million as of December 31, 2009 and permits usto
hedge our interest rate risk at several thresholds. Under this arrangement, in addition to the credit spread we will pay
variable interest rates based on the 30 Day LIBOR rates monthly until that index reaches 4%. If 30-day LIBOR is
equal to 4% through 6%, we will continue to pay 4%. If 30 day LIBOR exceeds 6%, we will pay actual 30day
LIBOR less 2%. The forward interest rate swap risk starts on May 1, 2010, continues each month thereafter until
April 30, 2014, and has a notional amount of $12.0 million. Under this arrangement, we will receive 30-day LIBOR
and pay 3.245% fixed rate on the amortizing notional amount plus the credit spread.

Except with respect to the foregoing, we have no derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity
instruments. We invest cash in excess of current operating requirements in short term certificates of deposit and
money market instruments in multiple financia institutions.

Interest rate risk. We manage interest rate risk through the instruments noted above and by investing excess
fundsin cash equivalents and AAA rated marketable securities bearing variable interest rates, which aretied to
various market indices. Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changesin interest rates
or we may suffer lossesin principal if we are forced to sell securities that have declined in market value due to
changesin interest rates. At December 31, 2009 a 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would not have a
material impact on our future earnings, fair values, or cash flows. For information regarding our variable rate notes
payable, see “Market risk” above.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying bal ance sheets of Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related statements of operations, preferred stock and stockholders' equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on atest basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of Grand Canyon Education, Inc. at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), Grand Canyon Education, Inc.’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 18, 2010 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
February 18, 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Grand Canyon Education, Inc.:

We have audited Grand Canyon Education, Inc.’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Grand Canyon Education, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of Management
on Grand Canyon Education, Inc.’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isto express an
opinion on the company’sinternal control over financia reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’sinternal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabl e assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposesin
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’ sinternal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statementsin accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Grand Canyon Education, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the accompanying balance sheets of Grand Canyon Education, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and
2008, and the related statements of operations, preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for
each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2009 and our report dated February 18, 2010 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s Ernst & Young LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
February 18, 2010
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Balance Sheets
As of December 31,
($.in thousands, except share data) 2009 2008
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and €ash EQUIVAIENES ..........ccccueuereiereiccese et $ 62571 $ 35152
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments (of which $170 is unrestricted at
December 31, 2009).......ccuiueeeiriereeresieieresieeeresseseee et eneeresaeaesenaenes 3,403 2,197
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $7,553 and
$6,356 at December 31, 2009 and 2008 ..........cccoveererieererieese e 13,802 9,442
INCOME taXES FECEAIVADIE.......cviiciiiie e — 1,576
DEferred INCOME TAXES ......covirieeriereeeete ettt et s 6,685 2,603
OLhEr CUMTENE @SSELS.....cveiveieiirieriecrte ettt b ettt b et nnas 3,785 2,629
TOtAl CUMTENE BSSELS ..ottt sttt b 90,246 53,599
Property and eQUIPMENE, NEL.........coceeieeres et sr e ne e ne e e s 67,370 41,399
Restricted cash and investments (of which $2,928 is restricted at December 31,

124002 ) ST PRSPRSTR 360 3,403
Prepaid FOYAITIES ......coeieeie et st st e b e e e 7,311 8,043
(€070 11/ 1 1 TSRS 2,941 2,941
Deferred INCOME LAXES. ... .oiirieiee ettt sttt ettt ee bbb et ae e e e e e eeseeneas 5,956 7,404
(010 =SS £SO URUSRSN 554 201
TOLAI ASSELS ..vieeierteiee ettt e bbb et b e $ 174738 $ 116,990

LIABILITIESAND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:
Current liabilities
ACCOUNES PAYBIIE.......c.ccviiieietecieie ettt e e s b e r s $ 8,762 $ 5,770
ACCIUEH [BDIHITIES ... e 18,103 9,674
Accrued estimated litigation [0SS........cccceririeieiiseeeee s 5,200 —
ACCIUEH EXIT COSES. . .euiruiiieiesteste sttt sttt be e se et e b bt st e e e e e besbesbesaesneennens 832 —
INCOME tAXES PAYBDIE. ... .ot et e b 2,261 172
Deferred revenue and Student dePOSIES........oviriererereerieie et 23,204 14,262
DUE O related Parties........ooieiueeeieeeie et e be e e e 1,174 1,197
Current portion of capital 1ease ObligatioNns...........ccocvieiirerenieie e 751 1,125
Current portion of NOLES PAYADIE ........coviiiiiri e e 2,105 357
Total current labilitiES......covveirie e 62,392 32,557
Capital lease obligations, €SS CUITeNt POrtiON .........cceeeererisese e 868 29,384
Notes payable, less current portion and Other ...........ccceeverie s 25,450 1,459
TOtal [ADIITIES ... et 88,710 63,400
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 sharesissued and

outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008...........ccoerererierereniereere e — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 45,657,946 and

45,465,160 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008,

FESPECTIVEIY ...ttt ettt st b e bt et s b et et e e e b e besbe b e bt sae e e e e et seenas 457 455
Additional paid-in CaPItal ..........ccoeiiriiiieeee e e e 70,100 64,808
Accumulated other comprehensive (10SS) INCOME ........ccveeererieiesereeeere e (144) 16
Accumulated earnings (AEfiCit).....ccvevererie i e 15,615 (11,689)
Total StOCKNOIAEr' S EQUILY ....ccueeeeeeesr e 86,028 53,590
Total liabilities and stockholders eqUItY ......ccccvvrvveiesicecere e $ 174738 $ 116,990

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

(% in thousands, except per share data) 2009 2008 2007
NEL TEVENUE. .....ceeiteieeisie ettt sttt sttt s et e e s e seneesessenenns $ 261,902 $ 161,309 $ 99,326
Costs and expenses:
Instructional COStS and SEVICES.........cceeiieiieieeiee et 87,592 54,450 39,050
Selling and promotional, including $6,736 in 2009; $5,895 in 2008; and
$4,293 in 2007, tO related Parties........ccovvvreereneieseseesese e 85,405 65,551 35,148
Genera and adminNiStratiVe...........ccoverririneee e 35,619 26,825 17,001
Estimated itigation [0SS........ccccvvirireeerere e 5,200 — —
EXIT COSES...cvimiiiiinietisie sttt sttt st et st s 1,218 — —
Royalty t0 fOrMEr OWNEN ..ot e 296 1,686 3,782
Total COStS AN EXPENSES.......ccveeeireeiereere e e se e s e see e e e e s 215,330 148,512 94,981
(@] 01= &= 10T g o [T a oo 4= S 46,572 12,797 4,345
INEErESE EXPENSE ..vviveceeeeeeee ettt besreere e e e e srenrenre e (1,613) (2,897) (2,975)
INEEFESL INCOMIE ...ttt et e sttt enresneas 324 640 1,172
INcome befor € INCOME LAXES.......c.eccui et 45,283 10,540 2,542
INCOME TAX EXPENSE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sae e sae e saeenee s e e snsesneesaeans 17,979 3.855 1,016
N AT Tl o 1= TS 27,304 6,685 1,526
Preferred dividends.............ooeeiieii s — (938) (349
Net income available to common stockholders.........cocceeeeeeecccienecnennee. $ 27304 $ 5747 $ 1177
Earnings per share:
BasiC INCOME PEF SNAIE......coveiiirieerere s $ 060 $ 026 $ 0.06
Diluted INCOME PEF SNAIE ....cveeeiireeerierere e $ 060 $ 017 $ 0.03
Basic weighted average shares outstanding.........ccccveveeerenerneneenenieennes 45,184 22,185 18,923
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding.........cccceeceverenieveserieesennens 45,503 33,430 35,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Statements of Preferred Stock and Stockholders Equity (Deficit)
($in thousands, except shar e data)

Preferred Stock Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity
Accumulated
Series A Convertible SeriesB Convertible SeriesC Additional Other
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares _Amount Amount Shares Par Value _Capital Income(Loss)  Earnings (Deficit) Total
— — 18,853,450 189 7,953 35 (29,900) (11,723)
— — — — — — 1,526 1,526
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,
net of taxes of $30 — — — — — 44 — 44
Comprehensive income.... 1,570
Conversion of Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock to Series C Preferred Stock 800 2,780 — — — — — —
Payment of amounts due to related party
Series C Preferred StOCK...........covvviiiiniiniiicenns 34 120 — — — — —
Issuance of Series C Preferred Stock for cash,
net of issuance costs of $36 2,995 10,409 — — — — —
Issuance of Blanchard shares — — 182,600 1 115 — — 116
Dividend on Series B Convertible Preferred
SHOCK .. — — — — (320) — — (320)
Accretion of Series C Preferred Stock Dividend ....... — 29 — — (29) — — (29)
Balance at December 31, 2007 3,829 13,338 19,036,050 190 7,719 79 (18,374)  (10,386)
Net income — — — — — — 6,685 6,685
Unrealized losses on available for-sale securities,
net of taxes of $42.. — — — — — (63) — (63)
Comprehensive income.... 6,622
Undeclared dividends on Series C Preferred
— 938 — — (938) — — (938)
Issuance of Blanchard shares.. — — 182,600 2,994 — — 2,996
Cancellation of IAS warrant, net of $2,316
deferred taxes...... — — — — (3,684) — — (3,684)
Exercise of warr — — 909,348 9 517 — — 526
Conversion of Series A and Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock to Common StOCK ..........ceevvueeens (3,829 (14,276) 13,103,511 131 32,755 — — 32,886
Stock issued in initial public offering, net of
ISSUANCE COSES ...ttt — — 12,075,000 121 128,635 — — 128,756
Special distribution to stockholders frominitial
public offering proceeds............cocovveeeicnnecens — — — — (108,675) — (108,675)
Restricted stock granted to Chief Executive
Officer — — 109,329 1 1,310 — — 1311
Share-based compensation.. — — — — 3,563 — — 3,563
Exercise of stock options — — 49,322 1 591 — 592
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation — — — — 21 — — 21
Balance at December 31, 2008, — — 45465160 $ 455 $ 64,808 16 $ (11,689) $ 53,590
Net income — — — — — — 27,304 27,304
Unrealized losses on hedging derivatives, net of
1aXES OF $11L vvvverveeeeereeseeeeeeeee e — — — — — (167) — (167)
Unrealized gains on available for-sale securities,
net of taxes of $5 — — — — — 7 — 7
Comprehensive income.... 27,144
Repurchase and retirement of the Company’s
COMMON SEOCK ... — — (909,348) 9) (14,486) — — (14,495)
Stock issued in offering, net of issuance costs.. . — — 1,000,000 10 14,870 — — 14,880
Share-based COMPENSALION..........ccooerueeeririeirenieenenens — — — — 3,419 — — 3,419
Exercise of stock options.... — — 102,134 1 1,225 — — 1,226
Excess tax benefit ............... — — — — 264 — — 264
Balance at December 31, 2009... = — 45657946 $ 457 $ 70100 $ (144) $ 15615 $ 86,028
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Cash flows provided by operating activities:
NEL INCOME....ucuiiiiie ettt ettt bbbt ae e se s bbbttt $ 27304 $ 6,685 $ 1526
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Share-based COmMPENSALION.........cocoiiiiiieiee e 3,419 4,991 —
Excesstax benefits from share-based compensation .........ccccocvveveeecveiennens (247) (21) —
Amortization of notes payable iSSUANCE COSES ......ccvvvrvrerererreereereeneeseens 42 — —
Provision for bad debts.........coeriiric 14,016 8,465 6,257
Depreciation and amortiZation...........ccceeeeeeeereriesesiese e seese e 7,960 5,095 3,300
Estimated [itigation [0SS.........cocvvviviirereee e 5,200 — —
EXIT COSES ouvriienrerinenie et 832 — —
Deferred INCOME tAXES.......vcveeeerere et (2,523) (245) (1,656)
(@13 1= S (14) (106) 19
Changes in assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNES TECAIVADI ... (18,376) (10,793) (8,573)
Prepaid expenses and Other ..o (377) (751) (442)
Due to/from related PartieS.........cooeiererreie e (23) 468 (107)
ACCOUNES PAYADIE......eieiie et e 2,155 927 253
Accrued HaDIlITIES.......coireiieee e 8,928 3,596 3,802
Income taxes receivable/payable...........cccoveveevereneniene e 3,929 (1,624) (2,294)
Deferred revenue and student depoSitS.......ccocvvvvevereereresesese e 8,942 3,893 4,236
Prepaid royalties to former OWNEY ........cccceveveereveniese s ceeeeesees e — (5,920) —
Royalty payable to former OWNEr ........cooveveveniie s — (7,428) 3,782
Deposit With FOrmEr OWNET .......ccocvviceceeeeree e — 3,000 (3,000)
Net cash provided by operating activities..........ccooevrineinineineeenee 61,167 10,232 7,103
Cash flowsused in investing activities:
Capital EXPENAITUIES ......cc.o et (24,760) (8,374) (7,406)
Purchase of campus land and buildings..........c.ccoererieininineneeeeiee (35,505) — —
Change in restricted cash and cash equivalents...........ccoccooeveievenenenenne 1,844 2,083 (1,454)
Purchases of INVESIMENLS..........cccoiiiiiiieeer e — (2,627) —
Proceeds from sale or maturity of investments.........cccocvevvceevereceseneneenn — 2,570 (149)
Net cash used in iNVesting aCtiVitieS .......ccveveveveeeeeeeeceeee et (58,421) (6,348) (9,009)
Cash flows provided by financing activities:
Principal payments on notes payable and capital lease obligations............ (2,415) (1,357) (1,230)
Repayment on 1ine of Credit.......oovvevieve e — (6,000) —
Proceeds from notes payable and line of credit .........cccoevevevieiecivceciens 25,547 — 6,000
Notes payable iSSUANCE COSES.......oiiiiririririeee et (317) — —
Repurchase of outstanding Shares...........cccoeverereneneeieeie e (14,495) — —
Repurchase of INStitute Warrant ...........c.cceeeeeeienenene e — (6,000) —
Repayment of Institute Note Payable. ... — (1,250) —
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred StocK..........cooceverniiieiiiiicnne — — 4,684
Proceeds from related party payable on preferred stock............cccccveeienee. — 5,725 —
Dividends on preferred StOCK..........ccovvviinireeierese e seene s — — (153)
Net proceeds from issuance of common StOCK ..........cceeeveverievivnescecrennns 14,880 128,756 —
Payment of special diStribution ...........cccevievenieie s — (108,675) —
Proceeds from exercise Of Warrant...........cccoeeernrerenseenneseseseessreenenes — 526 —
Net proceeds from exercise of Stock OptionS..........ccvceevevierierivsieceerere i 1,226 592 —
Excesstax benefits from share-based compensation .........ccccocevevevveeiennnns 247 21 —
Net cash provided by financing activities..........c.coceovineinineineseceeee 24,673 12,338 9,301
Net increasein cash and cash equivalents.........c.cccecvireincnec e 27,419 16,222 7,395
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of Year ..........cccvevrinennenerenennes 35,152 18,930 11,535
Cash and cash equivalents, end of YEar ........c.cccceveveinineineneese e $ 62571 $ 35152 $ 18,930
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Year Ended December 31,

(% in thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Supplemental disclosur e of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for iNtErest.........ccevveerereeieieee e $ 1802 $ 3709 $ 2645
Cash paid during the year for inCOme taXes...........ccceeeeeeereveseereeee e, $ 16307 $ 5274 $ 4964

Supplemental disclosur e of non-cash investing and financing activities
Purchase of equipment through notes payable and capital |ease

(0] T0 = (0] 3L SRS $ 2116 $ 2481 $ 676
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and

(01T 0= 0 [ =1 $ 1098 $ 1292 $ —
Settlement of capital 1ease obligation .............cccceveeeeieeiceeccceeceeece e, $ 30,020 $ — $ —
Removal of Utah leasehold improvements..........cccoveeeeevevvnnveseseceereenen $ 2714 % — $ —
Issuance of Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock for notes

= 0= A o] =T $ — $ — $ 5725
Issuance of Series C convertible preferred stock for settlement of

DAIANCES OWED......cvcvieiicei ettt bbb $ — % — % 120
Accretion of dividends on Series C convertible preferred stock................... $ — $ 938 $ 29
Value assigned to Blanchard Shares.............ccceeveverceieienesecsse e $ — $ 29% $ 116
Assumption of future obligations under gift annuities..........cccceeevevevirerenenes $ — 3 887 $ —
Deferred tax on repurchase of Institute Warrant...........cceeeeeveveeveneeeeennns $ — $ 2316 % —
Conversion of Series A and Series C convertible preferred stock ................ $ — $ 32886 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Notesto Financial Statements
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per sharedata)

1. Nature of Business

Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed in Delaware in November 2003 as alimited
liability company, under the name Significant Education, LLC, for the purpose of acquiring the assets of Grand
Canyon University from a non-profit foundation on February 2, 2004. On August 24, 2005, the Company converted
from alimited liability company to a corporation and changed its name to Significant Education, Inc. On May 9,
2008, the Company changed its name to Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

The Company is aregionally accredited provider of online postsecondary education services focused on offering
graduate and undergraduate degree programs in its core disciplines of education, business, and healthcare. In
addition to online programs, the Company offers courses at its campus in Phoenix, Arizona and onsite at the
facilities of employers. The Company is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central
Association of Colleges and Schools.

Except as otherwise indicated, all information presented in the accompanying financial statements has been
adjusted to reflect the 1,826 for one split of common stock and conversion of formerly outstanding shares of
preferred stock into common stock, both of which occurred in connection with the Company’s November 18, 2008
initial public offering of common stock.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Formation and Transactions with Former Owner

On January 29, 2004, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with
the Grand Canyon University Ingtitute for Advanced Studies (the “Institute” or “former owner”), an Arizona
nonprofit corporation, pursuant to which the Company acquired substantially all of the operating assets (excluding
the ground campus and related buildings) of Grand Canyon University (the “University”), including all
accreditations, licensures, and approvals necessary to offer its ground and online education programs. In
consideration for the purchase of such assets, the Company paid the Institute $500 in cash, assumed certain
liabilities, and agreed to pay the Institute a royalty equal to 5% of the revenue generated by the Company through its
online education program for each year in the period 2004 through 2008 and 4% for each year thereafter, in
perpetuity (the “Royalty Agreement”). The consideration paid and liabilities assumed exceeded the fair value of the
assets acquired by $2,941 which was recorded as goodwill. The transaction closed on February 2, 2004 at which
time the Company commenced its operations.

On June 25, 2004, the Company entered into an ancillary agreement (the “ Ancillary Agreement”) with the
Ingtitute, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase the ground campus and related buildings (the
“Campus’) excluding one building and the underlying real estate, from the Institute for the following consideration:;

e $26,750in cash;
 the assumption of a$1,500 note payable to athird party (the “Kirksville Note");

« theissuance by the Company to the Ingtitute of awarrant (the “Institute Warrant”) to purchase a 10.0%
non-dilutable equity interest in the Company for an exercise price of $1 during a one month period
beginning in July 1, 2011 subject to aright for the Company to repurchase the warrant at any time prior to
its exercise for $6,000.

The value of the warrant was estimated at $420 which approximates 10% of the estimated fair value of the
Company at the date of grant and was included as a component of the cost of the campus and related buildings.

In connection with the Ancillary Agreement, (i) the Company assigned its right to purchase the Campus to Spirit
Finance Acquisitions, LLC (“Spirit”), (ii) following such assignment, Spirit acquired the Campus from the Institute
for cash, (iii) Spirit leased the Campus to the Company under along-term lease (the “ Spirit Lease”) in connection
with which the Company issued to Spirit awarrant, and (iv) the Institute loaned the Company $1,250 payable over
seven years (the “Institute Loan”).
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Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Notesto Financial Statements
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per sharedata)

Shortly after the completion of the acquisition, the Company and the I nstitute became involved in certain
disputes, with the Company alleging breaches of representations and warranties concerning the University’s
operations, its compliance with Department of Education regulations, and the Institute’'s failure to adequately
disclose liahilities in the Purchase Agreement and the Ancillary Agreement. In addition, the Company withheld
payment of amounts due under the Royalty Agreement and the Institute Loan. At December 31, 2007, the Company
had withheld payment of approximately $7,428 in payments due under the Royalty Agreement and approximately
$840 of principal and interest payments under the Institute Loan. As aresult of these disputes, the Company
commenced legal proceedings in March 2006 and the Ingtitute brought counterclaims.

In September 2007, the Company and the I nstitute entered into a standstill agreement pursuant to which they
agreed to stay all legal proceedings through April 15, 2008. In accordance with the terms of the standstill agreement,
the Company made an initial non-refundable, non-creditable $3,000 payment to the Institute and received an option
to pay an additional $19,500 to the Institute by April 15, 2008, which would serve, in its entirety, as consideration
for:

« thesatisfactioninfull of all past royalties due to the Institute under the Royalty Agreement and the
elimination of the existing obligation to pay royalties for online student revenues in perpetuity;

» therepurchase of the Ingtitute Warrant;

« the acquisition by the Company of the real property and related building located on the Campus that was
owned by the Institute and not transferred in connection with the Ancillary Agreement;

« thetermination of a sublease agreement pursuant to which the Institute leased office space on the
Campus;

« the assumption by the Company of all future payment obligations in respect to certain gift annuities made
to the school by donors prior to the acquisition; and

o thesatisfactionin full of the $1,250 Institute Loan (including al accrued and unpaid interest thereon).

On April 15, 2008, the Company exercised its option and paid the additional $19,500 to the Institute and the
Institute relinquished any and all rightsit had to be involved in Grand Canyon University, and all parties released
any and all claimsthey may have had against the other parties.

Accounting for the April 15, 2008 Settlement of the Standstill Agreement
The following table provides a tabular depiction of the Company’s alocation of the $22,500 total payment to the

Institute to each of the assets acquired, obligations settled, and liabilities assumed, based on the Company’ s fair
value estimates.

INITIAl PAYMENT......tiicteieceee ettt st et s b et et e st e e ebesae e et e sae e et e saessetesaeneetesaeseetestesseseatesensens $ 3,000
OPLIONAL PAYMENT ...ttt b et b bbbt bbb e b et b e b et b b 19,500
Total Payment t0 D allOCALEd...........cccevieiiiece e et $ 22,500
1) Obligations settled
—Accrued royalties due under Royalty Agreement (as of April 15, 2008) $ 8,730
—Repurchase of INSHIULE WaITANT ..........ooiiieie et e e 6,000
—Repayment of Institute Loan, including accrued iNtEreSt.........ccoe e 2,257
—Other amounts dUe t0 the INSHEULE...........oci i 327
2) Liabilities assumed
—Assumption of gift annuities obligation, at fair ValUE..........ccveeeeeerenie e (887)
3) Cost to be allocated to assets acquired
—Real property and prepaid royalty @SSEL..........ccceeciereririe e e 6,073
Total fair VAlUE ESLIMALES ...ttt bbbt $ 22500
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Asindicated in the table above, the total payment was applied to the following items, in the order indicated: (1)
to satisfy all past royalties due to the Institute; (2) to redeem the Institute Warrant, based on the original terms of
such warrant; (3) to satisfy aloan provided by the Institute, including all accrued and unpaid interest thereon; and
(4) to satisfy other amounts due to the Institute.

The standstill agreement also required the Company to assume future payment obligations in respect of certain
gift annuities made to the school by donors prior to the acquisition, which represents a liability assumed under the
standstill agreement and was recognized based on the fair value of such annuities at the option exercise date.

The remaining $6,073 of the total payment was allocated to the remaining acquired assets based on their
individual fair value relative to the total fair value of those assets. The Company recognized the real property (i.e.,
land) and related building acquired from the Institute in the transaction as an asset at the option exercise date and
these assets totaling $129 and $24, respectively, have been classified within “Property and Equipment” in the
Company’ s balance sheets.

The $5,920 value of the settlement of future royalty payment obligations to the Institute was determined based
onitsrelative fair value at the option exercise date and isincluded in the accompanying bal ance sheet at December
31, 2008 as a“Prepaid Royalty,” and is being amortized on a straight line basis over a period of 20 years.

Spirit Transaction

On April 28, 2009, the Company acquired the land and buildings that comprise its ground campus and 909,348
shares of its common stock from Spirit Master Funding, LLC and Spirit Management Company, respectively
(collectively, “Spirit”) for an aggregate purchase price of $50,000. Prior to the acquisition, the Company had leased
the land and buildings from Spirit, accounting for the land as an operating lease and the buildings and improvements
as capital lease obligations. To finance a portion of the purchase, the Company entered into aloan agreement with a
financial institution pursuant which it borrowed $25,675. See Note 7, Notes Payable and Other and Note 12,
Warrants to Purchase Common Stock.

The Company allocated $14,495 of the purchase price to the repurchase of its common stock and the remaining
$35,505 to the land and buildings. Additionally, the Company removed the building and improvement assets and
related capital lease obligations of $30,020 and applied the deferred gain of $1,429 as a reduction to the new
building value. See Note 5, Property and Equipment.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amountsin the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances to conform to the current period.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company invests cash in excess of current operating requirementsin short term certificates of deposit and

money market instruments. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or
less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
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Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

A significant portion of our revenue is received from students who participate in government financial aid and
assistance programs. Restricted cash and cash equivalents primarily represents amounts received from the federal
and state governments under various student aid grant and loan programs, such as Title IV. These funds are received
subsequent to the completion of the authorization and disbursement process for the benefit of the student. The U.S.
Department of Education requires Title IV funds collected in advance of student billingsto be segregated in a
separate cash or cash equivalent account until the students are billed for their portion. We record these amounts as a
current asset in restricted cash and cash equivalents. Restricted cash and cash equivalentsis excluded from cash and
cash equivalents until the cash is no longer restricted. The mgjority of these funds remain as restricted cash and cash
equivalents for an average of 60 to 90 days from the date of receipt.

Restricted Cash and I nvestments

The Company owns certain marketable securities that were pledged as collateral through December 31, 2008 for
a Standby Letter of Credit as further described in Note 7, Notes Payable and Other. The Company considersits
investments in such marketabl e securities as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at
fair value as determined by quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate
component of stockholders' equity. Unrealized |osses considered to be other-than-temporary are recognized
currently in earnings. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Amortization of
premiums, accretion of discounts, interest and dividend income and realized gains and losses are included in
investment income. Because these securities were pledged as collateral, the Company classified all such amounts as
long term assets through December 31, 2008. On January 1, 2009, the pledge was removed.

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate their fair value based on the liquidity or the short-term maturities of these instruments. The carrying
value of notes payable approximate fair value based on its variable rate index. The carrying value of other notes
payable and capital |ease obligations approximate fair value based upon market interest rates available to the
Company for debt of similar risk and maturities. Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value,
determined using Level 2 of the hierarchy of valuation inputs as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB") Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification”), with the use of inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset or liability. See Note 10, Derivative | nstruments.

Thefair value of investments, primarily municipal securities, were determined using Level 1 of the hierarchy of
valuation inputs, with the use of observable market pricesin the active market. The unit of account used for
valuation isthe individual underlying security. The municipal securities are comprised of city and county bonds
related to schools, water and sewer, and housing bonds. Because these securities held by the Company are
investments, assessment of non-performance risk is not applicable as such considerations are only applicable in
evaluating the fair value measurements for liabilities.

The fair value of the prepaid royalty asset relating to the settlement of future royalty payment obligations to the
Institute was determined using an income approach, based on management’ s forecasts of revenue to be generated
through its online education program using Level 3 of the hierarchy of valuation inputs. The rate utilized to discount
net cash flows to their present valuesis 35%. This discount rate was determined after consideration of the
Company’ s weighted average cost of capital giving effect to estimates of the Company’ s risk-free rate, beta
coefficient, equity risk premium, small size risk premium, and company-specific risk premium.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability,
failure or refusal of its students to make required payments. The Company determines the adequacy of its allowance
for doubtful accounts based on an analysis of its historical bad debt experience and the aging of the accounts
receivable. The Company applies reserves to each aging category based upon an estimate of the risk presented by
the age of the receivables. The Company writes off account receivable balances deemed uncollectible on aregular
basis and in 2008 implemented a policy of writing off account receivable balances one year after the revenueis
generated. However, the Company continues to reflect accounts receivable with an offsetting allowance aslong as
management believes there is a reasonabl e possibility of collection. Bad debt expense is recorded as a general and
administrative expense in the statements of operations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method. Normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Expenditures that materially extend
the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Construction in progress represents items not yet placed in service and are
not depreciated. Internally developed software represents qualifying salary and consulting costs for time spent on
developing internal use software and isincluded in construction in progress until its completion. The Company
capitalizesinterest using its interest rates on the specific borrowings used to finance the improvements, which
approximated 5.4% in 2009 and 8.7% in 2008 and 2007 given the amount of the specific debt exceeded thein
process value of the project at all times. Interest cost capitalized and incurred in the years ended December 31, 2009,
2008, and 2007 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
INEErESE INCUITEM.... . cveeieeieeseeieee et s senas $ 1808 $ 3022 $ 3102
Interest CapItaliZed........cveeeeeierire e 195 125 127
INEEIESE EXPENSE ...ttt ettt b e bbb e e s ae e sae e saeesae e e saneen $ 1613 $ 2897 $ 2975

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Furniture
and fixtures, computer equipment, and vehicles generally have estimated useful lives of 10, four, and five years,
respectively. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their lease term or their useful life. Land
improvements and buildings are depreciated over lives ranging from 10 to 30 years.

Leases

The Company entersinto various lease agreements in conducting its business. At the inception of each lease, we
evaluate the lease agreement to determine whether the lease is an operating or capital lease. In addition, many of the
|ease agreements contain renewal options and tenant improvement allowances. When such items are included in a
|ease agreement, the Company records a deferred liability on the balance sheet and records the rent expense evenly
over the term of the lease. Leasehold improvements are included as investing activities and are included as additions
to property, plant and equipment. For leases with renewal options, the Company records rent expense and amortizes
the leasehold improvement on a straight-line basis over the initial non-cancelable lease term unless it intends to
exercise the renewal option. Once it extends the renewal option, the Company amortizes any tenant improvement
alowances over the extended lease period as well as the leasehold improvement asset (unless the extended lease
term islonger than the economic life of the asset). The Company expenses any additional payments under its
operating leases for taxes, insurance or other operating expenses as incurred.

Deferred Loan Costs
In April 2009, the Company capitalized expenses paid to third parties from a note agreement with a financial
institution and these costs, which totaled $317 are amortized over the five year life of the note using the straight-line

method, which approximates the effective interest rate. Accumulated amortization was $42 as of December 31,
20009.
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Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of itslong-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changesin
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assetsto be
held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows
expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized
is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the fair market value of net assets acquired, including identified
intangible assets. Goodwill is tested annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate potential impairment, by
comparing its fair value to its carrying amount.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recoghizes compensation expense for share-based payment awards made to
employees, consultants and directors, including employee stock options. Prior to the Company’sinitial public
offering in November 2008, the Company had no share-based awards.

The Company calculates the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant. The Company uses the Black-
Scholes-Merton option pricing model to estimate fair value. The option pricing model requires the Company to
estimate certain key assumptions such as expected life, volatility, risk free interest rates, and dividend yield to
determine the fair value of share-based awards, based on historical information and management judgment. The
Company amortizes the share-based compensation expense over the period that the awards are expected to vest, net
of estimated forfeiture rates. If the actual forfeitures differ from management estimates, adjustments to
compensation expense are recorded. The Company reports cash flows resulting from tax deductions in excess of the
compensation cost recognized for those options (excess tax benefits) as financing cash flows.

The Company has analyzed the circumstances in which the simplified method is allowed and is utilizing the
simplified method for all stock options granted since November 2008. The simplified method for estimating the
expected life uses the mid-point between the vesting term and the contractual term of the stock option.

Derivatives and Hedging

Derivative financia instruments are recorded on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities and re-measured at fair
value at each reporting date. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss
on the derivative is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earningsin the
same period or period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on the derivative
representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are
recognized in current earnings.

Derivative financial instruments enable the Company to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The Company
does not engage in any derivative instrument trading activity. Credit risk associated with the Company’ s derivatives
islimited to the risk that a derivative counterparty will not perform in accordance with the terms of the contract.
Exposure to counterparty credit risk is considered low because these agreements have been entered into with
institutions with strong credit ratings, and they are expected to perform fully under the terms of the agreements.

As of December 31, 2009 no derivative ineffectiveness was identified. Any ineffectivenessin the Company’s
derivative instruments designated as hedges would be reported in interest expense in the statement of operations. As
of December 31, 2009 credit default risk interest income of $2 was identified and recognized and is reported in
interest expense in the statement of operations. At December 31, 2009, the Company does not expect to reclassify
any gains or losses on derivative instruments from accumul ated other comprehensive income (loss) into earnings
during the next 12 months.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax assets and
liabilities for future tax consegquences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax ratesin effect for the year in which the temporary
differences are expect to be realized.

In January 2008, the Company adopted a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and
measurement of an uncertain tax position taken or expected to be taken in atax return. We recognize interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. The Company has reserved approximately $568
and $299 for uncertain tax positionsincluding interest and penalties, which is classified within accrued liabilities on
the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The Company has deferred tax assets, which are subject to periodic recoverability assessments. Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that more likely than not
will be realized. Realization of the deferred tax assetsis principally dependent upon achievement of projected future
taxable income offset by deferred tax liabilities.

Loss Contingencies

The Company accrues for contingent obligation when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount is reasonably estimable. When the Company becomes aware of a claim or potential claim, the likelihood of
any loss exposure is assessed. If it is probable that aloss will result and the amount of the lossis estimable, the
Company records aliability for the estimated loss. If the lossis not probable or the amount of the potential lossis
not estimable, the Company will disclose the claim if the likelihood of a potential lossis reasonably possible and
that the amount of the potential loss could be material. Estimates that are particularly sensitive to future changes
include tax, legal, and other regulatory matters, which are subject to change as events evolve, and as additional
information becomes available during the administrative and litigation process. In the third quarter of 2009, the
Company recorded an accrual of $5,200 for alitigation settlement that has been reached in principle but is
conditioned upon obtaining governmental approval and finalizing settlement terms. See Note 9 — Commitments
and Contingencies. The Company’s policy isto expense legal fees asincurred.

Revenue Recognition

Net revenues consist primarily of tuition and fees derived from courses taught by the Company online, at its
traditional campus in Phoenix, Arizona, and onsite at facilities of employers, as well as from related educational
resources such as access to online materials. Tuition revenue and most fees and related educational resources are
recognized ratably over the applicable period of instruction, net of scholarships provided by the Company. For the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Company’ s revenue was reduced by approximately $34,155,
$18,381 and $10,269, respectively, as aresult of scholarships that the Company offered to students. The Company
will refund all or a portion of tuition already paid pursuant to its refund policy, dependent upon length of course and
modality. Deferred revenue and student deposits in any period represent the excess of tuition, fees, and other student
payments received as compared to amounts recognized as revenue on the statement of operations and are reflected
as current liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet. The Company’ s educational programs have starting and
ending dates that differ fromitsfiscal quarters. Therefore, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a portion of revenue from
these programs is not yet earned. Other revenues may be recognized as sales occur or services are performed.

Instructional Costs and Services

Instructional cost and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the
Company’s educational programs. This expense category includes salaries, benefits and share-based compensation
for full-time and adjunct faculty and administrative personnel, costs associated with online faculty, information
technology costs, curriculum and new program development costs (which are expensed as incurred) and costs
associated with other support groups that provide services directly to the students. This category a so includes an
alocation of depreciation, amortization, rent, and occupancy costs attributable to the provision of educational
services, primarily at the Company’s Phoenix, Arizona campus.
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Selling and Promotional

Selling and promotional expenses include salaries, benefits and share-based compensation of personnel engaged
in the marketing, recruitment, and retention of students, as well as advertising costs associated with purchasing
leads, hosting events and seminars, and producing marketing materials. This category also includes an allocation of
depreciation, amortization, rent, and occupancy costs attributable to selling and promotional activities at the
Company’s facilitiesin Arizona. Selling and promotional costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs, which
include marketing leads, events, and promotional materials for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007
were $24,820, $18,541, and $10,213, respectively.

The Company is a party to revenue sharing arrangements with related parties pursuant to which it pays a
percentage of the net revenue that it actually receives from applicants recruited by those entities that matriculate at
Grand Canyon University. The related party bears all costs associated with the recruitment of these applicants. For
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, the Company expensed approximately $6,736, $5,895, and
$4,293, respectively, pursuant to these arrangements. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, $359, and $679,
respectively, were due to these related parties.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include salaries, benefits and share-based compensation of employees
engaged in corporate management, finance, human resources, compliance, and other corporate functions. General
and administrative expenses a so include bad debt expense, as well as an allocation of depreciation, amortization,
rent, and occupancy costs attributable to the departments providing general and administrative functions.

Exit Costs

On November 5, 2009, management finalized a plan to centralize its student services operationsin Arizona and,
as aresult, closed its student services facility in Utah. The employees impacted by the closure of the student services
facility in Utah, who are primarily enrollment counselors, were offered similar positionsin Arizona. Employees who
chose not to relocate were terminated immediately and were eligible to receive transition benefits. The employees
were notified of the transition plan on November 5, 2009. The Company physically ceased using the leased space in
Utah by December 31, 2009. The exit costs expected to be incurred in connection with this decision have been
expensed and are presented separately on the income statement. The costs incurred include severance payments,
relocation expense; future lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals; and the write off of leasehold
improvements associated with this leased space.

The following is asummary of our exit expense by category and amounts paid to date:

Year Ended December 31,
Esimated Paymentsto Remaining

Expense Date Expense
SEVEIraNCE PAYMENLS ......ecveiviiereereieereere et ssere e re e sesresesresrenes $ 615 $ 112 $ 503
Future lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals................... 288 — 288
Leasehold improvements and other ...........ccocvvveecevesie e, 315 274 41
Exit costs as of December 31, 2009...........cccoeereeeeeireeeeereeeeereeeene $ 1,218 $ 386 —
Accrual for exit costs as of December 31, 2009.........ccccceevvereerieennen. $ 832

101



Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Notesto Financial Statements
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per sharedata)

Insurance/Self-Insurance

The Company uses a combination of insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks, including claims related
to employee health care, workers' compensation, general liability, and business interruption. Liabilities associated
with these risks are estimated based on, among other things, historical claims experience, severity factors, and other
actuarial assumptions. The Company’ s loss exposure related to self-insuranceis limited by stop loss coverage on a
per occurrence and aggregate basis. Expected loss accrual s are based on estimates, and while the Company believes
the amounts accrued are adequate, the ultimate loss may differ from the amounts provided.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company may extend credit for tuition to some students. A substantial portion is repaid through the
student’ s participation in federally funded financial aid programs. Transfers of funds from the financial aid programs
to the Company are made in accordance with the U.S. Department of Education (“ Department of Education”)
requirements. A majority of the Company’s revenues are derived from tuition financed under the Title IV programs
of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”). The financia aid and assistance
programs are subject to political and budgetary considerations and are subject to extensive and complex regulations.
The Company’s administration of these programs is periodically reviewed by various regulatory agencies. Any
regulatory violation could be the basis for the initiation of potentially adverse actions including a suspension,
limitation, or termination proceeding, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Students obtain access to federal student financial aid through a Department of Education prescribed application
and eligibility certification process. Student financial aid funds are generally made available to students at
prescribed intervals throughout their predetermined expected length of study. Students typically apply the funds
received from the federal financial aid programs first to pay their tuition and fees. Any remaining funds are
distributed directly to the student.

Segment I nformation

The Company operates as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that servesthe
curriculum and educational delivery needs of both its ground and online students regardless of geography. The
Company’s chief operating decision maker manages the Company’ s operations as a whole and no expense or
operating income information is generated or evaluated on any component level.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2009, the FASB issued guidance that expands the fair value disclosures required for all financia
instruments to be included in interim financial statements. In addition, the guidance requires public companies to
disclose the method and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of those financial instruments and to
discuss any changes of method or assumptions, if any, during the reporting period. This guidance was effective for
the Company’ s quarter ended June 30, 2009. As this guidance relates specifically to disclosures, the adoption had no
impact on the Company’ s financial position or results of operations.

In May 2009, the FASB issued guidance to establish general standards of accounting for and disclosures of
events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued.
Among other things, this new guidance requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated
subsequent events and the basis for that date — that is, whether that date represents the date the financial statements
were issued or were available to be issued. This disclosure should aert al users of financial statements that an entity
has not evaluated subsequent events after that date in the set of financial statements being presented. The Company
has evaluated subsequent events for this reporting period through February 18, 2010, the date the Company’s
audited financia statements were issued. The adoption had no impact on the Company’s financial position or results
of operations.
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In June 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Codification. The Codification is the source of authoritative
accounting principles recognized by the FASB to be applied by non-governmental entitiesin the preparation of
financial statementsin conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Codification is effective
for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. The Codification does not change U. S. generally
accepted accounting principles and did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance that modifies how a company determines when an entity that is
insufficiently capitalized or is not controlled through voting (or similar rights) should be consolidated. This guidance
clarifies that the determination of whether a company is required to consolidate an entity is based on, among other
things, an entity’ s purpose and design and a company’ s ability to direct the activities of the entity that most
significantly impact the entity’ s economic performance. This guidance requires an ongoing reassessment of whether
acompany isthe primary beneficiary of avariable interest entity and additional disclosures about a company’s
involvement in variable interest entities and any significant changesin risk exposure due to that involvement. This
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2009. The Company is evaluating the impact that
the adoption will have on our financial condition, results of operations, and disclosures.

The Company has determined that all other recently issued accounting standards will not have a material impact
onitsfinancia statements, or do not apply to its operations.

3. Initial Public Offering, Special Distribution and Secondary Offering

In November 2008, the Company completed an initial public offering of common stock. In theinitial public
offering, the Company sold 11,575,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of $12.00 per share, before
underwriting discounts and commissions. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $128,756, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. Upon the closing of the offering, all of
the Company’ s then outstanding Series A Preferred Stock converted into 10,870,178 shares of common stock and all
of the Company’ s then outstanding Series C Preferred Stock converted into 2,233,333 shares of common stock.

On September 26, 2008 the Company’ s Board of Directors approved the payment of a special distribution to its
stockholders of record as of September 26, 2008 to be paid from the proceeds of theinitia public offering (including
any proceeds resulting from sales of shares pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their over-allotment option) in
the amount of 75% of the gross offering proceeds. On November 3, 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved the revision of the record date for determining those stockholders entitled to receive the possible special
distribution described above to November 18, 2008. The Company’ s registration statement for the initial public
offering became effective on November 19, 2008. In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company distributed $108,675,
whichisequal to 75% of the total gross proceeds from the sale of common stock, including the underwriters
exercise of the over-allotment option. The special distribution was paid on an as if converted basis to all common
and preferred shareholders of record as of November 18, 2008.

In September 2009, the Company completed a public offering of shares of its common stock. In the offering
6,900,000 shares were sold, consisting of 1,000,000 shares sold by the Company and 5,900,000 shares sold by
certain stockholders of the Company. Total net proceeds to the Company were $14,880, net of underwriting
discounts and commissions and offering expenses. The Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale
of common stock sold by the selling stockholders.
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4. Restricted Cash and I nvestments

The following is a summary of amountsincluded in restricted cash and investments. The Company considers all
investments as available for sale.

As of December 31, 2009

Gross Gross Estimated

Adjusted  Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains (L 0sses) Value
Money Market FUNDS............cocoeueevereieeeiereeeseeeeeeenas $ 3 $ — $ — $ 43
MUniCipal SECUNTIES......cucviuivieiieeeee e 448 38 (1) 487
Tl $ 491 $ 38 $ @ $ 530

As of December 31, 2008

Gross Gross Estimated

Adjusted  Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains (L 0sses) Value
Money Market FUNDS............cocoueeerereeeeereeeereeeserennes $ 2928 % — $ — $ 2,928
MUNICIPal SECUNTIES......cucveveeeeeeeeeeee e e 448 28 (1) 475
TOtAl s $ 3376 $ 28 §$ 1 $ 3,403

The cash flows of Municipal Securities are backed by the issuing municipality’s credit worthiness. Contractual
maturities of the marketable securities at December 31, 2009 are as follows:

DUE iN ONE YEAI OF IESS ...ttt sttt sttt st ae st b s e b ese st e e seebesestebenssaesenessetenesnenas $ 170
DUE N ONETO FIVE YEAIS.....eeiee ettt bbbttt e e b e b bt e b e e aeeae e e e besbesbenaas 320
DUE N FIVE O TEN YBAS. ...ttt ettt b e s bt st b e e e b e s b et e s besb e e b e et e ns e e e beseesneneas 40
DN = g = == TSP —

$ 530

Gross realized gains and losses resulting from the sale of available-for-sale securities were $0, $110, and $0 for
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008,
and 2007, the net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities were $7, $(63), and $44, net of tax effect,
respectively.

5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2009 2008

I o ST TSTTR T T $ 7,230 $ —
Land iMPIOVEMENES.....cueceeeeeieestese st s e et e s e e et esrestesaesreese e e eneeseeneesnenrenns 1,597 —
2T o 1T S 25,176 —
Buildings under capital [E8SES ........cccvcivviriierecee e e — 22,283
Equipment under Capital 1EASES ......covivieiire e 3,545 1,571
L easehold iMProVEMENES. ..ot sb e enes 3,692 12,773
Furniture, fixtures and eQUIPMENT..........ccooiiiie e e e 30,077 14,439
(0171 ST TP OTUTPTURPRRRURN 1,431 1,222
CONSEIUCLION 1N PIOGIESS....cueeueeeetestestesueeteeieeseeseeseesbesaesse st eeessesbeseesbessesseensessabeseesresaens 7,712 2,049

80,460 54,337
Less accumulated depreciation and amortiZation ............ccoeveeereeierreerene e (13,090) (12,938)
Property and qUIPMENE, NEL.........coveeeeriieeere et st re e sa e besreseeresreneas $ 67370 $ 41,399
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In 2009, the Company acquired the land and buildings from Spirit. Prior to the acquisition, the Company had
leased the land and buildings from Spirit, accounting for the land as an operating lease and the buildings and
improvements as capital lease obligations. See Note 2 — Spirit Transaction.

Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment, including assets under capital
lease, totaled $7,228, $4,592, and $3,270 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

6. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2009 2008
Accrued compensation and DENEFItS ..o $ 11,898 $ 5340
Yoo (0= W11 (=S SR 94 284
(D L= = = | S 244 34
Tax reserves, NON-iNCOME taXx FElAed .........covereriririeee e 229 710
Uncertain tax POSItiONS 8CCTUAL .......ccviiieiiieceee et e s 568 299
Other aCCrued EXPENSES ......ccveveieireseseeeesees et ese e e saesresne e eneeneenees 5,070 3,007

$ 18103 $ 9674

7. Notes Payable and Other

To finance a portion of the campus land and building purchase from Spirit, the Company entered into aloan
agreement in April 2009 with afinancial institution pursuant to which it borrowed $25,675. The note agreement
contains standard covenants, including covenants that, among other things, restrict the Company’s ability to incur
additional debt or make certain investments, require the Company to maintain compliance with certain applicable
regulatory standards, and require the Company to maintain a certain financial condition. Indebtedness under the note
agreement is collateralized by the land and buildings that comprise the Company’ s ground campus. As of December
31, 2009, the Company isin compliance with its debt covenants.

As of December 31,

2009 2008

Notes Payable
Note payable, monthly payment of $143; interest at 30 day LIBOR plus 3.5%

(3.755% at December 31, 2009) through April 30, 2014 .......ccceoeeerrenerieeiesiee e $ 24565 $ —
Note payable; monthly payments of $20; interest at 3.9% through

SEPLEMDIET 2001 ...ttt ettt ettt e b et e bt e bt et ne b 407 628
Various Gift Annuities; quarterly payments of $34 extending through 2019;

INEEIESE B 100 ...vveveeereereer ettt n e 802 875
Equipment note; monthly payments of $6 extending through December 2011;

INEEIESE B 6690 ...vcuevereeereereeire et sttt 136 —
Notes payable for vehicles requiring monthly payments with interest rates

ranging from 8.8% to 11.0% extending into March 2013 ..........ccccecevvvievrceeceesesee s 178 241

26,088 1,744

S O DT = o1 oo o] o OSSR 2,105 357

$ 23983 $ 1,387

Long-term deferred rent included in notes payable and other as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $1,239 and
$72, respectively. The derivative liability for the forward interest rate swap included in notes payable and other as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $228 and $0, respectively.
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Payments due under the notes payable obligations are as follows:

December 31,

Notes Payable

20 1 1O $ 2,105
120 1 TP 2,056
120 TR 1,808
120 1 SRR 1,767
120 TP 17,908
QL= = L=, 444

$ 26,088

8. Capital Lease Obligations
Capital lease obligations consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2009 2008

Capital Lease Obligations
Capital lease for buildings (monthly payments of $301 at an implicit interest rate

of 8.7% through April 2009) ........ccocueiieiiiieiieree e ann $ — $ 30,098
Capital leases for equipment (various leases extending into 2012, with implicit

interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 9.3%, monthly payments totaling $74)................... 1,619 411

1,619 30,509

Less: Current portion of capital lease obligations..........c.ccoerereeieienine e 751 1,125

$ 868 $ 29,384
Payments due under future minimum lease payments under the capital |ease obligations are as follows:

December 31, 2009

Capital Lease
Obligations
L0 10 TSR PTPRTR $ 820
L0 1 TP 746
2012 AN thEIEALEN ..ottt sttt st see e 152
1,718
Less: Portion repreSenting i NEErESt........covvvriereeereeeere et sre e ee e s 99
Present value of minimum (€3S PaYMENES.........cccvereereririere e $ 1,619

9. Commitmentsand Contingencies
Leases
The Company leases certain land, buildings and equipment under non-cancel able operating |eases expiring at

various dates through 2023. Future minimum lease payments under operating leases due each year are as follows at
December 31, 2009:

December 31,
2009
20 O TSRS $ 3,699
0 TSRS 3,770
2012 bbb R b bbb h Rt e e bbb bbbttt e na 3,340
2013 ...t h e b bR E R bbb bR R e e bR bbbttt na 3,582
204 ... b bbb R et e bbb bbbttt 3,333
TREIEAITEN ...eceeeeec e 12,544
Total MiNIMUM PAYIMIENTS......cviviieririieeisesieesesieesesaeessessesesse e sessessessssessesesestessesessessesessessesens $ 30,268

Total rent expense and related taxes and operating expenses under operating leases for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $4,541, $2,375, and $2,260, respectively.
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Legal Matters

From time to time, the Company is a party to various lawsuits, claims, and other legal proceedingsthat arisein
the ordinary course of business, some of which are covered by insurance. When the Company is aware of aclaim or
potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. If it is probable that aloss will result and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company records a liability for the loss. If the lossis not
probable or the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, the Company discloses the nature of the specific
claimif the likelihood of a potential lossis reasonably possible and the amount involved is material. With respect to
the mgjority of pending litigation matters, the Company’s ultimate legal and financial responsibility, if any, cannot
be estimated with certainty and, in most cases, any potential losses related to those matters are not considered
probable.

On August 14, 2008, the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) served an administrative subpoena on the
Company requiring it to provide certain records and information related to performance reviews and salary
adjustments for all of its enrollment counselors and managers from January 1, 2004 to August 2008. The Company
is cooperating with the Office of Inspector General to facilitate itsinvestigation and is nearing completion of the
Company’ s rolling responsive document production, which commenced in September 2008. The Company cannot
presently predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation or any liability or other sanctions that may result.

On September 11, 2008, the Company was served with a qui tam lawsuit that had been filed against the
Company in August 2007 in the United States District Court for the District of Arizona by a then-current employee
on behalf of the federal government. All proceedingsin the lawsuit had been under seal until September 5, 2008,
when the court unsealed the first amended complaint, which was filed on August 11, 2008. A qui tam caseisacivil
lawsuit brought under the federal False Claims Act by one or more individual (a“relator”) on behalf of the federal
government for an alleged submission to the government of afalse claim for payment. The qui tam lawsuit alleges,
among other things, that the Company violated the False Claims Act by knowingly making false statements, and
submitting fal se records or statements, from at least 2001 to the present, to get false or fraudulent claims paid or
approved, and asserts that the Company improperly compensated certain of its enrollment counselors in violation of
the Title IV law governing compensation of such employees, and as aresult, improperly received Title IV program
funds. The complaint specifically alleges that some of the Company’ s compensation practices with respect to its
enrollment personnel, including providing non-cash awards, have violated the Title IV law governing compensation.
While the Company believes that the compensation policies and practices at issue in the complaint have not been
based on success in enrolling students in violation of applicable law, the Department of Education’s regulations and
interpretations of the incentive compensation law do not establish clear criteriafor compliancein all circumstances,
and some of these practices, including the provision of non-cash awards, are not within the scope of any explicit
“safe harbor” provided in the compensation regulations. The complaint seeks treble the amount of unspecified
damages sustained by the federal government in connection with the Company’s receipt of Title 1V funding, a civil
penalty for each violation of the False Claims Act, attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest. The Company filed a motion
to dismiss this case in November 2008, which was denied by the court in February 2009. The Company cannot
presently predict the ultimate outcome of this qui tam case or any liability or other sanctions that may result.

Pursuant to the court’s mandatory scheduling order, the Company has entered into settlement discussions with
respect to the qui tam matter with the relator. In connection with such discussions, in October 2009 the Company
reached a settlement in principle with the relator pursuant to which the Company has agreed to pay $5,200 to finally
resolve the qui tam case and thereby avoid the cost and distraction of a potentially protracted trial. The Company has
accrued $5,200 for estimated litigation loss in the accompanying financial statements. This settlement is conditioned
upon obtaining the approval of the U.S. Department of Justice (which has authority to approve settlements of False
Claims Act matters) and the Department of Education with respect to the resolution of the OIG investigation, and
finalizing settlement terms that would release the Company from other False Claims Act cases based upon the
conduct covered by the settlement. The parties and the United States government continue to negotiate towards a
final settlement. The ultimate dismissal of the action, should afinal settlement be reached, is subject to the court’s
approval. Should the parties fail to conclude the settlement on the proposed or other terms, the Company intends to
vigorously defend this lawsuit.

107



Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Notesto Financial Statements
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per sharedata)

If it were determined that any of our compensation practices violated the incentive compensation law, the
Company could experience an adverse outcome in the qui tam litigation and be subject to substantial monetary
liabilities, fines, and other sanctions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’ s business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

On February 28, 2007, the Company filed a complaint against SunGard Higher Education Managed Services Inc.
(“SunGard”) in the Maricopa County Superior Court, Case No. CV2007-003492, for breach of contract, breach of
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of warranty, breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference
with business expectancy, unjust enrichment, and consumer fraud related to a technology services agreement
between the parties. In response, SunGard moved to stay the litigation and compel arbitration. The court granted the
motion to stay, and compelled the parties to arbitrate. SunGard then filed its own claimsin the arbitration aleging
breach of the parties’ technology services agreement. Following discovery, the arbitration hearing occurred in late
May 2008 and final arguments were heard in July 2008. The Company sought approximately $1,400 from SunGard,
and SunGard counterclaimed for approxi mately $2,500. On October 22, 2008, the arbitration panel issued a Fina
Award finding for SunGard on its breach of contract claim and also finding for the Company on its breach of
contract, breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and conversion counterclaims. Both parties were awarded
damages with a net award to SunGard in the amount of approximately $255 plusinterest. The arbitration panel also
held that each party would be responsible for its own attorneys' fees and that the parties would equally share the
arbitration costs. On January 14, 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with SunGard regarding
payment of the arbitration award and effecting a mutual rel ease between the parties regarding al claims that were
brought, or could have been brought, in the litigation and related arbitration.

At December 31, 2007 the Company had reserved approximately $750 for estimated losses related to the
SunGard matter. Asaresult of the SunGard arbitration decision, the Company reduced its reserve for litigation by
$400 in the year ended December 31, 2008, given that there was no further legal recourse for either party and the
remaining actions necessary to settle the matters were administrative in nature.

Upon resolution of any pending legal matters, the Company may incur chargesin excess of presently established
reserves. Management does not believe that any such charges would, individually or in the aggregate, have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Tax Reserves, Non-Income Tax Related

From time to time the Company has exposure to various non-income tax related matters that arise in the ordinary
course of business. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company has reserved approximately $229 and $710 for
tax matters where its ultimate exposure is considered probable and the potential 1oss can be reasonably estimated.
During 2009, a non-income tax related matter related to the Company’ s classification of its online faculty as
independent contractors was resolved with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS") and, effective July 1, 2009, all
faculty for the Company will be treated as employees. The Company had reserved $235 in 2008 related to this
matter, which approximated the amount paid in 2009.
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10. Derivative I nstruments

On June 30, 2009, the Company entered into two derivative agreements to manage its 30-day LIBOR interest
exposure related to its variable rate note payable. Neither of these instruments contained financing elements. The
contractual terms of the Company’ s derivative instruments have not been structured to ensure that net payments will
be made by one party in the earlier periods and subsequently returned by the counterparty in later periods of the
derivative’ sterm. Neither of the Company’ s derivative instruments have been amended or modified since their
inception. The interest rate corridor required an upfront payment of $164 by the Company to the counterparty solely
for the time value of an out-of-the-money option contract based on the forward LIBOR rate curve at the instrument’s
inception. Accordingly, the fair value of the corridor derivative asset at inception was $164. The fair value for the
interest rate corridor was determined using a hypothetical derivative transaction and Level 2 of the hierarchy of
valuation inputs. The fair value as of December 31, 2009 with adjustment for credit risk was $113 and this
derivative asset isincluded in Other assets in the accompanying balance sheet. The interest rate swap instrument was
an out-of-the-money option contract based on the forward LIBOR rate curve at the instrument’ s inception. The fair
value of the forward starting interest rate swap, with adjustment for credit risk, isaliability of $228 as of December
31, 2009 and isincluded in long term notes payable and other in the accompanying balance sheet. These derivative
instruments were designated as cash flow hedges of variable rate note payable obligations. Accordingly, the
adjustment of $278 for the effective portion of the loss on the derivativesisincluded as a component of other
comprehensive income, net of taxes.

The interest rate corridor instrument hedges variable interest rate risk starting July 1, 2009 through April 30,
2014 with a notional amount of $12,300 as of December 31, 2009. The corridor instrument permits the Company to
hedge itsinterest rate risk at several thresholds; the Company will pay variable interest rates based on the 30-day
LIBOR rates monthly until that index reaches 4%. If 30-day LIBOR is equal to 4% through 6%, the Company will
pay 4%. If 30-day LIBOR exceeds 6%, the Company will pay actual 30-day LIBOR less 2%. This reduces the
Company’ s exposure to potential increases in interest rates.

The forward starting interest rate swap commences on May 1, 2010 and continues each month thereafter until
April 30, 2014 and has an initial notional amount of $12,000. The Company will receive 30-day LIBOR and pay
3.245% fixed interest on the amortizing notional amount. Therefore, the Company has hedged its exposure to future
variable rate cash flows through April 30, 2014. The forward interest rate swap in not subject to a master netting
arrangement and no collateral has been called or posted by the counterparty. Such collateral, if called by the
counterparty, would be included in the restricted cash and cash equivalent balances.

11. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share reflects
the assumed conversion of al potentially dilutive securities, consisting of stock options, preferred stock and
common stock warrants for which the estimated fair value exceeds the exercise price, less shares which could have
been purchased with the related proceeds, unless anti-dilutive. Contingently issuable stock, such asissuancesto
Blanchard Education, LLC (as discussed in Note 12), is aso included in the diluted shares computation if enrollment
levels have been attained, unless anti-dilutive.
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The table below reflects the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, on an as
if converted basis, used in computing basic and diluted earnings per common share.

Y ear Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Denominator:
Basic common shares OUtStanding.........ccccvvveeeeveereseseseeseeneeseens 45,184,186 22,184,766 18,922,838
Effect of dilutive preferred StocK.........cvvveeeveviivevie e — 9,559,801 12,393,062
Effect of dilutive WarrantS..........ccoeeeeveneienencne s — 1,666,312 3,805,384
Effect of contingently issuable common stocK ..........cccocvveveeiennnns — 19,010 21,912
Effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock.........cc.cceeeeeee 318,639 — —
Diluted common shares outStanding...........ocoeeeereereneseseseeieenens 45,502,825 33,429,889 _ 35,143,196

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding exclude the incremental effect of shares that would be issued upon
the assumed exercise of stock options. For the year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, approximately 196,804 and
3,247,380, respectively, of our stock options outstanding were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per
share as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. These options could be dilutive in the future.

12. Preferred Stock and Equity Transactions
Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company had 10,000,000 shares of authorized but unissued and
undesignated preferred stock. As of December 31, 2007, the following series of preferred stock had been authorized,
al of which were previously repurchased or converted into shares of our common stock in connection with our
initial public offering of common stock in November 2008.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company entered into a Series A convertible preferred stock (the “ Series A”) purchase agreement on
August 24, 2005. The holders of Series A were entitled to vote and to receive dividends, when and as declared by
the board of directors from time to time, in each case on an as-converted to common stock basis. The Series A was
originally convertible into common stock on a one for one basis, but, as a result of the stock split that occurred in
connection with our initial public offering of common stock, the Series A ultimately converted at aratio of 1,826
shares of common stock for each share of Series A, or atotal of 10,870,178 shares of common stock, upon the
completion of the Company’sinitia public offering of common stock in November 2008.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

On December 31, 2005, the Company entered into a Series B preferred stock purchase agreement. The holders of
Series B were entitled to receive, in preference to the holders of Series A, when and as declared by the board of
directors, cumulative dividends at arate of 12.0% per year, less the amount of any dividends actually paid. Such
dividends accrued whether or not declared by the board of directors, and whether or not there were funds legally
available to pay dividends. The Series B was originally convertible into Series A on aone for one basis and was
non-voting.

On December 31, 2005 the Company issued 2,163 shares Series B and received net proceeds of $6,980 in the
form of a stock subscription receivable. The receivable was subsequently paid in April 2006. On November 6, 2006,
the Company redeemed 1,298 shares of the Series B for an aggregate redemption price of $4,200 plus accrued and
unpaid dividends of $286. Dividends of $241 on the remaining shares of Series B were declared by the board of
directors of which $213 were paid as of December 31, 2006. During 2007, the Company declared $320 of dividends
on the Series B of which $153 was paid with the remaining balance accrued for as dividends payable. The remaining
865 shares of Series B were exchanged for 800 shares of Series C on December 17, 2007. The fair value of the
shares of Series C issued in exchange for such shares of Series B was equal to the carrying amount of the shares of
Series B at the date of the exchange. As of December 31, 2008 and 2009, no shares of Series B were outstanding.
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Series C Preferred Stock

On December 18, 2007, the Company entered into a Series C preferred stock purchase agreement and
subscription agreement. The holders of Series C were entitled to receive, in preference to the holders of the all other
classes of stock, when and as declared by the board of directors or upon a liquidation event, cumulative dividends at
arate of 8.0% per year, less the amount of any dividends actually paid. Such dividends accrued whether or not
declared by the board of directors, whether or not there were funds legally available to pay dividends, and
compounded on an annual basis. In the event of liquidation, or a change in control, as defined, the holders of the
Series C were entitled to receive, in preference to al other shareholders, any distributions of the assets of the
Company equal to two timesthe original purchase price of the shares, or $7,000 per share, subject to certain
adjustments, plus al accumulated but unpaid dividends. The Series C was non-voting.

On December 18, 2007 the Company issued 1,359 shares of Series C stock and received net proceeds of $4,720
in cash and a subscription receivable of $5,725 for the remaining 1,636 shares, which were paid for and issued in
January 2008. Additionally, the Company issued 34 shares of Series C in consideration for amounts owed to one of
the Series B stockholders and converted 865 shares of Series B for 800 shares of Series C as noted above.
Cumulative undeclared dividends on the Series C were $29 at December 31, 2007.

In May 2008, the board of directors and stockholders of the Company authorized an amendment to be made to
the Company’s certificate of incorporation that provided for the Series C preferred stock to convert automatically
into common stock upon the closing of a qualified public offering. In November 2008, the board of directors and
stockholders of the Company revised such amendment to clarify that, upon conversion to common stock, accrued
and unpaid dividends would be disregarded and not paid. The amendment was filed on November 19, 2008, and
became effective prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement relating to our initial public offering. The
number of shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the Series C in connection with the initial public
offering was equal to the aggregate liquidation preference of the Series C preferred stock divided by the public
offering price of the common stock, which equaled $26,800 divided by $12.00, or 2,233,333 shares of common
stock. The accrued but unpaid dividends related to the Series C were accretive through November 19, 2008 resulting
in cumulative undeclared dividends on the Series C of $938 upon conversion.

Common Stock

On September 26, 2008 the Company’ s Board of Directors approved an amendment to the Company’s charter to
increase the Company’ s authorized common stock to 100,000,000 common shares. This charter amendment was
approved by the Company’ s stockholders on September 27, 2008 and became effective on September 29, 2008. On
September 26, 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a 1,826 for one stock split of its outstanding
common stock, which became effective on September 29, 2008. This stock split resulted in the issuance of
approximately 19.2 million additional shares of common stock and caused the conversion ratio of the Series A to
adjust from aone for one ratio to an 1,826 for oneratio. All information presented in the accompanying financial
statements have been adjusted to reflect the 1,826 for one stock split.

In June 2004, the Company entered into a license agreement with Blanchard relating to the Company’ s use of the
Ken Blanchard name for its College of Business. Under the terms of that agreement the Company agreed to pay
Blanchard aroyalty generated on net tuition from certain programs in the University’s College of Business and to
issue to Blanchard up to 909,348 shares of common stock with the actual number issued to be contingent upon the
Company’s achievement of stated enrollment levelsin its College of Business during the term of the agreement. As
of December 31, 2006, the Company deemed it probable that 182,600 shares would be earned and, as of August 15,
2007, those 182,600 shares were earned and due to Blanchard under this agreement, On May 9, 2008, the Company
and Blanchard amended the terms of the agreement pursuant to which Blanchard was issued 365,200 shares of the
Company’ s common stock in full settlement of all shares owed and contingently owed under this agreement. The
fair value of the sharesissued to Blanchard as part of the license agreement of $3,394 was determined at the date it
became probable that shares would then be earned and then adjusted until the date the shares were earned. This
amount isincluded in the balance sheet as a component of “Prepaid Royalty” and will be amortized through
operations as an expense over the remaining term of the license agreement. Included in due to related partiesis $869
and $484 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, related to the royalty arrangement.
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Preferred Stock

The Company’s charter, which became effective upon the completion of the Company’sinitial public offering,
provides that the board of directors has authority to issue preferred stock, with voting powers, designations,
preferences, and special rights, qualifications, limitation, or restrictions as permitted by law as determined by the
board of directors, without stockholder approval. The board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred
stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of
the common stock.

Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In 2004, the Company issued the Institute Warrant to purchase a 10.0% non-dilutive membership interest (later
amended to be common stock), at an exercise price of $1. The Institute Warrant was to have been exercisable for a
one month period beginning on July 1, 2011. The Company had the right to repurchase the Institute Warrant prior to
the exercise period for $6,000. On April 15, 2008 the Institute Warrant was repurchased with the execution of the
settlement discussed in Note 2. The repurchase was accounted for as a reduction of equity, net of related tax benefit
of $2,316.

In 2004, the Company issued the Spirit Warrant, which was exercisable for 909,348 shares for an aggregate
exercise price of $526. On November 18, 2008, the Spirit Warrant was exercised. The shares issued upon exercise of
the Spirit Warrant were subject to repurchase at a fixed price of $16,000 at any time prior to three years after the
date the Spirit Warrant was exercised, or November 18, 2011. The Company exercised thisright in April 2009 and
repurchased the 909,348 shares for an allocated purchase price of $14,495. The shares were retired. See Note 2,
Spirit Transaction.

I nvestor Rights Agreement

The Company is a party to an investor rights agreement with certain of its investors, pursuant to which the
Company has granted those persons or entities the right to register shares of common stock held by them under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act”). Certain of the holders of these rights are entitled to
demand that the Company register their shares of common stock under the Securities Act, while others are entitled
to “piggyback” registration rightsin which they may require the Company to include their shares of common stock
in future registration statements that may be filed, either for its own account or for the account of other security
holders exercising registration rights. In addition, after aninitial public offering, certain of these holders have the
right to request that their shares of common stock be registered on a Form S-3 registration statement so long as the
anticipated aggregate sales price of such registered shares as of the date of filing of the Form S-3 registration
statement is at least $1,000. The foregoing registration rights are subject to various conditions and limitations,
including the right of underwriters of an offering to limit the number of registrable securities that may be included in
an offering. The registration rights terminate as to any particular shares on the date on which the holder sells such
shares to the public in aregistered offering or pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act. The Company is
generally required to bear all of the expenses of these registrations, except underwriting commissions, selling
discounts, and transfer taxes.

13. Income Taxes

The Company has deferred tax assets and liabilities that reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are subject to periodic recoverability assessments. Realization of the
deferred tax assets, net of deferred tax liabilities is principally dependent upon achievement of projected future
taxable income. The Company has no valuation allowance at December 31, 2009 and 2008.
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The components of income tax expense (benefit) are asfollows:

Y ear Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Current:
S0 = $ 16587 $ 3564 $ 2,19
R = (< 3,515 432 478
20,102 3,996 2,672
Deferred:
S0 (= (1,498) 190 (1,358)
RS = (< TSR (625) (331) (298)

(2,123) (141) (1,656)
$ 17979 $ 3855 $ 1,016

A reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. statutory rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate (Denefit) ......coovvvveeeevererr e 35.0% 35.0% 34.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ... 5.2 5.8 4.7
State tax credits, net of federal effect ... (1.5) (5.2) —
NON dedUCtible EXPENSES .......cceieceieecee e 0.1 0.7 0.5
L1 07 ST 1.1 0.3 0.8
Effective income tax rate (Denefit) ... 39.7% 36.6% 40.0%

Significant components of the Company’ s deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009 and
2008 are asfollows:

As of December 31,

2009 2008
Current deferred tax asset (liability):
Accounts receivable allowance for doubtful 8CCOUNES...........coevvireinirinieece $ 3315 $ 2,668
LI =0 [ TSP SPOSPN — 183
S 1 == TS (135) (664)
Estimated [itigation 10SS.........coiriiiiirieee e e s s 2,247 —
L@ 1 1= SRS 1,258 416
Current deferred taX @SSEL..........civeiieie e e et re s 6,685 2,603
Non-current deferred tax asset (liability):
Depreciation AN [EBSES ........coiverierie ettt sttt s b e e e b e (605) 1,750
Share-based COMPENSALION.........coiiiiie e e 2,749 1,403
Unrealized gains on available for sale SECUNties........cccovvvveeeecere v (16) (20
DEFEITEA TENL. ...ttt et sttt sttt st e 376 45
1= 0 T o= 3,812 4,216
L@ 11 ST (360) —
Non-current deferred taX GSSEL ..o s 5,956 7,404
Nt dEfErTed taX SSEL......cvevereeeeeere e $ 12641 $ 10,007

The Company has Arizona state income tax credit carryforwards of $364 primarily attributable to school tuition
credits which expire in 2013.

In January 2008, the Company began its accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. The Company will
recognize the impact of atax position initsfinancial statementsif that position is more-likely-than-not of being
sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company discloses all unrecognized tax
benefits, which includes the reserves recorded for uncertain tax positions on filed tax returns and the unrecognized
portion of affirmative claims. No adjustment was made to opening retained earnings. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.
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The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 isas
follows:

2009 2008

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning Of YEaI ..o e e $ 748 $ 404
Tax positions taken during the current year

INMCIEASES ...tttk b bt bt e Rt R e Rt R e e e R R Rt Rt Rt R e e e nr e R R eneenens 390 117

DIBCIEESES. ...ttt et R e Rttt e R E e e n e e e neenre e — —
Tax positions taken during a prior year

[NMCIEASES ...ttt e h bbbt e e s et R bRt R e e e R R e Rt Rt R e e e e nr e R R ene e en 7 227

DIBCIEASES. ...ttt ettt ettt et b ettt ettt et et e e bt be s heeh e e et e ae e e e e e be SRt eb e e Rt eReene e e e beeheebe e Rt enbene e benaeereas 4
Decreases for settlements during the Period ...........coeeiiieie e e (75) —
Reductions for lapses of applicable statute of limitations............ccooererenie i — —
Unrecognized tax benefits, end Of YEar ..o $ 1066 $ 748

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the unrecognized tax benefit recorded of $619 and $235, respectively, if
reversed, would impact the effective tax rate. During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, the
Company recognized approximately $52, $116 and $21, respectively, in interest and penalties. At December 31,
2009 and 2008, the Company had accrued $148 and $136, respectively, in interest and $30 and $36, respectively, in
penalties. It is reasonably possible that the amount of the unrecognized tax benefit will change during the next 12
months, however management does not expect the potential change to have a material effect on the results of
operations or financial position.

The Company’ s uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain subject to examination by tax
authorities. As of December 31, 2009, the earliest tax year still subject to examination for federal and state purposes
is 2005. During the second quarter ended June 30, 2008, the IRS commenced an examination of the Company’s
2005 income tax return and subsequently opened 2006 for examination.

14. Regulatory

The Company is subject to extensive regulation by federal and state governmental agencies and accrediting
bodies. In particular, the Higher Education Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the Department of
Education subject the Company to significant regulatory scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that schools
must satisfy in order to participate in the various federal student financial assistance programs under Title IV of the
Higher Education Act.

To participate in the Title IV programs, an institution must be authorized to offer its programs of instruction by
the relevant agency of the state in which it is located, accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the
Department of Education and certified as eligible by the Department of Education. The Department of Education
will certify an ingtitution to participate in the Title IV programs only after the institution has demonstrated
compliance with the Higher Education Act and the Department of Education’s extensive regulations regarding
institutional eigibility. Aninstitution must also demonstrate its compliance to the Department of Education on an
ongoing basis. The Company submitted its application for recertification in March 2008 in anticipation of the
expiration of its provisional certification on June 30, 2008. The Department of Education did not make a decision on
the Company’ s recertification application by June 30, 2008, and therefore the Company’s participation in the Title
IV programs has been automatically extended on a month-to-month basis until the Department of Education makes
its decision. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, management believes the Company isin compliance with the
applicable regulationsin all material respects.

The Higher Education Act requires accrediting agencies to review many aspects of an institution’s operationsin
order to ensure that the training offered is of sufficiently high quality to achieve satisfactory outcomes, and that the
institution is complying with accrediting standards. Failure to demonstrate compliance with accrediting standards
may result in the imposition of probation or Show Cause orders, or the requirements of periodic reports, and
ultimately the loss of accreditation if deficiencies are not remediated.
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Political and budgetary concerns significantly affect the Title IV programs. Congress must reauthorize the
student financial assistance programs of the Higher Education Act on a periodic basis. On July 31, 2008, Congress
passed the Higher Education Opportunity Act (the “2008 Act”), which reauthorized and made numerous changes to
the Higher Education Act and its programs. President Bush signed the 2008 Act on August 14, 2008. The Higher
Education Act, as reauthorized and amended by the 2008 Act, continues the access of the Company and its students
to Title IV program funds. In addition, changes made by the 2008 Act will affect how the Company complies with
the requirement that it receive a certain proportion of its revenue from other than the Title IV programs. Prior to the
enactment of the 2008 Act, other recent changes made by Congress expanded the access of the Company and its
studentsto Title IV program funds by increasing loan limits for first and second year students and lifting restrictions
on on-line education programs and students.

A significant component of Congress' initiative to reduce abuse in the Title IV programs has been the imposition
of limitations on ingtitutions whose former students default on the repayment of their federally guaranteed or funded
student loans above specific rates (cohort default rate). Although the Company is not obligated to repay any of its
students' or former students’ defaults on payments of their federally guaranteed student loans, if such default rates
equal or exceed 25% for three consecutive years, the institution may loseits eligibility to participate in, and its
students will be denied access to, the federally guaranteed and funded student loan programs and the Federal Pell
Grant Program. An institution whose cohort default rate for any federal fiscal year exceeds 40% will not be eligible
to participate in the Title IV loan programs. The 2008 Act included significant revisions to the requirements
concerning ingtitutions' cohort default rates, including revisions to the formulafor calculating an institution’s annual
cohort default rate which are expected to increase the likelihood of default, and increases to the threshold for ending
aningtitution’s participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%.

All institutions participating in the Title IV programs must satisfy specific standards of financia responsibility.
The Department of Education evaluates institutions for compliance with these standards each year, based on the
ingtitution’s annual audited financial statements, and also following a change in ownership, as defined by the
Department of Education.

The Department of Education calculates the ingtitution’s composite score for financial responsibility based on its
(i) equity ratio, which measures the institution’s capital resources, ability to borrow and financial viability; (ii)
primary reserve ratio, which measures the institution’ s ability to support current operations from expendable
resources; and (iii) net income ratio, which measures the institution’s ability to operate at a profit. An institution that
does not meet the Department of Education’s minimum composite score may demonstrate its financial responsibility
by posting a letter of credit in favor of the Department of Education and possibly accepting other conditions on its
participationin the Title IV programs. As of December 31, 2009, the Company satisfied each of the Department of
Education’s standards of financial responsibility.

Because the Company operatesin a highly regulated industry, it, like other industry participants, may be subject
from time to time to investigations, claims of non-compliance, or lawsuits by governmental agencies or third parties,
which allege statutory violations, regulatory infractions, or common law causes of action. While there can be no
assurance that regulatory agencies or third parties will not undertake investigations or make claims against the
Company, or that such claims, if made, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations or financial condition, management believes it has materially complied with all regulatory requirements.

15. Share-Based Compensation Plans
Adoption of Equity Plans

On September 27, 2008 the Company’ s stockholders approved the adoption of the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan
(“Incentive Plan”) and the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase (“ESPP”). A total of 4,199,937 shares of the Company’s
common stock were originally authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan. On January 1, 2009 and in
accordance with the terms of the Incentive Plan, the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Incentive
Plan automatically increased by 2.5% of the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding on
December 31, 2008, or 1,136,629 shares, raising the total number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
under the Incentive Plan to 5,336,566 shares. Although the ESPP has not yet been implemented, atotal of 1,049,984
shares of the Company’s common stock have been authorized for sale under the ESPP.
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Incentive Plan

In connection with the initial public offering, on November 19, 2008, the Company granted 710,494 fully vested
options and 2,594,583 time vested options to purchase shares of common stock with an exercise price equal to the
initial public offering price of $12.00 per share. The time vested options will vest ratably over a period of five years
for employees and three years for the director grant. Both the fully vested and time vested options will expire ten
years from the date of grant.

A summary of the activity related to stock options granted under the Company’ s Incentive Plan is as follows:

Summary of Stock Options Outstanding
Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Total Price per Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Share Term (Years) Value ($)(1)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2007................. — 3 —
Granted ......oooveeerereee e 3,305,108 12.00
(S (WTS = o [ (49,322) 12.00
Forfeited, canceled or expired ........cccocvvvvvcvrnenen. (8,375) 12.00
Outstanding as of December 31, 2008................. 3,247,411 12.00
Granted .....ccoveeeririeese e 217,526 16.65
GG o S = o [ SRS (12,807) 12.00
Forfeited, canceled or expired ..........ccocoeeeveeeieeneennn. (102,134) 12.00
Outstanding as of December 31, 2009................. 3,3499% $ 12.30 893 % 23,014
Exercisable as of December 31, 2009 .................. 1,093356 $ 12.00 8.88 $ 7,839
Availablefor issuance as of December 31, 2009....... 1,717,049

(1) Aggregateintrinsic value represents the value of our closing stock price on December 31, 2009 ($19.17) in
excess of the exercise price multiplied by the number of options outstanding or exercisable.

As of December 31, 2009, there was approximately $13,100 of total unrecognized share-based compensation
cost, net of forfeitures, related to unvested stock options. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 2.4 years.

The following table summarizes information related to stock options exercised for year ended December 31,
2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
Amountsrelated to options exer cised:
Intrinsic value realized DY OPLtIONEE..........cociiiciii ettt s e et sreneas $ 656 $ 249
Actual tax benefit realized by Company for tax dedUCtioNS...........cccveeeveerierinie s $262% 98

Cash received from stock option exercises during fiscal year 2009 and 2008 totaled approximately $1,200 and
$600, respectively.
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Share-based Compensation Expense

The table below outlines share-based compensation expense for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 and
2008 related to stock options granted:

2009 2008
INSErUCiON@l COSES BNA SEIVICES ...ttt bbbttt $ 771 $ 1,737
Selling and PromMOtiONa .........ccceeeieieiieieee s re e ese e e neenaenreas 116 1,322
General and adMINISEFALIVE........covueireireirreere e 2,453 619
Share-based compensation expense included in operating eXpenses.........ocoeveeereeeeene 3,340 3,678
Tax effect of share-based COMPENSALTION........ccoiiiiiiiee e (1,336) _ (1,454)
Share-based compensation expense, NEt Of TAX.......cccerreieriniiene e $ 2004 $§ 2224

Share-based Compensation Expense Assumptions

Fair Value. The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to estimate the fair value of our
options as of the grant dates using the following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31, 2009 2008
Weighted average fair VAIUB..........ceivceiie ettt sttt st sa et s a et $ 799 $ 568
(0= o1 (= 0 V0] = 1] /RS 47.46%  46.13%
EXPECLEA [ITE (YEAIS) ... eeeenie ettt et bbbt e bbb b e ne e e e 6.47 6.14
RiISK-TIrEE INEEIESE FALE. ... eccteeiecie ettt e s e s be e e et e s eesae e saeesreesaeebeenteeabesneesneens 2.81% 2.44%
DIVIAENA YIEI ... bbbt s ee b ne e e e 0% 0%

Expected Volatility. Asthe Company’s stock had not been publicly traded prior to November 2008, the expected
volatility assumption for the year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 reflects an average of volatilities of the
Company’s peer group of public education companies with a period equal to the expected life of the options.

Expected Life (years). The Company continues to use the simplified method to estimate the expected term of
stock options under certain circumstances. The simplified method for estimating expected termis to use the mid-
point between the vesting term and the contractual term of the share option. The Company has analyzed the
circumstances in which the use of the smplified method is allowed. The Company has el ected to use the simplified
method for options granted in fiscal year 2008 and 2009 because the Company does not have historical exercise data
to estimate expected term due to the limited time period its shares have been publicly traded.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon the U.S. constant maturity treasury
rates as the risk-free rate interpol ated between the years commensurate with the expected life of the options.

Dividend Yield. The dividend yield assumption is zero since the Company does not expect to declare or pay
dividends in the foreseeable future.

Forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant based on historical retention of employees. If
necessary, management estimates are adjusted at the end of each vesting period if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates.

Expected Vesting Period. The Company amortizes the share-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures,
over the expected vesting period using the straight-line method.
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Stock Grant

On November 19, 2008, the Company granted 109,329 shares of common stock with afair value of $12.00 per
share, to its Chief Executive Officer, which isreflected as share-based compensation expense in 2008 in the amount
of $1,300 in general and administrative expense.

Restricted Stock Grants

On March 3, 2009, the Company granted 1,307 shares of common stock with afair value of $15.30 per share, to
certain members of the Company’ s board of directors. The restricted shares have voting rights and vest on March 3,
2010. On May 19, 2009, the Company granted 2,491 shares of common stock with afair value of $14.05 per share,
to certain members of the Company’ s board of directors. The restricted shares have voting rights and vest on the
earlier of May 19, 2010 or immediately prior to the 2010 annual stockholders' meeting. On November 10, 2009, the
Company granted 1,141 shares of common stock with afair value of $17.54 per share, to a member of the
Company’ s board of directors. The restricted shares have voting rights and vest on November 10, 2010.

A summary of the activity related to restricted and unrestricted stock granted under the Company’s Incentive
Planisasfollows:

Weighted

Average
Grant Date
Total Fair Value
Shares per Share

Outstanding as of December 31, 2007 ........cccoceeeeeeeererieiererereereee s — % —
(€T 101 (= o [T 109,328 12.00
RV == <o [PPSR 109,328 12.00
Forfeited, canceled Or EXPITE .......cccviveeeeeeerere e nes —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2008..........ccceciererierierieeereererese e ses e eeeseeseesreseens 109,328 12.00
(€11 o SO PPRR 8,737 14.88
V=5 o TSRS —

Forfeited, canceled Or EXPITE .......cccvieeeeeeeerere et nes —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2009..........cccceererieineieise e 118,065 $ 12.21
Exercisable as of December 31, 2009 ........coooiiiiniinennie e e 109,328 $ 12.00
401(k) Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) Defined Contribution Benefit Plan (the “Plan™). The Plan provides
eligible employees, upon date of hire, with an opportunity to make tax-deferred contributionsinto along-term
investment and savings program. All employees over the age of 21 are eligible to participate in the plan. The Plan
alows eligible employees to contribute to the Plan subject to Internal Revenue Code restrictions and the Plan allows
the Company to make discretionary matching contributions. The Company made discretionary matching
contributions to the plan of $400, $388 and $250 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.
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16. Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions include transactions between the Company and certain of its shareholders and
affiliates. The following transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the parties.

As of and for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, related party transactions consisted of the
following:

Shareholders

Sgnificant Education Holding, LLC (“ Sg Ed” ) —Prior to completion of the Company’ sinitia public offering
of common stock, Sig Ed was a stockholder of the Company. In connection with theinitial public offering, Sig Ed
was dissolved and shares of the Company’ s common stock that were held by Sig Ed were distributed to its members.
At December 31, 2007 until the distribution of such sharesin connection with theinitial public offering, Sig Ed held
18,260,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company has not engaged in any transactions with Sig Ed,
but has engaged in certain transactions with former members of Sig Ed, as discussed below.

Affiliates of 220 Partners purchased 632 shares of Series C for $2,212 in 2007, of which $1,409 was due as of
December 31, 2007. This amount was paid January 6, 2008. There were no other amounts due from or payable to an
affiliate of 220 Partners at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

Rich Crow Enterprises, LLC (“ Rich Crow” ) —Members of Rich Crow include the Executive Chairman and
General Counsel of the Company, who are also both members of the Company’ s Board of Directors. Rich Crow was
also amember of Sig Ed. A member of Rich Crow is also related to the owner of a company that provided
marketing services totaling $257 and $401 in the years ended December 31, 2009, and 2008, respectively, of which
no amounts were owed at December 31, 2009, and 2008.

Endeavour Capital Fund 1V, LP, Endeavour Associated Fund IV, LP, and Endeavour Capital Parallel Fund IV,
LP (“ Endeavour” ) — Two members of the Company’s Board of Directors are also employees of Endeavour. The
Company paid Endeavour management and reimbursed fees of $0, $356, and $296 for the years ended December
31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, $0 and $34 were payable to Endeavour.

Affiliates
Mind Streams, LLC (“ Mind Streams” ) and 21st Century, LLC (“ 21st Century” ) —Mind Streams and 21st
Century are owned and operated, in part, by the father of the Company’s Executive Chairman and General Counsel.

See further discussion in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— Selling and Promotional.

17. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Balance at
Beginningof Charged to End of
Y ear Expense  Deductions® Y ear
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable:
Y ear ended December 31, 2009........ccceeeeeeeevvreeieeene $ 6,356 14,016 (12,819) $ 7,553
Y ear ended December 31, 2008..........ccceeeeeeevreeieeene $ 12,158 8,465 (14,267) $ 6,356
Y ear ended December 31, 2007........coceeeeeeeeereeieeene $ 7,380 6,257 1,479 $ 12,158

(1) Deductions represent accounts written off, net of recoveries.
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18. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Asaresult of an increase in the number of start dates for courses offered to its students for the 2009-2010
academic year and in preparation for its conversion from aterm-based to a non-term, borrower-based financial aid
system, on July 1, 2009 the Company refined its revenue recognition methodology to recognize tuition revenue and
most fees on a daily basis over the applicable period of instruction (the “days approach™). Previously, the Company
recognized tuition revenue and most fees monthly over the applicable period of instruction (the “monthly
approach”), which management believed resulted in revenue being recognized on a basis materially consistent with
the days approach. However, upon adoption of the days approach, management noted that while the monthly
approach recognized revenue on a basis that materially approximated the annual revenue recognized under the days
approach, it created materially different resultsin certain interim periods. Those differences were primarily the result
of the timing of the start of the terms and scheduled breaks. As aresult, management has restated its quarterly
financial information for all periods prior to July 1, 2009 as a correction of an error in accordance with ASC 250 to
reflect revenue as if it had been recorded under the days approach for all prior interim periods. The restatement also
reflects adjustments to the timing of recording of certain expenses, including salaries and benefits for faculty,
revenue share and royalty arrangements and prior to its termination, the royalty payment to the former owner, to
recognize those expenses as incurred on a basis commensurate with the term of the related course.

The following table summarizes the unaudited quarterly results of operations as originally reported and as
restated for each of the four quarters of 2008 and the first two quarters of 2009 with the restated amounts reflecting
amounts that would have been recorded had the days approach been used to recognize revenue and related expenses
for all periods presented, and should be read in conjunction with other information included in the accompanying
financial statements.

2009
First Quarter First Quarter Second Quarter Second Quarter
AsReported As Restated As Reported As Restated
NEt revenue........ccveeverecrerieene, $ 58,964 $ 55459 $ 59,400 $ 62,905
Costs and expenses.
Ingtructional costs and services....... 18,332 17,968 20,047 20,411
Selling and promotional................ 19,670 19,575 20,631 20,726
Genera and administrative.......... 8,833 8,833 8,688 8,688
Estimated litigation loss............... — — — —
Estimated exit COStS .......cecerennnne — — — —
Royalty to former owner.............. 74 74 74 74
Total costsand expenses................ 46,909 46,450 49,440 49,899
Operating inCome..........cccoeeeeeceenenne 12,055 9,009 9,960 13,006
Net interest expense...........cecveeueee. (559) (558) (299 (300)
Income beforeincome taxes.......... 11,496 8,451 9,661 12,706
Income tax expense .......cccvceeveererene 4,593 3,376 3,846 5,063
Net income available to common
stockholders........coovvvveneeninienenn $ 6,903 $ 5075 $ 5815 $ 7,643
Earnings per share:
Basic income per share(l) ............. $ 015 $ 011 $ 013 $ 0.17
Diluted income per share(l).......... $ 015 $ 011 $ 013 $ 0.17
Basic weighted average
sharesoutstanding........ccccceeeeueene. 45,474 45,474 44,846 44,846
Diluted weighted average shares
outstanding.......coceeveevverieiesenienens 45,821 45,821 45,051 45,051

(1) The sum of quarterly income per share may not equal annual income per share due to rounding and second
quarter net loss.
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Costs and expenses.

Instructional COStS aNd SENVICES........covirererirerre e
Selling and Promotional..........ccccvveereeererere e
Genera and adminNiStratiVe...........cooeeeirineniee s
Estimated [itigation [0SS.........ccovvvieieeieiecie e
Estimated eXit COStS.....cccvvvreririerererinenerieeane
Royalty to former OWner........ccccccevveevereennnne.
Total costsand eXpenseS.......cccverveerereneniennns
Operating iNCOME .......cceveierereeeeee e
Net interest eXPeNSe.......ccocevererererieereese e
Income beforeincometaxes........c.ccooeeeeveneenee.
INCOME taX EXPENSE .....eeuvieieriie e

Net income available to common stockholders.........cccoveeeviieececiee e,

Earnings per share:

Basicincomeper share(l) .......cceeveveveerereerennnn,
Diluted income per share(1).....cccceevevevrvrereenn.
Basic weighted aver age shar es outstanding....

Diluted weighted aver age shares outstanding

2009

Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
$ 66,084 $ 77,454
23,466 25,747
22,095 23,009
8,556 9,542
5,200 —
— 1,218
74 74
59,391 59,590
6,693 17,864
(233) (198)
6,460 17,666
2,969 6,571
$ 3491 $ 11,095
$ 0.08 $ 0.24
$ 0.08 $ 0.24
44,783 45,636
45,099 46,041

(1) The sum of quarterly income per share may not equal annual income per share due to rounding and second

quarter net loss.

121



Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Notesto Financial Statements
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per sharedata)

2008
First Quarter  First Quarter  Second Quarter  Second Quarter
As Reported As Restated AsReported As Restated
NEL FEVENUE......ceiveeeerieieeecie e $ 35709 $ 33,389 % 34566 $ 36,945
Costs and expenses.
Instructional costs and
SEIVICES ...t 11,620 11,334 12,408 12,730
Selling and promotional.................. 12,586 12,487 14,887 14,984
Genera and administrative............. 4,541 4,541 6,419 6,419
Royalty to former owner................. 1,022 956 466 533
Total costsand expenses...........c..... 29,769 29,318 34,180 34,666
Operating income (10SS).......cccceveenene 5,940 4,071 386 2,279
Net interest expense........ccoeeveeeeeeennes (560) (561) (515) (515)
Income (loss) beforeincometaxes...... 5,380 3,510 (129) 1,764
Income tax expense (benefit)............... 2,076 1,355 (49) 681
Net income (10SS) ......cceeveeeneenenenennne. 3,304 2,155 (80) 1,083
Preferred dividends........cccocoveenineee (253) (253) (268) (268)
Net income (loss) available to
common stockholders.........c.ccen..... $ 3051 $ 1902 $ (348) $ 815
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic income (loss) per
Share(l) ..coeveeevirieereerreeses $ 016 $ 010 $ (002) $ 0.04
Diluted income (loss) per share(l)...... $ 009 $ 006 $ (0.02) $ 0.03
Basic weighted average
sharesoutstanding........cccccevereenene 19,036 19,036 19,142 19,142
Diluted weighted average
sharesoutstanding........cccceevereenene 33,849 33,849 19,142 31,395

(1) The sum of quarterly income per share may not equal annual income per share due to rounding and second
quarter net loss.
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Costs and expenses.
Instructional costs and services......
Selling and promotional..................
Genera and administrative............
Royalty to former owner................
Total costsand expenses..................
Operating income (10SS).......ccccevenee.
Net interest expense.........ccoceeereennene
Income (loss) befor e income taxes..
Income tax expense (benefit)..............
Net income (10SS) ....c.coeererereeienninne
Preferred dividends........c.cccceeuneee.
Net income (loss) available to
common stockholders....................
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic income (loss) per share(l) .....
Diluted income (loss) per share(l)..
Basic weighted average
sharesoutstanding........ccceeeeeeevenene
Diluted weighted aver age shares
outstanding........ccoceverenenenieniienens

2008
Third Quarter  Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter  Fourth Quarter
AsReported As Restated As Reported As Restated
$ 39351 % 40,420 $ 51,683 $ 50,555
12,967 13,097 17,455 17,289
18,562 18,600 19,516 19,480
5,032 5,032 10,833 10,833
124 124 74 73
36,685 36,853 47,878 47,675
2,666 3,567 3,805 2,880
(573) (573) (609) (608)
2,093 2,994 3,196 2,272
841 1,193 987 627
1,252 1,801 2,209 1,645
(270) (270) (147) (147)
$ 982 $ 1531 $ 2062 $ 1,498
$ 005 $ 008 $ 007 $ 0.05
$ 003 $ 005 $ 006 $ 0.04
19,219 19,219 31,240 31,240
30,970 30,970 37,488 37,488

(1) The sum of quarterly income per share may not equal annual income per share due to rounding and second

quarter net loss.
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Item 9. Changesin and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controlsand Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonabl e assurance that information
required to be disclosed in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the specified time periods and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer (“Principal Executive Officer”) and Chief Financial Officer (“Principal Financial Officer”), as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We have established a Disclosure Committee,
consisting of certain member of management, to assist in this evaluation. Our Disclosure Committee meetson a
quarterly basis and more often if necessary.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Principal Executive Officer
and Principal Financia Officer, an evaluation was performed on the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(€) or 15d-15(3) promulgated under the Exchange
Act), as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. Based on that evaluation, our management, including
the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 20009.

Attached as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are certifications of our Chief Executive Office and
Chief Financial Officer, which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange Act. This Disclosure
Controls and Procedures section includes information concerning management’ s evaluation of disclosure controls
and procedures referred to in those certifications and, as such, should be read in conjunction with the certifications
of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP").

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of our assets,

(if) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitation, our internal control systems and procedures may not prevent or detect
misstatements. An internal control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable,
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitationsin all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that al control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, have been detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condition, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.
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Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009, utilizing the criteria described in the “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The objective of this assessment wasto
determine whether our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2009. Based on our
assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2009, the Company’ sinternal control over financial
reporting is effective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financia reporting has been audited by, Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report which isincluded herein.

Changesin Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changesin our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31,
2009, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to our Board of Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance required by this
item appearsin our proxy statement, to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end (December 31, 2009) and
such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Our employees must act ethically at al times and in accordance with the policies in our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics. We require full compliance with this policy from all designated employeesincluding our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Accounting Officer. We publish the policy, and any
amendments or waiversto the policy, in the Corporate Governance section of our website located at www.gcu.edu/
Investor Relations/Corporate Governance.

The charters of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Governance Committee
are also available in the Corporate Governance section our website located at www.gcu.edu/ Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information relating to this item appears in our proxy statement, to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end
(December 31, 2009) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information relating to thisitem appearsin our proxy statement , to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year
end (December 31, 2009) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director | ndependence

Information relating to thisitem appears in our proxy statement , to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year
end (December 31, 2009) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Feesand Services

Information relating to this item appears in our proxy statement , to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year
end (December 31, 2009) and such information isincorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Thefollowing documents arefiled as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Satementsfiled as part of this report

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements Page
Report of Independent Registered Public ACCOUNtING FIrM......ccvieeierirere e 87
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financid Reporting ...........c....... 88
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2009 aNd 2008 .........cccoereirrererrmeireseerseeses e 89
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 ..........ccceerererreeniereesienuene 90
Statements of Preferred Stock and Stockholders Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2009,

B0 0 S =0 Lo (2200 OSSR 91
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 ..........cceceereerereerererienneens 92
NOtesS to FINaNCial SEALEMENLS ..ot e 94

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted since the required information is not applicable or is not
present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included
in the Financial Statements and Notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

Number

Description

M ethod of Filing

31

32

4.1

4.2

Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation

Amended and Restated Bylaws

Specimen of Stock Certificate

Amended and Restated Investor Rights
Agreement, dated September 17, 2008, by and
among Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and the
other parties named therein

126

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Amendment No. 6 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on November 12, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Amendment No. 6 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on November 12, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.



Number

Description

M ethod of Filing

101

10.2

10.3

104

105

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

Amended and Restated Executive Employment
Agreement, dated September 10, 2008, by and
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and
Brent Richardsont

Amended and Restated Executive Employment
Agreement, dated September 10, 2008, by and
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and
Christopher Richardsont

Executive Employment Agreement, dated
September 1, 2008, by and between Grand
Canyon Education, Inc. and Kathy Playert

2008 Equity Incentive Plant

2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plant

License Agreement, dated June 30, 2004, by
and between Blanchard Education, LLC and
Significant Education, LLC

Letter Agreement, dated February 6, 2006, by
and between The Ken Blanchard Companies
and Grand Canyon University

Amendment to License Agreement, dated May
8, 2008, by and between Blanchard Education,
LLC and Grand Canyon Education, Inc.

Collaboration Agreement, dated July 11, 2005,
by and between Mind Streams, LLC and
Significant Education, LLC (as supplemented
by Project One and Project Two)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June
25, 2008, by and between Grand Canyon
Education, Inc. and Daniel E. Bachust

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June
25, 2008, by and between Grand Canyon
Education, Inc. and Brian E. Muellert

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June
25, 2008, by and between Grand Canyon
Education, Inc. and W. Stan Meyert

127

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on March 25, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the SEC on May 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the SEC on May 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the SEC on May 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.



Number Description M ethod of Filing
10.13 Form of Director and Officer Indemnity Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
Agreement Amendment No. 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.
10.14 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 27,  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
2009, by and among Grand Canyon Education, Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
Inc., Spirit Master Funding, LLC, and Spirit filed with the SEC on August 3, 2009.
Management Company
10.15 Loan Agreement, dated April 27, 2009, by and  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
Bank of America, N.A. filed with the SEC on August 3, 2009.
10.16 Employment Agreement, dated September 16,  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
2009, by and between Grand Canyon Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
Education, Inc. and Joseph N. Mildenhall t filed with the SEC on November 4, 2009.
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Filed herewith.
Accounting Firm
24.1 Power of Attorney See signature page.
311 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Filed herewith.
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Filed herewith.
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Filed herewith.
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 20021+
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Filed herewith.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 20021+

Significant Education, LLC is the predecessor to Significant Education, Inc., which is the former name of Grand
Canyon Education, Inc.

T Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

1 This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is
not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference into
any filings of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardiess of any genera
incorporation language in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
By: /d/ Brian E. Mueller

Name: Brian E. Mueller
Title: Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Brian E. Mueller, Daniel E. Bachus, Brent D. Richardson, and Christopher C. Richardson, and each of
them, histrue and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the
premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming
al that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Brian E. Mueller Chief Executive Officer and Director February 18, 2010
Brian E. Mueller (Principal Executive Officer)
[/s/ Daniel E. Bachus Chief Financia Officer February 18, 2010
Daniel E. Bachus (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)
[/s/ Brent D. Richardson Executive Chairman February 18, 2010
Brent D. Richardson
/s Christopher C. Richardson Director February 18, 2010
Christopher C. Richardson
/s/ David J. Johnson Director February 18, 2010
David J. Johnson
s/ Jack A. Henry Director February 18, 2010
Jack A. Henry
[s/ Jerry Colangelo Director February 18, 2010
Jerry Colangelo
/s D. Mark Dorman Director February 18, 2010
D. Mark Dorman
/sl Chad N. Heath Director February 18, 2010
Chad N. Heath
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Number Description Method of Filing
31 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Incorporation Amendment No. 6 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on November 12, 2008.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Amendment No. 6 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on November 12, 2008.
41 Specimen of Stock Certificate Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.
4.2 Amended and Restated Investor Rights Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Agreement, dated September 17, 2008, by and ~ Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
among Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
other parties named therein the SEC on September 29, 2008.
101 Amended and Restated Executive Employment  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Agreement, dated September 10, 2008, by and ~ Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
Brent Richardsont the SEC on September 29, 2008.
10.2 Amended and Restated Executive Employment  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
Agreement, dated September 10, 2008, by and ~ Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
Christopher Richardsont the SEC on September 29, 2008.
10.3 Executive Employment Agreement, dated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
September 1, 2008, by and between Grand Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
Canyon Education, Inc. and Kathy Playert with the SEC on March 25, 2009.
10.4 2008 Equity Incentive Plant Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.
10.5 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plant Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.
10.6 License Agreement, dated June 30, 2004, by and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
between Blanchard Education, LLC and the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form
Significant Education, LLC S-1 filed with the SEC on May 13, 2008.
10.7 Letter Agreement, dated February 6, 2006, by Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to
and between The Ken Blanchard Companiesand the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
Grand Canyon University S-1 filed with the SEC on May 13, 2008.
10.8 Amendment to License Agreement, dated May 8, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to

2008, by and between Blanchard Education,
LLC and Grand Canyon Education, Inc.
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the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the SEC on May 13, 2008.



Number

Description

M ethod of Filing

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

231

24.1
311

31.2

Collaboration Agreement, dated July 11, 2005,
by and between Mind Streams, LL C and
Significant Education, LLC (as supplemented by
Project One and Project Two)

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June
25, 2008, by and between Grand Canyon
Education, Inc. and Daniel E. Bachust

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June
25, 2008, by and between Grand Canyon
Education, Inc. and Brian E. Muellert

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June
25, 2008, by and between Grand Canyon
Education, Inc. and W. Stan Meyert

Form of Director and Officer Indemnity
Agreement

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 27,
2009, by and among Grand Canyon Education,
Inc., Spirit Master Funding, LLC, and Spirit
Management Company

Loan Agreement, dated April 27, 2009, by and

between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Bank

of America, N.A.

Employment Agreement, dated September 16,
2009, by and between Grand Canyon Education,
Inc. and Joseph N. Mildenhall

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

131

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on August 13, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on August 3, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on August 3, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 4, 2009.

Filed herewith.

See signature page.
Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.



Number Description M ethod of Filing

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant Filed herewith.
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
200217

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant Filed herewith.
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
200217

Significant Education, LLC is the predecessor to Significant Education, Inc., which isthe former name of Grand
Canyon Education, Inc.
T Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

1 Thiscertification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is
not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference into
any filings of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION
CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRIMARY IR CONTACT

TRANSFER AGENT ACCOUNTANTS

Dan Bachus
Chief Financial Officer

Grand Canyon Education
3300 W. Camelback Rd.
Phoenix, AZ 85017

Phone: 602.639.7500
Web site: www.gcu.edu

COMMON STOCK

Computershare Investor Services  Ernst & Young
P.O. Box 43078
Providence, Rl 02940-3078

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

The Company’s common stock
trades on the Nasdag Global
Market under the symbol LOPE.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s annual meeting of stockholders will be held at
8:00 a.m., local time, in McKinley Hall on Tuesday, May 18, 2010,
at Grand Canyon University in Phoenix.

Brent Richardson
Executive Chairman
and Director

Chad N. Heath
Director

Jack A. Henry
Director

MANAGEMENT

Brian Mueller Chris Richardson
Chief Executive Officer General Counsel
and Director and Director

D. Mark Dorman David J. Johnson
Director Director

Gerald F. Colangelo
Director

Brent Richardson
Executive Chairman
and Director

Chris Richardson
General Counsel and Director

Brian Mueller Dan Bachus
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
and Director

Kathy Player W. Stan Meyer
President Executive Vice President
Grand Canyon University
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